
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 17 September 2014 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr. S. Marra (Tel. 0116 3053407) 

Email: stuart.marra@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs. R. Camamile CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. M. H. Charlesworth CC 

Mr. S. J. Hampson CC 
Mr. D. Jennings CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 

 

Mr. P. G. Lewis CC 
Ms. Betty Newton CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. R. Sharp CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leics.gov.uk/webcast 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2014.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
7.  

  
Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding 
Children/Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 2013/14.  
 

Independent Chair 
of the 
Safeguarding 
Boards 
 

(Pages 15 - 156) 

9.  
  

Annual Adult Social Care Complaints and 
Commendations Report 2013/14.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 157 - 
180) 

10.  
  

Outcome of the Consultation on Proposals for 
Changes in the Delivery of Library Services.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

 

 A copy of the report to be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 19 September 
2014 will be available and circulated to members of this Committee on 10 
September 2014. The Committee will be invited to comment on the outcome of the 
consultation and the proposals. The views of the Committee will be reported to the 
Cabinet.  
 

 

11.  
  

Snibston.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources. 
 

 

 A copy of the report to be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 19 September 
2014 will be available and circulated to members of this Committee on 10 
September 2014. The Committee will be invited to comment on the outcome of the 
consultation and the proposals. The views of the Committee will be reported to the 
Cabinet.  
 

 

12.  
  

Outcome of the Consultation on the Strategic 
Review of Preventative Services in 
Leicestershire.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities, 
Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
and Director of 
Public Health 
 

 

 A copy of the report to be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 19 September 
2014 will be available and circulated to members of this Committee on 10 
September 2014. The Committee will be invited to comment on the outcome of the 
consultation and the proposals. The views of the Committee will be reported to the 
Cabinet.  
 

 

13.  
  

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 
Performance Report 2013/14.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Adults and 
Communities 
 
 
 
 

(Pages 181 - 
188) 



 
 
 
 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on Tuesday, 4th 
November 2014. 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

Members serving on Overview and Scrutiny have a key role in providing constructive yet robust 

challenge to proposals put forward by the Cabinet and Officers. One of the most important skills is the 

ability to extract information by means of questions so that it can help inform comments and 

recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny bodies. 

 

Members clearly cannot be expected to be experts in every topic under scrutiny and nor is there an 

expectation that they so be. Asking questions of ‘experts’ can be difficult and intimidating but often 

posing questions from a lay perspective would allow members to obtain a better perspective and 

understanding of the issue at hand. 

 

Set out below are some key questions members may consider asking when considering reports on 

particular issues. The list of questions is not intended as a comprehensive list but as a general guide. 

Depending on the issue under consideration there may be specific questions members may wish to 

ask.  

 

Key Questions: 

 

• Why are we doing this? 

• Why do we have to offer this service? 

• How does this fit in with the Council’s priorities? 

• Which of our key partners are involved? Do they share the objectives and is the service to be 

joined up? 

• Who is providing this service and why have we chosen this approach? What other options were 

considered and why were these discarded? 

• Who has been consulted and what has the response been? How, if at all, have their views been 

taken into account in this proposal? 

 

If it is a new service: 

 

• Who are the main beneficiaries of the service? (could be a particular group or an area) 

• What difference will providing this service make to them – What will be different and how will we 

know if we have succeeded? 

• How much will it cost and how is it to be funded? 

• What are the risks to the successful delivery of the service? 

 

If it is a reduction in an existing service: 

 

• Which groups are affected? Is the impact greater on any particular group and, if so, which group 

and what plans do you have to help mitigate the impact? 

• When are the proposals to be implemented and do you have any transitional arrangements for 

those who will no longer receive the service? 

• What savings do you expect to generate and what was expected in the budget? Are there any 

redundancies? 

• What are the risks of not delivering as intended? If this happens, what contingency measures have 

you in place?  

 
 
 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 10 June 2014.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. R. Camamile CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. M. H. Charlesworth CC 
Mr. D. A. Gamble CC 
Mr. D. Jennings CC 
 

Mr. P. G. Lewis CC 
Ms. Betty Newton CC 
Mr. R. Sharp CC 
 

Attendance. 
 
Mr. R. Blunt CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Heritage, Culture and Arts (minutes 13 and 14 
refer) 
Mr. D. W. Houseman MBE CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care (minutes 10, 
11, 15, 16, 17, and 18 refer)  
Ms. Fiona Barber, Healthwatch Leicestershire (minutes 10, 11, 15, 16, 17, and 18 refer) 
Mr. Matthew O’Callaghan, Lead Petitioner (minute 12 refers) 
 

1. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
That Mrs. R. Camamile CC be appointed Chairman of the Adults and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the date of the Annual 
Meeting of the County Council in 2015. 
 

(Mrs. R. Camamile CC in the Chair) 
 

2. Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 
That Mr. R. Sharp CC be elected Deputy Chairman of the Adults and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the date of the Annual 
Meeting of the County Council in 2015. 
 

3. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2014 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

4. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

5. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 
 

Agenda Item 15



 
 

 

 

6. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

7. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No such declarations were made. 
 

8. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

9. Change to the Order of Business.  
 
The Chairman sought and obtained the consent of the Committee to vary the order of 
business from that set out on the agenda. 
 

10. Strategic Review of Preventative Services in Leicestershire.  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Adults and Communities updating the 
Committee on the recent strategic review of Adults and Communities’ Preventative 
Services and invited comments. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed 
with these minutes.  
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting the Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care, 
Mr. D. W. Houseman MBE CC, for this and other items. Mr. Houseman advised the 
Committee that the County Council was required to save £110 Million over the next four 
years and £21 million of this saving would need to be found in the budget for Adult Social 
Care. As a result of the extent of the savings required all areas of Adult Social Care 
would need to yield some savings with resources targeted at areas that had the greatest 
impact on service users.    
 
The Chairman also welcomed to the meeting Fiona Barber, Healthwatch Leicestershire, 
for this and other items. Ms. Barber advised the Committee that Healthwatch had 
supported the County Council in some of the work undertaken through Preventative 
Services. There was some concern expressed at the capacity of communities to pick up 
work where the Council would no longer provide support or services. The Director 
advised that the County Council proposed to establish a seed fund to help the setting up 
of social groups and peer support groups and providing practical support for lunch clubs. 
In providing housing related support the County Council would need to seek a more 
unified approach, working with partners, particularly District Councils, to ensure the most 
vulnerable people were supported.      
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 
(i) The proposed new model for secondary prevention for vulnerable people at risk 

formed part of the overarching prevention offer and services would be re-
commissioned focusing around four main areas: 

 

6



 
 

 

 

• Identification; 

• Supporting Independence; 

• Maximising and Enhancing Community Resources; 

• Community Development. 
 

This commissioning process would help to ensure that the new model would deliver 
to all appropriate groups which included young carers. The Adults and 
Communities Department worked with colleagues in Children and Young People’s 
Services and Public Health to ensure a joined up approach to this issue. It was 
envisaged for a unified prevention offer, incorporating NHS partners, to be provided 
through the Better Care Fund (BCF);   
 

(ii) Detailed and comprehensive Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments 
(EHRIAs) would be undertaken as part of the re-commissioning process. There was 
a need to ensure that EHRIAs were robust and that vulnerable people, especially 
those that were isolated, were given appropriate consideration; 
 

(iii) The Committee expressed concern that the high level of savings outlined for 
Preventative Services and potential areas for efficiency should be undertaken 
sensitively. It was explained that the 40% savings identified for Preventative 
Services would be by way of a targeted approach as opposed to simply slicing 40% 
of the service;   

 
(iv) It was understood that change was required in providing Preventative Services to 

meet the savings outlined in the MTFS. It was necessary to ensure that savings 
made in this area would not have a negative impact elsewhere and reconfiguration 
of services would be done following consultation with the NHS and other partners;       
  

(v) The Committee noted the large number of risks identified in the Review and sought 
assurance that these would be mitigated. Specific concern was expressed in 
relation to housing related support services for vulnerable people and the potential 
for an increase in homelessness and crime as a result of a reduction in service 
provision in this area. It was explained that the resources available were 
significantly reduced and that the proposed service would need to be more flexible, 
targeting the most vulnerable people who were at greatest risk of harm. The work 
undertaken by District Councils in this area was also being examined to inform the 
work of the County Council; 

 
(vi) Time Banking provided investment in community solutions to prevent or reduce 

service need. It was a relatively small investment, £35,000, that helped to build up 
community capacity and maximise the development of community services; 

 
(vii) The Committee was advised that there were three domestic abuse refuges within 

Leicestershire. These were funded through housing related support. 
 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the comments now made in respect of the Strategic Review of Preventative 
Services in Leicestershire be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet. 
 
 
 

7



 
 

 

 

11. Strategic Review of Carer Support Services in Leicestershire.  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which sought 
the Committees comments on the outcome of the Strategic Review on Career Support 
and the proposed commissioning options for future Carer Support Services. A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 

(i) Carer Support Services formed part of the Adults and Communities Department’s 
wider early intervention and prevention offer to service users. The Carer Support 
Services model outlined sought to be consistent with the development of the early 
intervention and prevention offer. Work was being undertaken through the Better 
Care Fund (BCF)  to provide a more joined up approach to intervention and 
prevention services with the NHS and other partners; 

 
(ii) It was noted that carers could themselves be vulnerable, especially young carers 

and older carers. The County Council would ensure that support was available at all 
levels for carers through restructuring current provision. Demand for Carer Support 
Services due to the higher number of carers expected to be identified through the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014 had not yet been ascertained. The new model 
would be developed to meet this expected increase in demand for services; 

 
(iii) Assurance was given that the Carers Strategy for Leicestershire provided support to 

both adults and young carers. The Adults and Communities Department and 
Children and Families Service worked closely together to provide appropriate 
support across all age groups. The County Council also undertook the ‘Care Free 
Project’ with Barnardo’s which offered a wide range of practical and emotional 
support services to young carers in Leicester and Leicestershire; 

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Committee’s support for commissioning ‘Option 1’ for the future of Carer Support 
Services be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet , together with the comments now 
made in respect of the Strategic Review of Carer Support Services in Leicestershire. 
 

12. Presentation of Petitions: Community Libraries.  
 
A petition signed by 1061 residents was presented by the Lead Petitioner Mr. Matthew 
O’Callaghan in the following terms: 
 
“We the undersigned petition the Council to reconsider its decision to close or transfer 36 
of Leicestershire’s smaller libraries.”  
 
At the request of the Chairman, Mr. O’Callaghan, addressed the Committee. Mr. 
O’Callaghan explained that the petition had been undertaken in Barrow Upon Soar to 
demonstrate a snapshot of local feeling in one of the areas affected by the proposals. 
Libraries were seen by many local people as key community hubs, especially in more 
rural areas. Concern had been expressed from petitioners as to the potential 
unsustainable costs for parish councils or other local community organisations seeking to 
run community libraries. There had also been some concern raised as to the number and 

8



 
 

 

 

ability of volunteers needed to run library services given the limited support from trained 
library staff.  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a)  That the contents of the petition be noted; 
  
(b)  That the Cabinet be asked to have regard to the petition together with the other public 

consultation responses received on its proposals for changes in the delivery of 
Community Library Services to be considered at its meeting on 12 September 2014.  

    
13. Consultation on proposals for changes in the delivery of Community Library Services.  

 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which invited 
the Committee to comment, as part of the consolation exercise, on changes to the way 
community library services were to be delivered by the County Council in order to make 
the required savings in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Chairman advised the Committee that written representations had been received in 
relation to proposals for changes in the delivery of Community Library Services, copies of 
which were circulated to members and are filed with these minutes, as follows: 
 

• Leicestershire UKIP Group proposals ‘The Option for an Industrial and Provident 
Society Model’ 

• Comments received from Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 

• Comments received from Mr Geoffrey Smith, Trustee of the Quorn Old School  
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting the Cabinet Lead Member for Heritage, Culture 
and Arts, Mr. R. Blunt CC, for this and other items. Mr. Blunt advised the Committee that 
public meetings had begun to take place at a local level as part of the consultation. These 
meetings were designed to be ‘open floor exercises’, allowing people to put their ideas 
and views forward. The County Council was also considering work other local authorities 
had been undertaking in this area to gain a better understanding of how community run 
libraries could work in Leicestershire.   
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 

(i) The consultation would help to gauge public enthusiasm for running community 
libraries. Libraries were, in some cases, local assets that were being underused. By 
placing libraries in the hands of local communities their usage as key community 
hubs could be increased; 
 

(ii) The Committee expressed support for a community partnership approach to the 
running of community libraries but queried the potential for closure of libraries where 
community groups did not come forward. It was explained that as a result of the 
engagement already undertaken the likely level of interest in running libraries was 
known. This would be used as the basis for developing sustainable proposals;     
 

(iii) The Committee had some concern at the ability of parish councils to retain sufficient 
volunteers for community run libraries to meet long term user demand. It was 
explained that potential interest in volunteering had been gauged and sustainable 

9



 
 

 

 

plans would need to be developed and assessed once the outcomes of the public 
consultation exercise were determined. Specialist advice would be available to 
volunteers to help ensure that they were provided with the necessary skills to 
deliver an efficient service. It was noted that there was already a high number of 
people already volunteered in local community services. It was also noted that 
online library related services would still be available; 

 
(iv) The Committee noted that an extensive EHRIA had been undertaken as part of the 

consultation process. It was important for the County Council to maintain libraries as 
a valuable resource. The Council was focused on seeking a community partnership 
approach to running community libraries and that EHRIA’s would continue to be 
developed in detail as specific proposals came forward;  

 
(v) In relation to the 16 larger libraries the public consultation gauged when people 

most wanted to use library services and allowed the public the opportunity to 
engage with library managers. This process would help to better align library 
opening hours with usage levels; 

 
(vi) Whilst not forming part of the consultation the Committee was advised that 

Leicester City Council had recently undertaken a review of its music service, which 
covered the whole of Leicestershire. This service was important as it provided sheet 
music for many live performances and the County Council would engage with the 
City Council once the outcome of the consultation was known.    

 
  

RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments now made in respect of the consultation on proposals for changes in 
the delivery of Community Library Services be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet at its 
meeting of 12 September 2014. 
 

14. Consultation on Snibston Proposed Future Offer.  
 
The Committee received a joint report of the Directors of Adults and Communities and 
Corporate Resources which sought the Committees views on the proposed future offer at 
Snibston based around the mining and colliery assets. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Cabinet Lead Member for Heritage, Culture and Arts, Mr. R. Blunt CC, advised the 
Committee that the County Council had put forward a proposal for Snibston which was 
considered viable, affordable and sustainable. He confirmed that any suggestions for the 
future provision of Snibston were welcomed and would be considered as part of the 
consultation process.   
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 

(i) The Committee recognised the need for the County Council to make savings in this 
area but queried whether the consultation provided sufficient opportunity for 
interested parties to put forward alternative options to those put forward by the 
County Council for redeveloping Snibston. Mr Blunt clarified that although a 
preferred option for Snibston had been put forward, alternative proposals submitted 
would also be considered. It was hoped that through the stakeholder meetings, 
organised as part of the consultation process, that a better perspective on any 

10



 
 

 

 

potential development at Snibston would be gained before final proposals were 
presented to the Cabinet; 

 
(ii) It was noted that through the EHRIA all relevant groups would be consulted so that 

their needs would be taken into consideration. It was explained that the EHRIA was 
an ongoing process and that stakeholder groups, such as schools and people with 
disabilities, would be consulted through the process with any appropriate actions 
required being mitigated; 

 
(iii) Comments were made that museum collections currently housed at Snibston 

should be retained by the County Council where possible and displayed 
appropriately throughout sites in Leicester and Leicestershire, noting there were a 
number of excellent museums located throughout Leicestershire and that three 
universities could also be asked to house collections. The Committee was advised 
that provision of museum collections would form part of future work once the 
outcomes of the consultation were known. Where possible the County Council 
would try to retain ownership of collections or transfer them to appropriate 
alternative museums or bodies where the public would be able to make use of 
them.       

 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the comments now made in respect of the consultation on Snibston Proposed 

Future Offer be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet at its meeting of 12 
September 2014; 
 

(b) That the Committee consider the outcome of the consultation and proposed way 
forward for Snibston at its next meeting prior to its consideration by the Cabinet on 
12 September 2014.  

 
15. Review of Non-Residential Charging Policy for Adult Social Care.  

 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which invited 
the Committee to comment on a review of the County Council’s non-residential charging 
policy for adult social care. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 14’ is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
The Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Mr. D. W. Houseman MBE CC, advised 
the Committee that under the proposals the meals on wheels service would continue to 
operate. For those who could not afford to pay for hot meals, frozen meals as an 
alternative were also available for delivery at a lower rate. 
 
Fiona Barber, Healthwatch Leicestershire, advised that when eligibility criteria for adult 
social care services changed from moderate to critical needs many service users became 
ineligible for some services. Healthwatch would have concern if current community meals 
services became unaffordable and people no longer used the service. Delivery of meals 
to people’s houses was vital in maintaining contact and was a means of assessing a 
person’s social care needs.   
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 

11



 
 

 

 

(i)   It was recognised that lunch clubs provided value beyond a hot meal for users, 
they also gave people the opportunity to have social interaction which added 
great benefit to the service. It was explained that the way that lunch clubs 
produced and charged for meals varied between providers. Through the review it 
was intended for County Council funding for lunch clubs to be provided to support 
infrastructure costs. This would allow lunch clubs greater freedom to provide 
services how they saw fit; 
 

(ii)   Where people opted out of the Lunch Clubs service due to financial or other 
reasons they would be advised about alternative sources of meals and social 
activities. If a person opted out and were unable to prepare a meal or feed 
themselves it would be considered if they were eligible for care services. 

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments now made in respect of the Review of Non-Residential Charging 
Policy for Adult Social Care be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet at its meeting of 12 
September 2014. 
 

16. Cost Effective Care Policy for Adult Social Care.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which 
invited the Committee to comment on the draft Cost Effective Care Policy for Adult Social 
Care, which had been developed to deliver the required savings in line with the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2014/15 – 2017/18. 
 
The Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Mr D W Houseman MBE CC, explained 
that following the introduction of the Care Act 2014 and cap on self-funding for Adult 
Social Care services it was expected that the County Council would experience an 
increase from 7000 to 8000 people seeking an assessment for a personal budget. 
 
Fiona Barber, Healthwatch, advised that a small proportion of service users required 
extensive care to enable them to stay in their own home and could potentially reach the 
limit of care provision provided by the County Council. There was concern that in such 
cases people should only be placed in a residential care home on care grounds, rather 
than to reduce costs to the County Council.    
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 

(i) It was explained that the proposed policy outlined new guidance on how the County 
Council delivered assessments for personal budgets. The appeals process was 
detailed through the Care Act. However, through the new guidance a process was 
set out whereby people could request a review of the decision made about their 
personal budget funding; 
 

(ii) It was not only financial assets but also other forms of support that were important 
to ensure that people could continue to receive services in their own home, where 
appropriate, and were not channelled into residential care. The County Council was 
keen to get people’s views on the potential impact to them of a change in policy and 
better understand what other assets people had available to enable them to 
continue to receive services in their own home;  

 

12



 
 

 

 

(iii) The proposed new policy would be applied to existing service users at the time of 
their next review. If the review identified that the assessed needs only required a 
lower cost support package it was expected that provision would be reduced 
accordingly. Reviews took place annually as a minimum but could be undertaken at 
any time where required;      

 
(iv) The Committee recognised the need to ensure that the base level personal budget 

provided to those who could not afford to buy extra services was adequate. It was 
expected that some people would have a larger number of resources than others 
and costs to the County Council could be reduced where this was the case. The 
County Council needed to ensure that assessments were carried out consistently 
across all users and did not adversely target those with the most expensive 
packages who were often also the most vulnerable.  

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments now made in respect of Cost Effective Care Policy for Adult Social 
Care be drawn to the attention of the Cabinet. 
 

17. Implementation of the Care Act 2014.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which 
provided information on the proposed reforms to Adult Social Care through the Care Act 
2014, the implications for the Council and the steps being taken to respond to these 
challenges. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 16’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
The Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Mr D W Houseman CC, advised the 
Committee that the Care Bill had attained royal ascent on 14 May 2014 and was now an 
Act of Parliament. The Care Act 2014 represented the most substantial piece of Adult 
Social Care legislation in the last 60 years.  
 
As such, an All Member Briefing on the Care Act 2014 was to be organised to take place 
summer 2014.  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the proposed reforms to Adult Social Care within the Care Act 2014, the 
implications and risks for the Council and the steps being taken to respond to these 
challenges be noted; 

 
(b) That it be noted that officers will be arranging an All Member Briefing on the Care 

Act 2014 to take place summer 2014.  
 

18. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board 
Business Plan.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which 
drew to the Committees attention the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children 
Board/Safeguarding Adults Board (LSCB/SAB) Business Plan for 2014/15. A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 17’ is filed with these minutes.  
 

13



 
 

 

 

The Cabinet Lead Member for Adult Social Care, Mr. D. W. Houseman CC, advised the 
Committee that both he and the Cabinet Lead member for Children and Families 
Services, Mr. I. D. Ould CC, were participating observers on the Board and that the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered this item on the 9 
June.   
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 
(i) As a result of comments made by the Committee when the ‘Safeguarding Adults 

Board Annual Report 2012/13’ was previously considered, two private sector 
representatives had now been appointed to the Board; 
 

(ii) It was explained that partnership agencies had a duty to alert the LSCB/SAB where 
they made financial changes as this had the potential to heighten risks to vulnerable 
people. Any financial change would be tested for potential impact on safeguarding 
performance. A Safeguarding summit event was to held in September which would 
help Boards to understand the impact of possible cuts in agencies across partners. It 
was recognised that cuts in one area could lead to greater pressure and have an 
adverse impact in another area;  
 

(iii) Priorities 2B and 3B outlined in the Business Plan referred specifically to adult 
safeguarding and there was a need to ensure that key adult safeguarding issues had 
been identified. To help ensure this, a new quality assurance and performance 
management framework had been developed which would take in to consideration 
partnership agencies; 
 

(iv) It was noted that referrals to Leicestershire Adult Social Care had increased and 
there was a need to understand why this had happened. Safeguarding referrals were 
received through a range of sources, such as, the Police, health professionals and 
relatives. A greater awareness of safeguarding issues had partly led to the increase 
in referrals. Also, as an incident could be referred through different sources, this 
could lead to a number of referrals through a single incident;  

 
(v) MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) were regular local meetings 

where information about high risk domestic abuse victims, those at risk of murder or 
serious harm, was shared between local agencies. MAPPA (Multi Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements) were a set of arrangements to manage the risk posed by 
the most serious sexual and violent offenders once released from prison.  

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the LSCB/SAB Business Plan 2014/15 be noted and supported.  
 

19. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was agreed that the next meeting would be held in early September, prior to the 
Cabinet meeting on 12 September to enable the Committee to consider and comment on 
the outcome of public consultations on Snibston and Community Library Services. 
 
 

2.00 - 4.20 pm CHAIRMAN 
10 June 2014 

14



 

 
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
17 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 
BOARD/SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14 

 
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE AND 

RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING BOARDS 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to the Adults and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee’s attention the draft Annual Report 2013/14 for the Leicestershire 
and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) and Safeguarding Adults Board 
(LRSAB) for consultation and comment (attached at Appendix A). 

 
2. The report will be presented for final approval to a joint meeting of the LRLSCB and 

LRSAB on 31 October 2014.  Any comments or proposed additions and amendments 
made by the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 
considered before the final report is presented to the LRLSCB and LRSAB. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. The LRSAB is not at present a partnership required by regulation; however it will 

become a partnership required by regulation from March 2015 as a result of the Care 
Act 2014.  For some years now, by choice, an Annual Report for the LRSAB has 
been produced. This is the second combined Annual Report covering both the adult 
and children’s safeguarding boards. 
 

4. The LRLSCB is a partnership that is required by regulation. The main purpose of the 
LSCB is to ensure, effective, co-ordinated multi-agency arrangements for the 
safeguarding of children and young people.  

 

Background 
 
5. Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB/SAB became a conjoined board two years ago with 

the intention of ensuring that there are effective and efficient safeguarding services in 
an integrated manner. This has supported a focus on vulnerable children, adults and 
families. 
 

6. The Independent Chair of the LRLSCB is required to complete an annual report and 
submit this to the Chief Executive, the Leader of the County Council and the Chair of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is considered good practice also to present the 
Annual Report to the local authority’s scrutiny committees primarily for them to 
consider whether the local authority is effectively carrying out its functions in relation 
to safeguarding which include ensuring that the Boards themselves are effective 
bodies.  Whilst these statutory requirements do not apply to the LRSAB 

Agenda Item 815



 
 

Leicestershire has opted to adopt the same arrangements in reporting from this 
Board. 

 
7. The LRLSCB/LRSAB Business Plan for 2014/15 was presented to this Scrutiny 

Committee at its meeting on 10th June 2014.  The Committee will, therefore, be 
aware of some of the strengths and areas for development that arose from the 
assessment of performance in 2013/14 since this informed the framing of that 
Business Plan. However, the Annual Report provides a full assessment of 
performance. It is, necessarily, a detailed report given that it covers two safeguarding 
boards and performance in two local authority areas.  In addition there is some 
information that must be included in the LRLSCB report as required by Working 
Together 2013.  An Executive Summary is included to assist readers in gauging the 
key achievements and development needs arising from the assessment of the 
Boards’ performance across 2013/14 (attached at Appendix B). 
 

8. The key purpose of the Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken 
in 2013/14 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children, young 
people and adults in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically it evaluates 
performance against the priorities that were set in the Business Plan 2013/14 and 
against other statutory functions that the LSCB in particular must undertake. 

 
9. In addition to the Business Plan priorities the LRSAB witnessed some significant 

influences on its work during 2013/14.  First, there has been the passage of the Care 
Act 2014 which includes a requirement that Safeguarding Adults Boards become 
statutory entities from March 2015.  Throughout the year the LRSAB has kept under 
close scrutiny the proposed intentions of the new legislation and its impact on the 
Board’s governance and accountability arrangements. In addition, there has been a 
number of key national reports such as those relating to the Winterbourne View and 
Mid-Staffordshire NHS Hospital Trust that have required the partnership to reflect on 
local practice and performance to secure assurance that learning and related action 
arising from these reviews has been understood and implemented.  All these issues 
will continue to be a focus in the coming year. 

 
10. The Annual Report 2013/14 includes: 

 
a. A brief overview of safeguarding context in the local area with some key context 

data; 
b. An overview of the Boards’ governance and accountability arrangements; 
c. Analysis of performance against the three key priorities in the 2013/14 Business 

Plan which were to: 
i. Improve the effectiveness and impact of the Boards; 
ii. Secure confidence in the operational effectiveness of partner agencies 

safeguarding services, both individually and collectively, supported by a 
more robust quality assurance and performance management framework; 

iii. Improve the effectiveness of communication and engagement. 
d. An overview of performance in key statutory functions notably the Serious Case 

Review Sub-Group and Child Death Overview Panel – both of which are 
statutorily required in the children’s safeguarding arena. 

 
11. The Executive Summary to the report highlights key achievements and areas for 

development that have been drawn into the Business Plan for 2014/15.   
 

16



 
 

Proposals/Options 
 
12. The Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider 

the Annual Report and to make any comments or proposed additions or amendments 
to the report that will be considered prior to the final version of the Annual Report 
being presented to a joint meeting of the Boards on 31st  October 2014. 
 

Consultation 
 
13. All members of the Boards and their Executive have had opportunities to contribute 

to and comment on earlier drafts of the annual report.  In addition discussions have 
been held with youth councils in both local authority areas to enable them to 
contribute their views about safeguarding in Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
Conclusions 
 
14.  Following the extensive consultation that this report is being subject to, a final version  

that will be fit for purpose will be considered by the LRLSCB and LRSAB at its meeting 
on 31st October for approval. It will then be published and distributed to partner 
organisations and made available to the general public. 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Paul Burnett, Independent Chair, Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB/SAB 
Telephone: 0116 305 6306  
Email: Paul.burnett@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mick Connell, Director of Adults and Communities 
Telephone: 0116 305 7451 
Email: Mick.Connell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Draft Annual Report 2013/14 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Board (LRLSCB) and Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) 
Appendix B – Executive Summary 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
15. Safeguarding vulnerable children, young people and vulnerable adults concerns 

individuals who are likely to be disadvantaged in a number of ways. The Annual 
Report sets out how the LSCB/SAB seeks to ensure that a fair, effective and 
equitable service is discharged by the partnership. Likewise the Annual Report and 
Business Plan 2014/15 extracts set out how the partnership will seek to engage with 
all parts of the community in the coming year. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
16. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in 

national regulation, Working Together 2013, published by the Department for 
Education. 

17



18

This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LOCAL 

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND 

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARDS 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 

2013/14 
 

19



CONTENTS 

 

1. Foreword from the Independent Chair 

2. Chapter 1: Local Area Safeguarding Context 

3. Chapter 2: Governance and Accountability 

4. Chapter 3: Business Plan Performance 2013/14: 

a. Strategic Priority 1: Improve the Effectiveness and Impact of the Safeguarding Boards 

b. Strategic Priority 2: Secure confidence in the operational effectiveness of safeguarding 

partner agencies and services through robust quality assurance and performance 

management 

c. Strategic Priority 3: Improve the effectiveness of communication and engagement 

5. Chapter 4: Serious Case Reviews and CDOP 

6. Chapter 5: Challenges Ahead – Our Business Plan for 2014/15 

  

20



FOREWORD FROM THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR: PAUL BURNETT 

I am pleased to present the second combined Annual Report for the Leicestershire 

and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Publication of an annual report for LSCBs is a statutory requirement. Whilst it is not yet 

a requirement to publish the annual report for the SAB we believe this is good practice 

and reflective of our aim to be open and transparent in our business and assessment of 

performance.  Such reports will become a requirement of the Care Act 2014. 

 

         The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work we have undertaken in 

        2013/14 on        service quality and effectiveness and on safeguarding outcomes for  

      children, young people and adults in 

Leicestershire and Rutland. Specifically it evaluates our performance against the priorities that we set in our Business 

Plans 2013/14 and other statutory functions that the LSCB in particular must undertake. 
 

The last twelve months have witnessed some significant changes in the way we operate as a Board.  At national level 

Working Together 2013 revised the statutory framework within which LSCBs operate and set in train a range of work to ensure our 

compliance with these new expectations.  The introduction of new Ofsted inspection arrangements including formal reviews of 

LSCB performance has similarly impacted on our work.  In the Adult Safeguarding arena we have continued to assess the potential 

impact of the Care Bill (now the Care Act 2014) on the Board’s work and to take steps to ensure readiness for the statutory 

arrangements for Boards that will arise from this new legislation in 2015. 

 

At local level we have continued our vigilance in assessing the impact of the financial constraints within which partner agencies have 

operated and the structural and organisational changes that have taken place in response to both national reforms (e.g. in the Police 

and Health Sectors) and local strategies to secure efficiencies.  We have in addition continued to consider the implications of major 

national reviews for local safeguarding practice – including the implications of the Winterbourne Review and the Francis Report in 

the adult arena and high profile serious case reviews such as those relating to the deaths of Daniel Pelka and Hamzah Khan in the 

children’s safeguarding arena. 
 
 

I am pleased that this report presents a considerable range of success and achievement for the two Boards.  The 

assessment of our performance also indicates areas for further development and improvement which have 

been incorporated into our Business Plan for 2014/15. 
 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all Board members and those who have participated in Subgroups for 

their continued commitment in 2013/14. In addition I would like to thank staff from across our partnerships for 

their motivation, enthusiasm and continued contribution to keeping the people of Leicestershire and Rutland safe. 
 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business. The achievements set out in this Annual Report have been achieved not just 

by the two Safeguarding Boards but by staff working in the agencies that form our partnership. The further 

improvements we seek to achieve in 2014/15 will  require continued commitment from all and I look forward to 

continuing to work with you next year in ensuring that children, young people and adults in Leicestershire and 

Rutland are safe. 
 

I commend this report to all our partner agencies. 
 
 

 
 

Paul Burnett, Independent Chair, Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards 
  

21



PART 1 
 
LOCAL AREA SAFEGUARDING CONTEXT 
 
LOCAL DEMOGRAPHICS 

 
Our children and adult safeguarding boards serve the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.   
 
The current populations of the two counties as shown in the 2011 census are: 
 
   Total   Under 18 Over 18   
 
Leicestershire:  650, 489  134,084  516,405            
Rutland     37,369      8,120 29, 249                 
 
Of the total there are 115,437 (17.7%) people over 65 years old in Leicestershire and 7849 (21.0%) 
in Rutland  
 
The two counties have a predominantly white ethnic population with 90.6% of the Leicestershire 
population and 94.3% of the Rutland population describing their ethnicity as white British.  These 
data compare to averages for the East Midlands region of 85.4% and for England of 79.8%.  Of 
those that do not consider themselves to be white British, 4.75% of Leicestershire’s population 
considered themselves to be Asian or Asian British with less than 1% Black/African/Caribbean or 
Black British. All ethnic minorities listed for Rutland total less than 1%. 
 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 
 
Children and Young People 
 
The Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) has a duty to ensure 
the effective safeguarding of all children living in the two counties.  This includes children in 
universal and early help settings as well as those formally identified as children in need, children in 
need of child protection and those that are looked after by the local authorities.  Clearly there is a 
significant focus on those who are most vulnerable and at risk of suffering harm. 
 
It is not possible to present a complete picture of the number of children that may be at risk in 
Leicestershire and Rutland because some abuse or neglect may be hidden, despite the best efforts 
of local services to identify, assess, step-in and support children who are being harmed or are at 
risk of being harmed.  However the LRLSCB annually reviews data (both quantitative and 
qualitative) and other information such as the Joint Strategic Needs Analyses (JSNA)  carried out 
by the Health and Well-Being Boards to gauge those specific groups that need protection because 
they are deemed more vulnerable. 
 
In 2013/14 groups that were identified as priority included: 
 
Children receiving Early Help 
Children with a Child Protection Plan 
Children in Care 
Children at risk of child sexual exploitation 
 
Children who go missing from home, care or education 
Children living in households where there is domestic abuse/substance misuse/ a parent with 
mental ill-health 

22



 

2013/2014 Total  

Rutland 

Number of contacts to Children's Social Care (include 
referrals) 

690 

Number of referrals to Children's Social Care 241 

Number of CAFs  90 

Number of Children's Social Care referrals that result 
in a CAF 

36 

Proportion of Children's Social Care referrals that 
result in a CAF 

15% 

Number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan Avg 

28 

Number of Children who are Looked After Avg 

34 

Leicestershire  

Number of contacts to Children's Social Care (include 
referrals) 

15228 

Number of referrals to Children's Social Care 5895 

Number of Early Help Assessments 2574 

Number of Children's Social Care referrals that result 
in an EH assessment 

 

Proportion of Children's Social Care referrals that 
result in an EH assessment 

 

Number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan Avg 

406 

Number of Children who are Looked After Avg 

471 

 
Children at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation  85 
 
Missing 
 
Total numbers of missing persons (1 or more missing reports) and how many incidents that they 
equate for, broken down into children 0-17yrs and adults 18+. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Total number of repeat missing persons (2 or more missing reports) and how many incidents that 
they equate for, broken down into Children 0-17yrs and Adults 18 +.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  All Incidents 

  0-17 Persons 0-17 Incidents 18+ Persons 18+ Incidents 

  13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 

County 328 586 708 1699 304 649 341 824 

  Repeats 

  0-17 Persons 0-17 Incidents 18+ Persons 18+ Incidents 

  13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 

County 105 195 485 1307 28 64 65 239 

23



Domestic Violence 
 
Adults 
The Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board (LRSAB) focuses its work on those 
adults deemed ‘vulnerable’.  This is in line with ‘No Secrets 2000’ which outlined the key functions 
of adult safeguarding boards. 
It is not possible to present a complete picture of the numbers of adults who may be at risk given 
the fact that some abuse or neglect may remain hidden but in Leicestershire and Rutland we have 
identified some groups as being more vulnerable based on our own quality assurance and 
performance management data together with information produced in the JSNAs carried out by the 
two Health and Well-Being Boards.  
In 2013/14 groups that were identified as priority included: 
 
Learning disabled adults including those in residential placements 
Older people particularly those living in residential care or nursing homes 
The Abuse of Adults with Learning Disabilities in residential placements 
 

2013/2014  Total  

Rutland 

Safeguarding referrals from Community 29 

Safeguarding referrals from Residential 62 

Primary Client Type for Safeguarding Referrals 

Phys. Disability / Frailty / Sensory Imp. 40 

Mental Health Needs 2 

Learning Disability 6 

Substance Misuse 0 

Not recorded 1 

Primary Client Age for Safeguarding Referrals  

18-64 7 

65-74 2 

75-84 15 

85+ 25 

  

2013/2014  Total  

Leicestershire 

Safeguarding referrals from Community* 622 

Safeguarding referrals from Residential* 1,127 

Primary Client Type for Safeguarding Referrals 

Phys. Disability / Frailty / Sensory Imp. 725 

Mental Health Needs 444 

Learning Disability 189 

Substance Misuse 3 

Not recorded 0 

Primary Client Age for Safeguarding Referrals  

18-64 340 

24



65-74 134 

75-84 309 

85+ 578 

*These two figures total more than the other sub-totals of the table as it is a count of referrals not individuals 

  

25



PART 2 
 
GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The LRLSCB and LRSAB serve the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
The Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board is a statutory body 
established in compliance with The Children Act 2004 (Section 13) and The Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards Regulations 2006.  The work of the Board is governed by Working Together 2013 
which was issued in March of that year.  A key priority of the LRLSCB during 2013/14 has been to 
review and revise its arrangements to secure compliance with Working Together 2013 and the 
outputs and outcomes of this work are set out in later in this Annual Report. 
 
The statutory objectives and functions of LSCBs are set out in Section 14 of the Children Act 2004 
and are:  
 
(a)  to coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the  

Board for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area; 
and  
 
(b)  to ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for those purposes. 
 
The key functions of the LSCB as set out in Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards Regulations are as follows:  
 

• developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 
in the area of the authority, including policies and procedures in relation to:  
(i) the action to be taken where there are concerns about a child’s safety or welfare, 
including thresholds for intervention;  
(ii) training of persons who work with children or in services affecting the safety and welfare 

of children;  
(iii) recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children;  
(iv) investigation of allegations concerning persons who work with children;  
(v) safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered;  
(vi) cooperation with neighbouring children’s services authorities and their Board partners;  

• communicating to persons and bodies in the area of the authority the need to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness of how this can best be done and 
encouraging them to do so;  

• monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the authority and their Board 
partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 
advising them on ways to improve; 

• participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the authority; and  

• undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and  
their Board partners on lessons to be learned.  

  
LSCBs have responsibilities to review child deaths in the areas for which they are responsible.  
They are also expected to engage in any other activity that facilitates, or is conducive to, the 
achievement of its objectives.  
 
The role of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board is to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of vulnerable adults and to ensure that local agencies co-operate and work 
well to achieve this. 
 

26



The two Boards meet four times a year, each Board meeting comprising a children’s board 
meeting, an adult board meeting and a joint meeting of the two Boards.  An integrated Executive 
Group meets eight times a year.  In addition a range of sub-groups and task and finish groups are 
in place to deliver the key functions and business plan priorities of the two Boards.  The Board, 
Executive and Sub-Group structure is set out below 
 

LLR LSCB 

Development 
& Procedures 

Subgroup  
 

Joint with 

Leicester 

LLR LSCB 
Voluntary & 

Community 
Sector (VCS) 

Reference 
Group 

Joint with 

Leicester 

LLR LSCB 
CSE 

Trafficking & 
Missing 

Subgroup 
  

Joint with 

Leicester 

LLR LSCB 

Training 
Delivery 

Subgroup 

 
Joint with 

Leicester 

SAB 
Procedures 

and 
Development 

Subgroup 
 

Joint with 

Leicester 

Communication 
and 

Engagement 
Subgroup

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

27



 

 

Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 

(LSCB) 

Safeguarding Adults 
Board (SAB) 

Joint LSCB & SAB 
Executive Group 

LLR LSCB 
Development 
& Procedures 

Subgroup  
 

Joint with 
Leicester 

Joint 
Safeguarding 
Effectiveness 

Subgroup  
(SEG) 

LLR Child Death 
Overview Panel 

(CDOP)  
 

Joint with Leicester  

LLR LSCB 
Voluntary & 
Community 

Sector (VCS) 
Reference 

Group 
Joint with 
Leicester 

Conjoined 
Serious 
Case 

Review 
Subgroup  

(SCR) 

LLR LSCB 
CSE 

Trafficking & 
Missing 

Subgroup 
  

Joint with 
Leicester 

LLR LSCB 
Training 
Delivery 

Subgroup 
 

Joint with 
Leicester 

LLR Adult 
Executive group 

and LLR Children  
Executive Group 

Joint with Leicester 

SAB 
Procedures 

and 
Development 

Subgroup 
 

Joint with 
Leicester 

Communication 
and 

Engagement 
Subgroup 

Leicestershire & Rutland - Local Safeguarding Children Board & Safeguarding Adults Board 2013/14  

2
8



 

2
9



Membership of the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Board 

 
Independent Chair 
 
Statuary Members: 
 
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) 
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 
Further Education Colleges 
Head teacher representatives from both Leicestershire and Rutland 
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council (representing the Borough and District Councils) 
Lay Members (Two people from Leicestershire & Rutland) 
Leicestershire County Council 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member 
Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) 
Leicestershire Police  
Leicestershire & Rutland Probation Trust 
NHS England (Area Team) 
Rutland County Council 
Rutland County Council Lead Member 
University Hospital Leicester Trust 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Professional Advisers to the Board: 
 
Boards Business Office Manager 
Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children 
Designated Nurse Children and Adult Safeguarding - CCG hosted Safeguarding Team 
Legal Services for the Safeguarding Boards 
Heads of Children’s safeguarding in the two local authorities 
 
Other Members: 
 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Leicestershire Partnership Trust: CDOP Chair 
National Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) 
Voluntary Action Leicestershire  
Armed Forces – Kendrew Barracks 
Vista Blind (Voluntary Agency) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



Membership of the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board 
 
Independent Chair 
 
Boards Business Office Manager 
Designated Nurse Children and Adult - Designated Nurse Children and Adult Safeguarding - CCG 
hosted Safeguarding Team 
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
East Midlands Ambulance Service 
Leicestershire County Council 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Leicestershire Partnership Trust 
Leicestershire Police  
Leicestershire & Rutland Probation Trust 
Legal Services for the Safeguarding Boards 
Melton Borough Council (representing the Borough and District Councils) 
NHS England (Area Team) 
Rutland County Council 
Rutland County Council Lead Member 
University Hospital Leicester Trust 
Vista Blind  
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
 
 
  
Independent Chair 
 
The LRLSCB and the LRSAB continue to be led by a single independent chair.  This is a 
requirement of Working Together 2013 and locally we have determined that the same arrangement 
should be in place for the adult safeguarding board.  This enables the independent scrutiny and 
challenge of agencies represented at the Boards and better enables each individual agency to be 
held to account for its safeguarding performance. 
 
The Independent Chair is Paul Burnett.  He is a former Director of Children’s Services in two local 
authorities and, during 2013/14 chaired safeguarding boards in three other local authorities. 
 
Following the publication of Working Together 2013 the accountability of the Independent Chair 
transferred to the Chief Executives of Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils.  They together 
with the Directors of Children and Adult Services and the Lead Members for children and adult 
services formally performance manage the Independent Chair on an annual basis.   
 
  

31



CHAPTER 3 
 
BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITIES 2013/14 
 
The priorities set by the Board for 2013/14 were: 
 

A Improve the effectiveness and impact of the Safeguarding Boards 

B Secure confidence in the operational effectiveness of the Safeguarding Partner Agencies 
and Services through robust Quality Assurance and Performance Management of 
Safeguarding 

C Improve the effectiveness of Communication and Engagement  

 
This chapter of our Annual Report sets out our performance against these priorities. 

 
A. BOARD EFFECTIVENESS 
 
The first priority in our Business Plan 2013/14 was to improve the effectiveness and impact of 
the Safeguarding Boards. 
 
What we planned to do. 
 
Review the membership, constitutions, terms of reference and participation in the Boards, 
Executive and Sub-Groups to assure ourselves that our arrangements were Working Together 
2013 compliant, Care Bill ready and judged to be effective by members. 
 
Clarify and differentiate the roles of the Board, Executive and Sub-Groups to improve their 
individual effectiveness and impact and reduce duplication of business and bureaucracy. 
 
Better align financial resources with priorities in the Business Plan, match spend to commitments 
and look to secure efficiencies in the way that resources are deployed. 
 
Secure clarity in the inter-relationships between the Safeguarding Boards and other key 
partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
Further develop and strengthen our links with Leicester City safeguarding arrangements to secure 
greater consistency and reduce risk in safeguarding practice across the sub-region. 
 
Secure closer links with regional safeguarding arrangements, particularly the East Midlands 
Children’s Services Network and Adult Safeguarding arrangements with a view to harmonising 
safeguarding processes and procedures where possible and maximizing use of resources through 
collective working. 
 
Ensure that learning from local and national review processes is incorporated into the work of the 
Boards. 
 
Implement changes arising from the publication of Working Together 2013 
 
Take steps to be Care Bill ready particularly in relation to the expected statutory status of Adult 
Safeguarding Boards. 
 

32



Ensure the LSCB is well placed to perform well in the new Ofsted inspection framework. 
 
What we did. 
 
Review the membership, constitutions, terms of reference and participation in the Boards, 
Executive and Sub-Groups to assure ourselves that our arrangements were Working Together 
2013 compliant, Care Bill ready and judged to be effective by members. 
 
The Boards’ constitutions and the Executive and Sub-Groups terms of reference have all been 
reviewed and revised to ensure that they are Working Together 2013 compliant, Care Bill ready 
and best placed to secure improved ways of working as identified at our Development Day in 
January 2013.   
 
Clarify and differentiate the roles of the Board, Executive and Sub-Groups to improve their 
individual effectiveness and impact and reduce duplication of business and bureaucracy. 
 
We have revised the Scheme of Delegation to ensure that the Board focuses on high level strategic 
business and decision-making and that the Executive and Sub-Groups are empowered to 
implement Board decisions, objectives and priorities as set out in the Business Plan.  Membership 
of all groups across the governance structure has been reviewed and, where appropriate, revised 
both to reflect changes driven by Working Together 2013 and to extend engagement from middle 
leaders and front-line managers particularly in sub-groups.  This drive to extend engagement forms 
part of the Boards’ intention to better connect with the front line. 
 
Better align financial resources with priorities in the Business Plan, match spend to commitments 
and look to secure efficiencies in the way that resources are deployed 
 
Budget management arrangements and the presentation of budget reports to the Boards have 
been revised both to secure greater clarity and transparency in Board investment and expenditure, 
to align spend with Board priorities and to address historic carry forwards.  An investment 
programme was put in place in the summer of 2013 through which partners could bid for financial 
support to fund projects that would enhance delivery of the Boards’ Business Plan priorities. 
 
Secure clarity in the inter-relationships between the Safeguarding Boards and other key 
partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
Significant work has been undertaken to further develop the LRLSCB and LRSAB relationships and 
interfaces with other partnership bodies in Leicestershire and Rutland.  This includes: 
 

• The agreement of protocols between the LRLSCB/LRSAB and the Health and Wellbeing 
Boards  for both Leicestershire and Rutland and twice yearly attendance of the Independent 
Chair at both Health and Well Being Boards; 

• Closer working with the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board, the Community 
Safety Partnerships and the Safer Rutland Partnership both in terms of strategic planning, 
business plan prioritisation and support from the Safeguarding Boards’ Business Office in 
the production of Domestic Homicide Reviews 

• The Independent Chair’s membership of and regular attendance at both the Rutland 
Children’s Trust and the Leicestershire Children and Young People  Commissioning Board 
underpinned by existing protocols between these bodies; 

• Close working between the Safeguarding Boards and the governance structures put in place 
to deliver the Government’s ‘Troubled Families’ agenda – known in Leicestershire as the 
Supporting Leicestershire Families programme and in Rutland as the Changing Lives 
initiative.  The Independent Chair has been a member of the Leicestershire Supporting 
Families Commissioning Board; 

33



 
The Independent Chair has attended Cabinet meetings and Children and Adult Services Scrutiny 
Committees in both local authority areas specifically to present the Safeguarding Boards’ Business 
Plans and Annual Report. 
 
In December 2013 the Safeguarding Board hosted a Safeguarding Summit involving the chief 
officers of all board member agencies.  The purpose of this Summit was to better engage senior 
leaders in setting safeguarding priorities for 2014/15, to secure their role in championing 
safeguarding in their respective agencies specifically to ensure support for the Boards’ priority 
actions in 2014/15 and to initiate an ongoing dialogue in monitoring and evaluating safeguarding 
performance. 
 
Further develop and strengthen our links with Leicester City safeguarding arrangements to secure 
greater consistency and reduce risk in safeguarding practice across the sub-region. 
 
As stated above, both Safeguarding Boards have aimed to maximise sub-regional collaboration 
with Leicester City’s safeguarding boards.  This has been to secure more efficient ways of working 
on issues in which we have a mutual interest and to provide consistency of approach particularly 
for agencies that work across the sub-region such as Leicestershire Police, NHS England, the 
three CCGs and a number of voluntary and community sector organisations. 
 
A key mechanism through which we have secured this collaboration has been a range of Leicester 
City/Leicestershire/Rutland (LLR) groups.  These have included: 
 

• The existing LLR Joint Executive Group for Children’s Safeguarding and the creation of a 
LLR Joint Executive Group for Adult Safeguarding established in October 2013; 

• The CSE, Child Trafficking  and Missing Sub-Group; 

• The Training and Development Group; 

• The LSCB Development and Procedures Group 

• The SAB Practice and Procedures Sub-Group 
 
Secure closer links with regional safeguarding arrangements, particularly the East Midlands 
Children’s Services Network and Adult Safeguarding arrangements with a view to harmonising 
safeguarding processes and procedures where possible and maximizing use of resources through 
collective working. 
 
Both Safeguarding Boards have actively engaged in East Midlands networks to maximise 
opportunities to: 
 

• Secure efficiencies through collaborative working on issues of shared interest; 

• Share effective practice; 

• Harmonise processes and procedures where possible 
 
The mechanisms through which this work has been carried out have included: 

• Engagement with the East Midlands Children’s Services Network through which LSCB 
chairs have met twice with Directors of Children’s Services and participated in Peer 
Challenge arrangements in the region; 

• The Independent Chair’s attendance at quarterly meetings of the East Midlands 
Independent Chairs Network – this covers both children and adult safeguarding; 

• Engagement with the East Midlands Safeguarding Adults Network 
 

Ensure that learning from local and national review processes is incorporated into the work of the 
Boards. 
 

34



The Serious Case Review Group now covers both children and adult review processes to reflect 
the closer alignment of the two Boards. 
 
In order to ensure full and appropriate representation and participation at subgroup level the SCR 
Sub Group reviewed its membership and made a number of changes during the year.  
 
Changes this year include: 
 
There is no representation from the voluntary sector at present, since the resignation from the SCR 
Sub group of the NSPCC representative in April 2013;  
 
MAPPA is now represented to secure coordination between the two groups;  
 
Leicestershire Police have strengthened their participation at the Joint and Adults parts of the SCR 
Sub Group meetings;  
 
Following the commencement of the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) there has been 
appropriate representation from these bodies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



 

• The governance arrangements  enable the Board to assess 

whether it is fulfilling its statutory responsibilities 

• Partners hold each other to account for their contribution 

to the safety and protection of children and young people. 

• To use its scrutiny role and statutory powers to influence 

priority setting across other strategic partnerships such as 

the Health and Well-being Board.  

 

 

• The performance framework did not reflect the performance 

of the whole partnership and provide enough information to 

enable the Board to fulfil its statutory functions. 

• ‘Board members not always feeling valued or being given the 

opportunity to make a difference’ 

• Inconsistent approach to Board members induction 

• Governance structure needed to be more effective 

• The participation of young people was not evident in business 

planning 

 

LSCB objectives What were the issues? 
 

• A new Performance framework has been created to ensure 

there is effective analysis of performance across the partnership 

that incorporates the views of young people, adults and frontline 

practitioners. 

• Participation Strategy agreed. 

• Consultation with Youth Council integral to business planning 

• School Survey undertaken with 110 schools, 1240 children 

• A  new Board Member Induction package has been implemented 

• Annual Board development days have reviewed and revised 

governance structure as appropriate 

• All sub groups have up to date Terms of Reference 

• Actions and challenges generated from meetings  are captured 

in minutes and monitored for progress 

• The Chair of the Boards  reports  to the  Leicestershire and 

Rutland Health and Wellbeing Boards, Adult Social Care 

safeguarding governance group and the relevant  local authority  

scrutiny committees . 

 

• Board membership attendance good 

• Board members report that they are feeling more included 

and valued 

• The views of young people have directly influenced the 

content of the 2014/15 business plan, young people reported 

that self-harming was an issue that they felt the Board 

needed to have as a priority area. 

• School survey findings informing business plan priorities 

• The Chair is able to provided effective strategic influence in 

other partnership arenas 

• The governance structure provides clear lines of 

accountability  

What has been delivered? What has been the outcome? 
 

Effective Governance and Leadership   

3
6



3
7



LSCB SCR Sub-Group 
 
In order to ensure clarity of roles of subgroups the matter was raised at the meeting of the SCR 
Sub Group on 2 May 2013. It was agreed to review the Terms of Reference of the SCR Sub Group 
and this completed task was signed off at the meeting of the Sub Group in September 2013.  
 
In order to ensure that there is clarity about the information that the SCR Sub Group requires to 
make an informed decision and reduce bureaucracy the Sub Group has reviewed processes. New 
formats for reports to the Sub Group have been adopted which clearly show the recommendations 
for required action. In addition all documents, agendas, reports and records for the SCR Sub Group 
are sent by secure email or are password protected. Further work is underway to ensure that all 
participating partners of the SCR Sub Group can use secure methods to transfer information. 
 
A shared learning and development framework has been put in place to ensure that sub regional 
(LLR) arrangements secure consistency and reduce risk in safeguarding practice. This offers a 
range of processes for any reviews that are relevant and proportionate. In addition work has been 
commissioned from the East Midlands Children’s Social Care leads regarding the safe transfer of 
children’s cases between authorities where the child is the subject of a child protection plan.  
 
In order to ensure that learning from local and national review processes (SCRs, SILP, DHR, 
CDOP etc.) is incorporated into the practice, and that learning from regional and national review 
processes is also incorporated into the practice a SCR learning event was held on 7thFebruary 
2014 which was attended by 193 practitioners from across Leicestershire and Rutland. This work 
received national attention in the Community Care on line magazine.  
 
Whilst the Board did not undertake any Serious Case Reviews a Multi-Agency Case Review/ 
Learning Event did take place on a case where it was felt learning could be achieved . The key 
messages arising from the review concerned the risks to children and young people associated 
with adult drug use. 
• Staff who support families where adults use drugs including those on methadone 

prescriptions were reminded to familiarise themselves with the Practice guidance in relation 
to Chapter 1.4.3 Children of Drug and Alcohol Misusing Parents Multi-Agency Policy and 
Procedures.  

•  Risk Assessments should always take into account the developmental needs of the child 
and the risks posed by drugs and drug use including the safe storage of drugs and drug 
paraphernalia both inside and outside of the house 

 
SAB SCR Sub-Group 
 
The role of the SAB SCR subgroup is to receive information from agencies about serious incidents 
of abuse and to consider a review process to ensure multi -agency learning is captured and 
implemented. 
 
The group continues to retain full and appropriate membership from key partners and attendance 
levels are good.  
 
No SCR’s were recommended or undertaken during this period but a number of single agency 
reviews have been discussed and multi-agency discussions were held to inform practice .This is 
felt by all members to be a valuable resource provided by the group as an opportunity for 
partnership reflection and support.   
 
National reports and SCR recommendations are also considered at meetings most importantly to 
consider if there is learning and action to be taken to address key findings in the Leicestershire and 
Rutland contexts.   This year particular focus has included the Winterbourne View and Mid 

38



Staffordshire hospital action plans. 
 
The group agreed the Learning framework for reviews as part of the SCR process and this has now 
been adopted. 
Members of the sub-group also took part in the LA peer challenge of which Safeguarding was one 
of the three areas for review.  
 
The Local Authority thresholds for safeguarding investigations have also been reviewed , agreed 
and implemented across all 3 LA’s . 
 
The Joint SCR sub has also overseen 2 DHR reviews for Adults which were completed for review 
by the Home office in March 2014. Both reviews were classed as ‘adequate’ (the classification is 
either “adequate” or “inadequate”). The first review is to be published in August 2014.  
 
Implement changes arising from the publication of Working Together 2013 
 
The Government issued a revised version of Working Together in March 2013. A key workstream 
for the LRLSCB during 2013/14 has been the implementation of the expectations of LSCBs set out 
in this document.  This has included: 
 

• a comprehensive review of membership and governance arrangements to assure ourselves 
of continued compliance with Working Together; 

• the formulation and agreement of the Threshold Protocol and Learning and Improvement 
Framework; 

• consideration of the local authority’s Single Assessment arrangements 
 
Work on assessment arrangements, thresholds and learning and improvement frameworks was 
undertaken in collaboration with Leicester City to maximise consistency and alignment of 
procedures and practice across the sub-region. 
 
Take steps to be Care Bill ready particularly in relation to the expected statutory status of Adult 
Safeguarding Boards. 
 
 
The LRSAB has, throughout the year, kept under review its readiness for the anticipated 
implications of adult safeguarding boards becoming statutory bodies.  At the time of writing this 
Annual Report there is still no absolute clarity about the statutory frameworks and regulations 
under which adult safeguarding boards will operate.  As a proxy measure of effectiveness the 
Board undertook a self-assessment of its effectiveness against the ‘Top Ten Tips’ included in the 
ADASS document entitled ‘Safeguarding Adults: Advice and Guidance for Directors of Adult Social 
Services’ that was issued in March 2013. The outcomes of this self-assessment are set out below. 
 
In addition the Board has reviewed both its membership and its terms of reference in line with 
information that has been available. 
 
Ensure the LSCB is well placed to perform well in the new Ofsted inspection framework. 
 
A new Ofsted inspection framework for the inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers was introduced with the first round of inspections 
beginning in November 2013.  The new framework includes a distinct review of LSCB 
effectiveness.  Neither Leicestershire nor Rutland has been subjected to the new inspection but the 
LRLSCB has reviewed its performance against the descriptors in the new framework and kept up-
to-date a self-assessment of performance including an action plan to secure ‘good’ or better 
inspection performance in all areas of its work.  Areas identified for improvement have been 

39



incorporated into the Business Plan for 2014/15. 
 
What has been the impact of what we did? 
 
Operation of the Board 
 
A key mechanism through which the Boards have assessed the effectiveness of both individual 
agency and partnership performance against safeguarding standards has been the Section 11 
Audit for the LRLSCB and a Safeguarding Adults Board Audit developed as a companion to the 
Section 11 style audit for children’s safeguarding.  The outcomes of these audits in 2013/14 were 
as follows: 
 
LRLSCB Section 11 
 
AGENCY 2011-2012 2013-2014 

LEICS CYPS FULL  PARTIAL  

RUTLAND CSC PARTIAL  PARTIAL 

SLF NEW ORG PARTIAL 

DISTRICTS PARTIAL  PARTIAL  

POLICE PARTIAL FULL 

FIRE & RESCUE PARTIAL PARTIAL 

PROBATION  PARTIAL PARTIAL 

NHS DIRECT NEW ORG PARTIAL 

CCG NEW ORG PARTIAL 

EMAS PARTIAL PARTIAL  

LPT PARTIAL PARTIAL 

UHL PARTIAL FULL 

CAFCASS FULL NO ASSESS * 

NHS ENGLAND NEW ORG PARTIAL 

* CAFCASS submitted a National Corporate Submission to LSCB Section 11 audit which gave detailed evidence 
regarding CAFCASS performance but did not give self-assessment gradings which could be measured as part of the 
local audit. 

 
The Section 11 Audit shows that Leicestershire Police and University Hospital Leicester have 
improved their compliance since 2011/12 with most other agencies sustaining a partial compliance 
self-assessment.  The only agency to move from full to partial compliance is Leicestershire County 
Council. Leicestershire CYPS identified the need to ensure the voice of children and families is 
systematically included in strategic planning and to review their agency specific information sharing 
guidance to assure full compliance, which has now been completed. 
 
It is important to emphasise that the Section 11 methodology used in 2013/14 was different to that 
applied in 2011/12 so direct comparisons need to be treated with caution.  The 2013/14 audit was a 
‘tougher test’ and incorporated expectations relating to Working Together 2013 – some of which 
were in process within statutory timescales but not  completed at the point the audit took place. 
 
Some key issues arising from the audit have been incorporated into the Business Plan 2014/15 
and are covered later in this report. 
 
All agencies that self-assessed themselves as partially compliant have produced improvement 
plans that will be monitored by the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group 
 

 

 

40



 

 

 

 

 

 

SAB 

Compliance 

Audit 

 

This was the first SAB Compliance Audit undertaken in Leicestershire and Rutland so there is no 
comparative data presented. 
 
 
* Due the restructuring of the Probation Service into the National Probation Service and the Community Rehabilitation 

Service they were not able to provide a response to the Adults Safeguarding Audit. 

 
7 agencies have self-assessed themselves as fully compliant with the standards in the audit with 
the remaining respondents assessing themselves as partially compliant.  Issues for improvement 
that have arisen from the audit include: 
 

• engagement with the PREVENT agenda; 

• hearing and acting on the voice of the service user – the need to extend participation and 
engagement to secure patient, service user and carer experiences. 

 
Agencies will take steps to address partial compliance areas and thematic work across LLR will be 
put in place to address those areas of improvement listed above. 
 
Other evaluation of Board Effectiveness 
 
Prior to the Development Day held in January 2014 the Board undertook a self-assessment of its 
effectiveness against the ‘Top Ten Tips’ included in the ADASS document entitled ‘Safeguarding 
Adults: Advice and Guidance for Directors of Adult Social Services’ that was issued in March 2013.  
Though designed specifically for adult safeguarding boards the framework was adapted to cover 
both Boards given our aligned operational arrangements. 
 
The outcome of this process is set out in the ‘report on a page’ presented opposite. 
 
The three areas for improvement that arose from this exercise were: 
 

• the further development of our quality assurance and performance management 
arrangements; 

• extending the voice of the service user – whether this be children, young people or adults; 

• improving our approach to risk management. 
 
Immediate steps were taken to address all three of these areas: 

• the new Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework was introduced from 

AGENCY DECEMBER 2013 

LEICS ASC FULL 

RUTLAND ASC FULL 

DISTRICTS PARTIAL  

POLICE FULL 

FIRE & RESCUE PARTIAL 

PROBATION  NO RESPONSE* 

NHS DIRECT FULL 

CCG FULL 

EMAS PARTIAL 

LPT FULL 

UHL PARTIAL 

NHS ENGLAND FULL  

41



Quarter 3 of the financial year and is now being rolled forward into 2014/15 

• steps were taken to engage with the two Youth Councils and Children in Care Councils for 
Leicestershire and Rutland and with Healthwatch in both counties to enable user views to be 
drawn into our business planning process for 2014/15 

• a programme of training in risk management was begun facilitated by EMIAS (now called 
360 Assurance) 

 
All these lines of action are further developed in our Business Plan for 2014/15. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



 

Independent Chair –confident, 

objective, outcome focussed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                         

 

 

 

 

 

  

SURVEY TO TEST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING BOARDS PERFORMANCE AGAINST ADASS ‘TOP TEN TIPS’ 

Why test our position 

In preparation for Safeguarding Adults Boards becoming statuary the ADASS published Top 

Ten tips for SAB’s to test perception of their current position with the results of the survey 

informing the Business Plan 2013-16. In addition the self-assessment will be used as part of 

the East Midlands Peer Challenge process that is likely to be undertaken in October or 

November 2013. 

Questions 

The Chair  

1 is independent, knowledgeable and skilled  

The Board 

2 Reviews the constitution 3 Plans and implements objectives 4. Has 

a performance framework   5. Self audits 6. Has a development 

session 7. Hears from and responds to people who have been 

through safeguarding   8. Has a mechanism to share data and 

intelligence 9. Tests if risk management is proportionate and 

coordinated 10. Developed and delivered a communications strategy 

Ways Forward 

• Series of development session to ensure 

board members are clear of their 

responsibilities 

• Wider operational membership for 

subgroups and work streams 

• Review Performance Framework 

• The use of existing consultative groups 

should be better utilised to maximise 

engagement 

• A more focused “Risks and Issues” register 

is to be completed and this then needs 

testing at the Board 

Development 

Days/sessions 

very positive- 

would like 

more 

Results – 7 responses 

Q.1   Good 

Q.2   Good 6   Adequate 1 

Q.3   Good 3   Adequate 4  

Q.4   Good 2   Adequate3   Poor 2 

Q.5   Good 5   Adequate 1 

Q.6   Good 5   Adequate 2 

Q.7   Good 1   Adequate 1   Poor 5 

Q.8   Good 4   Adequate 2 

Q.9   Good 2   Adequate 3   Poor 2 

Q.10 Good 5   Adequate 2 

Communications 

are managed well 

but Engagement 

needs to improve 

Suggested Areas for improvement 

1. Board members to be more engaged accountable and 
challenging  

2. Performance Framework Development (PMF) 

3. Joint working across LLR to secure consistent processes of 
PMF and audits 

4. The Voice of the service user 

5. Proactively engaging with the media and campaigns 

4
3



 
At the Development Day in January 2014 Board members considered the impact of changes to the 
operation of the Board that had been implemented in the previous year.   
 
Positive comments included: 
 

• a more appropriate deployment of staff across the sub groups and the executive group; 

• significant progress on the cross boundary procedures when a child is placed in one local 
authority by another; 

• the development of the safeguarding competency framework for the children’s workforce 
and the corresponding framework for the adult workforce gathering momentum and 
providing an effective means of evaluating the impact of our workforce development activity.  

 
The development session included a review of the previous years’ business, identifying areas for 
improvement within the newly developed business plan priorities and discussed the current 
structure of the Board and its subgroups.  
 
Areas for development included the need to: 
 

• develop intelligence as well as data (now incorporated into the four quadrant quality 
assurance and performance management (QAPM) arrangements); 

• understand from reports submitted to the boards who is actively safeguarding and who isn’t 
(again now incorporated into the QAPM framework); 

• receive reports and to seek assurance that the multi-agency response to those missing/from 
school/home education is robust; 

• receive reports and to seek assurance that the quality of referrals into Leicestershire and 
Rutland Children’s Social Care and Adult Social Care are of good quality enabling the best 
outcome of referral to be implemented; 

• better understand outcomes for children looked after particularly and the effectiveness of 
procedures such as requests for health assessments which health colleagues identified as 
requiring improvement; 

• raise awareness of ‘Private Fostering’; 

• test the effectiveness of the competency framework via audit; 

• promote the use of the website to support Board effectiveness 
 
All these areas for development are being addressed within the Business Plan for 2014/15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attendance at Board, Executive and Sub-Group meetings 
 

44



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Attendance at the Leicestershire &  
Rutland Safeguarding Children Board 
 

Independent Chair 100% 

                 Statutory Members 
 

Children and Family Court Advisory 
and Support Service (CAFCAS) 

50% 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 

100% 

East Midlands Ambulance Service 
(EMAS) 

75% 

Borough and District Councils) 100% 

Lay Members (Two people 
Leicestershire & Rutland) 

100% 

Leicestershire County Council 100% 

Leicestershire County Council Lead 
Member 

75% 

Leicestershire Partnership Trust 50% 

 Leicestershire Police  100% 

Leicestershire & Rutland Probation 
Trust 

50% 

Leicestershire Schools & Colleges 75% 

NHS England (Area Team) 50% 

Rutland County Council 100% 

Rutland County Council Lead 
Member 

75% 

University Hospital Leicester Trust 25% 

Professional Advisers to the Board: 
 

Boards Business Office Manager 100% 

Designated Doctor for Safeguarding 
Children 

25% 

Designated Nurse Children and Adult 
Safeguarding - CCG hosted 
Safeguarding Team 

100% 

Legal Services for the Safeguarding 
Boards 

 

Heads of Childrens Safeguarding in 
the two local authorities 

100% 

                 Other Members: 
 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service 

75% 

Leicestershire Partnership Trust: 
CDOP Chair 

25% 

National Society for Prevention of 
Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) 

50% 

Voluntary Action Leicestershire  75% 

Armed Forces – Kendrew Barracks 100% 

Vista Blind (Voluntary Agency) 75% 

Attendance at the Leicestershire & Rutland 
Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

Independent Chair 100% 

Boards Business Office Manager 100% 

Designated Nurse Children and Adult 
- Designated Nurse Children and 
Adult Safeguarding - CCG hosted 
Safeguarding Team 

100% 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 100% 

East Midlands Ambulance Service  

Leicestershire County Council 100% 

Leicestershire County Council Lead 
Member 

100% 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service 

75% 

Leicestershire Partnership Trust 50% 

Leicestershire Police  100% 

Leicestershire & Rutland Probation 
Trust 

50% 

Legal Services for the Safeguarding 
Boards 

 

Borough and District Councils) 50% 

NHS England (Area Team) 50% 

Rutland County Council 100% 

Rutland County Council Lead 
Member 

100% 

University Hospital Leicester 75% 

Vista Blind  75% 

45



During this year the Board aimed to increase the engagement of front-line managers and middle 
leaders particularly through their membership of sub-groups.  This move was also intended to 
reduce the number of Board and Executive members who also sat on sub-groups.  This has been a 
successful initiative through which we have seen a reduction in the number of Board and Executive 
members attending sub-groups and an increase in other managers and staff attending sub-groups. 
 
 
Budget 
 
LSCB & SAB Budget 2013 - 2014    

Expenditure    

LSCB - Allocation for LSCB multi-agency training position 
 
£45,117 

Domestic homicide Review  Posts & Costs   £38,600 

Staffing and running costs   £306,656 

Learning Review Costs (Serious Case Reviews etc) £13,800 

Child sexual exploitation  and missing costs   £27,839 

SAB multi-agency training £6,123 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE    £438,135 

     

Income 
 
Contributions to 
SAB: 

     

Rutland CC     £8,240 

CCGs     £17,630 

LPT NHS Trust     £7,970 

UHL NHS     £7,970 

Police     £7,970 

Leicestershire County 
Council 

    £52,830 

Total SAB income     £102,610 

      

Contributions to 
LSCB  

     

Rutland CC     £52,250 

CCG and Health 
providers 

    £55,760 

Police     43,940 

Leicestershire County 
Council 

    123,390 

Probation     £15,560 

CAFCASS     £1,100 

Leicester City Council 
(training contribution) 

    £15,670 

Police – CSE 
contribution 

    21,170 

Brought forward from 
reserve account 

    £6,685 

Total LSCB income     £335,525 

      

TOTAL INCOME     £431,450 

SAB & LSCB - Overspend   £6,685 

       

Reserve Account Funding     

1585 - Reserve Account applications  £89,444 

 
 

46



 
Commentary on the 2013/14 Budget 
 
The LSCB and SAB continue to receive the full amount required from the funding partners which 
reflects the previous year’s contributions. There was still a significant reserve account held by the 
boards and steps have been taken to reduce this amount through establishing a fund to support 
Serious Case Reviews should they be required and by creating a project support fund. The latter 
entailed a bidding process against the business plan priorities that was open to all agencies 
working across Leicestershire and Rutland. A total of £130,000 was granted to 9 organisations. For 
this financial year (2013/14) a total of £89,444 was committed from this fund. The balance will be 
paid out in the next financial year. The organisations have until 31st March 2015 to spend their 
allocation and to provide evidence of the added-value impact in delivering LSCB and SAB business 
priorities.  The Board will monitor performance throughout 2014/15  
 
Reserve Account Funded Projects 
 
The 9 organisations that successfully bid into the reserve account fund are listed below together 
with an overview of the bid and the proposed outcomes against the business plan. The bidding 
process was overseen by the Independent Chair of the Board and the Executive Group. In total 15 
applications were received.  
 
Overview of Applications: 
 
Community Action Partnership £8,880 
 
Funding was allocated to provide training to Voluntary Sector organisations in Leicestershire and 
Rutland, to build confidence in the workplace in individuals who are working with adults, regarding 
safeguarding adult policy and procedure.  
 
Women's Aid Leicestershire Ltd (WALL) £50,000 
 
Through the introduction of a KIDVA team (Children's Independent Domestic Violence Advocates) 
WALL was funded to support a project with aims to; ensure child victims of domestic abuse are 
visible to local agencies through point of crisis and during the MARAC process; support the 
notification and sharing of information between key agencies in respect of domestic abuse; enable 
the Board to demonstrate clear, cohesive understanding of support available to children living with 
domestic abuse.  
 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Training £7,000  
 
This project provides support for the implementation of the revised safeguarding training strategy. 
Funding will be used to engage partners, increase awareness, support the change process and 
ensure learning is effective, assessed and embedded into practice to improve the effectiveness of 
the leaning and improve safeguarding practice and improve outcomes for children. This work will 
also support the quality assurance process. 
 
Just Services Ltd £7,000 
 
This project is to strengthen communication and engagement of people with learning disabilities 
with a view to improving quality and effectiveness of safeguarding outcomes for adults with learning 
disabilities in Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
Leicestershire Police £10,000 
 

47



The bid is to support the creation of a multi-agency team to target child sexual exploitation (CSE). 
National recommendations all recognise that having a joined up approach to tackling CSE is the 
most effective strategy. The money will be used to facilitate the move of key organisations to one 
office and the set costs associated with those moves. The aim is that by having a multi-agency, co-
located team capable of receiving CSE referrals, we will significantly improve LSCB performance 
around CSE. 
 
LCC - Community Safety Team £20,000 
 
This bid aimed at strengthening the approach across all partners to Domestic Abuse in supporting 
the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults – including embedding learning from recent 
DHRs.  The plan is to secure dedicated expert trainer resource to expand the current programme 
of training to support the implementation of the DASH risk assessment across multi-agency 
partners following Safeguarding Board and Domestic Abuse Strategy Board endorsement.  
Estimated training requirement for Leicestershire & Rutland: 800 to 1,200 staff for DASH training. 
 
LCC - CSE & Missing & Trafficking £21,000  
 
This aim of this project was to ensure that the theatre drama production ‘Chelsea’s Choice’ 
reached as many school pupils in schools as possible.  The budget for the theatre production 
across Leicestershire and Rutland was divided proportionally against the number of eligible 
schools. There was a shortfall in the budget of £20,000 to be made up by a combination of 
charging and additional budget. The LSCB provided for the shortfall resulting in the drama being 
seen by over 8,000 school pupils.    
 
LLC Adults Training £7,000 
 
The aim of this bid will be to develop the skills, knowledge and confidence of first line managers in 
registered care settings in Leicestershire and Rutland. As a result of this, managers should be 
more confident and competent in creating an environment where poor practice and situations of 
risk are identified and managed in a proactive way, thus limiting the risk of abuse and harm 
suffered by service users. This would be achieved by a multi-agency training programme, 
administered through the Leicestershire Social Care Development Group (LSCDG) 
. 
LCC Adults and Communities Leicestershire Learning Disability Partnership board £4,500 
 
The Leicestershire Learning Disability Partnership Board ( LLPB) intend to pilot a peer review 
service for service users and patients with a learning disability . They have been successful in 
securing National Development Team For Inclusion (NDTi) programme time to establish a group of 
‘self-advocates’ ( people who have a learning disability) who are trained in the art of meaningful 
conversation to review the safety and quality of services with people who are using them .The 
program seeks to enable peer reviewers (with support) to get an honest and open view of how 
people feel about their services and the impact on their lives. This will be set up as a social 
enterprise scheme and aims to be self-supporting financially in the longer term by charging 
providers/commissioners  a small fee for under taking the reviews and providing challenge when 
needed and positive feedback where this is due. This program is in line with the recent 
Winterbourne View and Mid Staffs recommendations of using experts by experience to check 
service provision and with the SAB business plan to engage service users and carers in 
safeguarding awareness and safe services. 
 
A full evaluation of the projects funded through the reserve account will take place in the autumn of 
2014, showing how the projects have successfully contributed towards the priorities of the Boards 
business plan. 
 

48



Relationships with other partnership bodies 
 
Examples of the impact that the safeguarding boards have had on other partnerships and/or those 
partnerships have had on the safeguarding boards include: 
 

• Safeguarding Board contributions to the JSNAs of both local authorities and the use of both 
JSNAs in the needs identification process for our annual business planning process; 

• Safeguarding Board scrutiny and challenge of Children’s Trust/Children’s Commissioning 
Board development of Early Help strategies and their performance; 

• Safeguarding Board scrutiny and challenge of the Supporting Leicestershire Families and 
Rutland Changing Lives strategies and exercising influence over these arrangements and 
their inter-face with safeguarding provision; 

• Delivering two Domestic Homicide Reviews on behalf of the Community Safety Partnerships 
 
The Independent Chair has presented both the Safeguarding Boards’ Annual Report and proposed 
Business Plan for 2014/15 to: 
 

• The Health and Well-Being Boards in Leicestershire and Rutland 

• The Children and Adult Scrutiny Committees in Leicestershire and Rutland 

• The Cabinets of both Leicestershire and Rutland 

• The Children’s Commissioning Board, Leicestershire and the Children’s Trust in Rutland 
 
In December 2013 our first ‘Safeguarding Summit’ was held at County Hall, Leicestershire to which 
Chief Officers of all constituent agencies were invited.  The purpose of this event was to engage 
directly with chief officers to: share the outcomes of the Annual Report 2012/13; enable them to 
share priority safeguarding issues in their own individual organisations and; enable chief officers to 
identify shared priorities for action to be included in the Business Plan 2014/15. 
 
35 people attended the event and were very positive about the event to the extent that it has been 
agreed that this exercise will be repeated annually.  A range of issues were drawn from this summit 
and included in the Business Plan 2014/15. The issues and priorities that were highlighted 
included: 

o The proposed new development of a secure college at the Glen Parva Young Offender 
institute and remand centre. 

o Child Sexual Exploitation being a high end priority for safeguarding; 
o The need for voice of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) needs to be heard on the Board; 
o The Increase in care-home referrals; 
o CQC inspection cause spikes in numbers of referrals; 
o How do we show the effectiveness of training; 
o Our relationship with other Boards needs to be more robust; 
o Agencies who sit on both boards need to challenge both boards, rather than assume that a 

challenge made in the LSCB will apply to the SAB. 
 
Domestic Homicide Reviews 

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) were established on a statutory basis in 2011.  Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) hold the responsibility to commission a DHR should they feel a 
homicide meets statutory def init ions.  The Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Boards undertake these on behalf of the Borough and District CSPs 
 
 
 
 

A DHR is a review of the circumstances in which the death of a person aged 16 or over has, or 
appears to have, resulted from violence, abuse or neglect by: 

49



 
(a) a person to whom he was related or with whom he was or had been in an intimate personal 

relationship, or 
 

(b) a member of the same household as himself, held with a view to identifying the lessons to be 
learnt from the death 

 
Agencies that have had involvement with the perpetrator of the violence, the victim and/or the 
wider family conduct their own internal agency review examining any work they have undertaken 
with one or more members of the family and their findings are drawn together under one DHR.  

DHRs are intended to ensure agencies are responding appropriately to victims of domestic 
violence by offering and putting in place appropriate support mechanisms, procedures, resources and 
interventions with an aim of avoiding future incidents of domestic homicide and violence. The 
review will also assess whether agencies have sufficient and robust procedures and protocols in place, 
which were understood and adhered to by their staff.   

The benefits of the Safeguarding Boards taking responsibility for the undertaking of DHRs has been 
the ability to transfer the skills and experience in undertaking SCRs to the DHR process and to 
ensure that lessons learned from DHRs are understood and acted on by both the Safeguarding 
Boards and the Community Safety Partnerships. 

The Safeguarding Boards have taken a role in ensuring the dissemination of learning and 
promoting improved practice as a result of DHRs.  For example, the following article appeared in 
the November edition of ‘Safeguarding Matters’ and highlighted some of the risks involving the use 
of weapons in Domestic Violence scenarios:  
Assessing risk - the use of knives to threaten, abuse and kill. 
 
The Domestic Homicide Reviews currently being managed by the Safeguarding Board on behalf of 
the Community Safety Partnerships have highlighted the use of knives to threaten, reinforce or 
commit offences against friends, peers or partners. 
 
The use of or threat with knives should be taken very seriously in assessing risk. If people talk 
about gun use or ownership everyone connected to those involved are more alert to the risks and 
would possibly inform the police. Knives are more readily available and often people make glib 
comments like ‘he/she said they would stab me’. Other weapons are occasionally used e.g. a 
glass, ornaments/statues, fingernails aerosol cans. Remember, if during the course of your work 
there is reference to knives now or in someone’s history this can indicate a higher risk. This should 
lead to further enquires and sharing of information with the relevant agency. 
 
Sub Regional Arrangements 
 
The Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Joint Executive Group for Children’s Safeguarding  
 
The Joint Executive met three times in 2013/14 and focused its work on cross-cutting 
developments to secure coherence and consistency across the sub-region, particularly in support 
of those partner agencies that work across the three local authority areas. Key pieces of work 
undertaken included: 
 

• Local authority single-assessment arrangements 

• LSCB Threshold Protocol 

• LSCB Learning and Improvement Framework 

• Reports from the Development and Procedures Group 

• Reports from the Training and Development Group 

• Reports from the CSE, Child Trafficking and Missing Sub-Group 

• NHS proposed new Information Sharing Project 

• Roll out of the Signs of Safety work 

• Agreement on the roll out of DASH assessment tool. 
 

50



LLR Joint Executive Group for Adult Safeguarding  
 
This new sub-regional group was established in October 2013 and held a further meeting during 
the year 2013/14.  Key areas covered included: 
 

• Adult Safeguarding Procedures 

• Adult Training and Development – including the development of the Competency 
Framework for adult safeguarding 

• Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)  
 

The work of the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), Child Trafficking  and Missing Sub-Group, the 
Training and Development Group, the LSCB Development and Procedures Group and the SAB 
Practice and Procedures Sub-Group are covered elsewhere in this annual report. 
 
LSCB Voluntary and Community Sector Sub-Group. 
 
A further example of the Boards’ work to secure effective relationships with other partnerships 
across the sub-region is our engagement with the Voluntary and Community Sector in 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  In the children’s safeguarding arena this work is driven through the 
LSCB Voluntary and Community Sector Sub-Group and we are taking steps to extend this 
approach with the adult services arena. 
 
The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB VCS Reference Group works on behalf of the 
VCS, acting as a conduit for communication between the LSCBs and the VCS. The Group is 
proactive in engaging the VCS in the work of the two LSCBs and has the following responsibilities: 
 

• To present VCS perspectives to the LSCBs and identify VCS representatives to attend 
LSCB Subcommittees as appropriate. 

• To seek the views of the VCS on key safeguarding issues and raise awareness of the work 
of the LSCBs across the third sector. 

• To raise the awareness of the LSCBs in relation to the work of the VCS. 

• To identify appropriate safeguarding resources available to the VCS. 

• To create and maintain appropriate links with other VCS networks.  
 
A total of 10 different VCS groups are represented on the Group, with additional efforts being made 
to expand membership.  
 
The VCS Reference Group has mapped and evaluated its own action plan against the priorities in 
the Safeguarding Boards’ Business Plan to secure synergy between its work and the overall 
objectives of the Boards.  A detailed analysis of this work is presented at Appendix 4.  Headlines in 
terms of the impact of the work of this Sub-Group aligned with the Board Business Plan Priorities 
are: 
 

• Securing effective communication and engagement with the VCS; 

• Improved understanding of the needs and contribution of the VCS to the safeguarding 
agenda within the Board and its sub-groups; 

• Sharing up to date information and increasing VCS access to the latest LSCB decisions, 
policies, practice guidance, learning and development; 

• Delivering a proactive approach to supporting both LSCBs and the VCS by aligning the 
Action Plan with the Board’s priorities 

 

• Improving information sharing and highlighting learning from safeguarding reviews.  

51



• Extending  membership that is representative of the sector; in terms of both the range of 
organisations, type of work undertaken and geographical areas.   

• Improving VCS awareness of the Safe Network and the support available to VCS 
organisations to improve their safeguarding standards and processes. 

• Promoting training opportunities and monitoring VCS access and uptake via the reporting 
undertaken by the CWM Team; in relation to data workforce profiling and training 
evaluations. This work helps to highlight links between training and effective practice, 
thereby improving understanding of the VCS training landscape and the needs of the VCS.   

• Improving access to resources and training opportunities 

• Broadening membership to facilitate wider representation and cascade key safeguarding 
information. 

The Sub-Group has started to look at the contribution it can make to the interface with adult 
services and safeguarding.  The Group’s key contribution to the SAB can be summarised as 
follows: 

• Proactive steps to develop awareness of the role of the VCS within Adults Safeguarding 

• Emphasis on the need to promote children’s safeguarding as part of the Adult’s agenda 

• Raising awareness of broader safeguarding considerations for professionals working with 
adults 

East Midlands Regional Working 
 
There is an active East Midlands Children’s Services Improvement Network constituted by all nine 
local authorities in the region.  Independent Chairs have taken an active role in the work of this 
Network in collaboration with Directors of Children’s Services.  This has included Independent 
Chairs participating in Peer Reviews that are a feature of the Network. 
 
There is, in addition, an East Midlands Adult Safeguarding Group with which the Independent Chair 
has been engaged. 
 
The regional and sub-regional groups provide the opportunity to: 
 
• Secure efficiencies through collaborative working on issues of shared interest; 
• Share effective practice; 
• Harmonise processes and procedures where possible 
 
In addition the ‘Second Tier’ meetings of officers in both the children and adult arenas have 
engaged in cross-regional work that has included: work arising from Working Together 2013; 
Ofsted readiness; pan-regional children’s placement strategies; adult safeguarding procedures; 
MCA and DoLs developments. 
 
Learning from local and national review processes 
 
The SCR Sub-Group is responsible for drawing up and monitoring action plans to ensure that 
learning gained from SCRs and other reviews and their recommendations are fully implemented. 
The Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) is then responsible for testing the quality of the 
recommendations that have been implemented. This happens via the performance management 
framework that collates and presents the information for multi-agency scrutiny.  
 
A range of methods is used to disseminate learning key amongst which has been ‘Safeguarding 
Matters’.   
One example of the methods used during 2014/14 was the Serious Case Review Learning Event 
held on February 7th 2014 entitled ‘Building Confidence and Learning Lessons from Serious Case 
Reviews.

52



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
  

Impact of the Learning Event 

Since the event there have been approximately 1,200 hits on the website to 

information relating to the Learning Event  

 

Increase in hits on the Newsletter page from 74 in March to 492 in April 

 

Article in Community Care Online re ’20 Things to Consider’ prompts 

national interest in the Safeguarding Matters and the work in the Boards 

 

RECCOMENDATION – In order to test out changes in practice a follow up 

survey/interviews in September with participants who have outlined 

specific actions following the event  

Follow up actions and reinforcing the 

message 

• April and July Editions of Safeguarding 

Matters encouraging staff to use the 

tools provided in their workplace 

• Photographs, Handouts and 

Presentations  downloaded to  the 

Boards website 

• Trainers Network meetings agenda 

relation to safeguarding and working 

together 

• Children and Families service are 

undertaking a Effective Case Review’ 

in order to learn where practice has 

produced good/safe outcomes 

 

 

Evaluations 

58 Participants completed post event evaluations (30% of 

the total attendance) 

Question:  Overall was the event useful to your work?  

(Score 1-5 with 5 being the highest)  

81% 4-5 

19% 2-3 

Aim of the Event 

To provide Information about 

national and local thinking 

and direction for learning 

from case reviews  

 

To raise awareness and 

challenge to build individuals 

confidence to take action in 

safeguarding systems and 

processes 

 

Give participants the 

opportunity to reflect on 

how they might develop their 

practice with tools to assist 

thinking around the key 

safeguarding messages 

A reminder that we need 

to continually revisit our 

own responsibility to 

reduce risk- Health 

Practitioner 

 

Serious Case Review Learning Event February 7
th

 2014 

Building Confidence and Learning Lessons from Serious Case Reviews  
 

Why hold this Learning 

Event 

 To ensure that learning from 

local and national review 

processes are incorporated 

into practice, and that 

learning from regional  

 

Participant’s application of Learning to Practice 

 

• Share with staff to build confidence to ask "Delilah" and 

"Wizard of Oz" questions ‘Why, Why, Why? and 

‘Because, Because, Because’  

• I will share my learning in the POD groups I facilitate 

(Signs of safety) 

• I have summarised main learning points for our 

organisation and presented these to the other 10 

designated safeguarding officers 

• In supervision I will use the ’20 Things to Consider’ and 

‘R for Remember  to understand and better analyse 

safeguarding practice 

• I have shared the  learning in our Corporate 

Management Team 

• I will use the case studies in a team meeting 

Attendance  

193 front line practitioners, 

managers and trainers that 

provide services to adults, 

children and families at home, 

in care and the community 

‘I was hoping for specific 

and detailed examples from 

actual serious case reviews’ 

‘More insight into local 

cases’ 

 I need to develop my 

knowledge of adult 

services and safeguarding- 

Child Care practitioner 

Seeing the family as a 

whole unit and not just 

working with the adults 

who are present - Adult 

service practitioner 

5
3



 
 
Working Together 2013 
 
The membership, constitution and terms of reference of the LRLSCB and its constituent bodies 
have all been reviewed and, where appropriate, revised to secure full compliance with Working 
Together 2013. 
 
In addition, the LRLSCB agreed and published its Threshold Protocol and Learning and 
Improvement Framework on 1st April 2014 and is now in the process of implementation as set out 
in the Business Plan 2014/15. 
The multi-agency procedures were comprehensively reviewed in October 2013 to ensure 
compliance with Working Together 2013. 
 
Care Bill/Act 
 
Throughout 2013/14 the Safeguarding Board and its Executive has received updates on the 
passage of the Care Bill, specifically in relation to its implications for the adult safeguarding boards.  
Membership, governance and operational effectiveness have been reviewed at key points during 
the year to ensure that we were ‘Care Bill Ready’.  This included the self-assessment of the 
Safeguarding Adults Board’s effectiveness against the ADASS ‘Top Ten Tips’ referred to above. In 
addition the Board has reviewed both its membership and its terms of reference in line with 
information that has been available.  
 
Ofsted Readiness 
 
Following the publication of the new Ofsted framework for the ‘Inspection of services for children in 
need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers’ and of the ‘Review of the 
effectiveness of local safeguarding children board’ and the initiation of these inspections in 
November 2013 the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB has sustained an updated self-assessment 
of performance against key descriptors of ‘good’ performance.  An action plan to secure good or 
better performance across all these areas has been in place throughout and is monitored and 
evaluated as part of the quality assurance and performance management arrangements. 
 
 
Effective Challenge exercised by the Board 
 
Leicestershire Police and ‘Missing’ Children and Young People 
 
Leicestershire Police exerted a challenge to the Board to reduce the number of repeat missing 
incidents both to improve safeguarding outcomes for children and young people but also to 
address the significant pressures that responses to such incidents were placing on police officer 
time and resources.  A reduction of these pressures was a priority within the Police and Crime 
Commissioners Plan.  The challenge resulted in a focused piece of work with local children’s 
homes that has resulted in reduced pressures on the Police and better outcomes for repeat-
missing children and young people. 
 
 

The number of ‘missing’ reports recorded this financial year is 2340, compared to the 5417 
recorded last year, a reduction of 57%.  Whilst it is recognised that the introduction of the ‘absent’ 
category into the ‘missing’ framework may account for some of this reduction it is clear that the 
number of incidents overall has reduced.  There have been 1178 absent reports recorded this year. 
If these are added to the reports on missing it equals 3518 reports which is still a 35% reduction.  
 
 

54



Police attendance at Child Protection conferences 
 
The IRO Child Protection Annual Report 2012/2013 highlighted the issue of Police attendance at 
and contribution to Child Protection Conferences.   The Report stated that a number of conferences 
had been stood down or have had to be reconvened due to lack of quoracy. This has been 
addressed by the Executive Group and the Police have agreed to prioritise their level of 
attendance.  Work was also undertaken with the Police to improve the quality of their reports, and 
that work remains under review and development. 
 
CCG challenge on the notification of changes in placement of looked after children 
 
The CCGs exerted a challenge to children’s social care colleagues about the need more 
consistently to notify health commissioners and providers of changes in the placement of looked 
after children.  CCG Boards had identified concerns based on examples where such notifications 
had not occurred. 
 
As a result the notification procedures were reviewed and social workers reminded of the need to 
communicate such changes within the timescales required by procedures.  The Regulations 
changed in January 2014 with the result that changes were made to our procedures and forms. 
This included strengthening of the process with the Independent Chair writing to other Local 
Authority’s Directors of Children’s Services where we have not been notified that a child or children 
have been placed in Leicestershire or Rutland.  
 
Individual Performance of Partner Agencies 
 
An important element of the Boards’ assessment of effectiveness is to monitor the individual 
performance of constituent agencies and, where appropriate, support and monitor identified 
improvements. 
 
One way in which the Boards undertake this work is to receive reports on inspections and reviews 
undertaken in constituent agencies. 
 
During 2013/14 a number of inspections and reviews took place including: 
 

• The last Ofsted inspection of local authority arrangements for the protection of children in 
Rutland County Council had been published in February 2013 and so was not reported to 
the LSCB until the year covered by the Annual Report.  The overall outcome of this 
inspection was a judgment of ‘Adequate’.  During the year the LRLSCB has received regular 
reports on progress against the Ofsted action plan and has scrutinised and challenged 
reported improvement.  The LRLSCB has focused particularly on those two elements of the 
Rutland Ofsted report which identified the need for development on the part of the Board 
notably: securing assurance of the effectiveness of the Early Help offer in Rutland and; 
ensuring the ‘voice of the child’ is heard in the planning, delivery and evaluation of services.  
Both have been a key focus of the LRLSCBs quality assurance and performance 
management regime and further information is set out in relation to these matters in parts B 
and C below. 
 

• Between 21st February and 21st March CAFCASS experienced its first national inspection 
and the local CAFCASS team was included as part of the Service Area A11 inspection.  
Ofsted judged performance to be ‘Good’ with leadership and governance deemed to be 
‘outstanding’.  Some positive headlines from the report include: 
 

o Family Court Advisers consistently work well with families to ensure children are safe 
and that the court makes decisions that are in children’s best interest; 

55



o Cafcass is good at identifying any risks to children and young people and writes good 
quality letters to the court before the first court hearing; 

o Children with the most complex needs get a service that is specific to their needs; 
o Children and young people are successfully helped to express their wishes and 

feelings and Cafcass makes sure the court understands them; 
o Senior managers have been very effective in working with judges and other leaders 

to make changes in how everyone co-operates to make things better for children. 
 

The areas for improvement identified in the report have been reported to the Safeguarding 
Board and Cafcass will continue to report back on progress in addressing these areas. 
 
A full copy of the report is available on the Ofsted website. 

 

• From 25th – 27th February 2014 Rutland County Council experienced its first ‘Peer 
Challenge’ as part of the Peer Challenge Team Review (PCTR) initiative which is a key 
element of the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) sector-led 
improvement arrangements in the East Midlands.  The key lines of enquiry covered were: 
thresholds, step up/step down, the quality of CAFs and the Voice of the Child.  There was 
therefore a significant focus on our early help arrangements and the interface between early 
help and children’s social care.  The final letter received from the PCTR lead found that 
services for children in relation to the key lines of enquiry had improved since the Ofsted 
Inspection of Child Protection completed in January 2013, which had judged these services 
“adequate”.  Some key strengths were identified, but there were also some areas for further 
development, as outlined in the letter.  Although the Chair of the LSCB was interviewed, 
there was little in the report about the LSCB.  This did however confirm that improvement 
and progress had been secured in the the two key areas of concern identified in the earlier 
Ofsted inspection report (see above) which matched the conclusions of the LRLSCBs own 
scrutiny of performance. 
 

• Leicestershire County Council was subject to an Early Help Thematic Inspection by Ofsted 
in January 2014. The inspection process does not include a judgement as the primary 
purpose of Thematic Inspections is to contribute to Ofsted’s understanding of a particular 
subject area. The outcome of the thematic inspection were important to the LRLSCB given 
the priority given in its Business Plan to Early Help.  Outcomes from this inspection included 
comments such as: 
 

o There is a clear commitment and drive by the local authority to offer effective early 
help.  

o Early Help in Leicestershire was assessed as effective. 
o Where cases are led by local authority services, other agencies are contributing well. 

Inspectors noted good quality innovative operational practice. 
o Although there is clarity about local authority early help services, there is no 

overarching early help partnership strategy in place ensuring strategic ownership.  
o A strategy would also be helpful in setting out the contribution of partners. Single 

agencies do not appear to always consider what they can individually do to improve 
the circumstances of children and families. 

o LSCB training has produced clarity about the role of First Response but not 
necessarily the role of referring agencies. This has contributed to burdening First 
Response with inappropriate referrals including referrals from agencies that have not 
attempted to obtain consent from families. There is therefore a need to more closely 
monitor the impact of learning and development to ensure desired early help practice 
outcomes are achieved. 

o The dedicated advice line for professionals within First Response was noted by 
inspectors as good practice to be shared nationally. However, they were also keen 

56



that the local authority reflected the same good practice in feeding back to agencies 
the results of a referral. 

o Inspectors found robust evidence of good operational practice but were not convinced 
that the local authority and partners had a shared vision of early help outcomes, held 
each other to account for these outcomes or made best use of other drivers to deliver 
these outcomes.   
 

 The following improvements are now being implemented and reported to the LRLSCB: 
 

o The development of a multi-agency strategic Early Help Plan and aligned 
commissioning strategy 

o The implementation of a local authority Early Help performance framework and 
assurance that the LSCB performance framework includes early help components 

o Threshold document revisited by LSCB and standard operating procedure of First 
Response to reinforce expectations placed on agencies 

o LSCB to continue monitoring of learning and development to ensure the early help 
approach is embedded across agencies 

 

• Leicestershire County Council’s Adult Services were the subject of a Peer Challenge 
Review  as part of the East Midlands Network arrangements.  This took place from the 6th 
- 8th November 2013.  Safeguarding was one of the lines of enquiry within this particular 
Peer Challenge Review.  Strengths identified in this process included: 
 
o A clear vision and strategy for adult safeguarding across all agencies in 

Leicestershire. Partners strongly believed they were a part of this development. 
Partners commented that the ASB was well resourced and is effective and supportive 
in making sure the ASB is able to undertake its role effectively and deliver its 
business. There is representation on the board from senior staff members across a 
good range of agencies who are able to get things done and report to their respective 
boards/executives. It was clear from the people interviewed that safeguarding was 
“everybody’s business”.  

o There was good support to the ASB that is given to by the officers of the County 
Council and this has enabled it to develop over the past few years. The partners 
commented that the current format of the two boards being held on the same day and 
having one chair was efficient.  

o The Serious Incident Learning Process (SILP) was regarded as good practice and 
reviewers were assured that learning from this is cascaded across all staff in partner 
agencies. There are some good areas of development with regards to prevention with 
the examples of the “keep safe card” and the “safe place” initiative. 

o There was a system and process in place to monitor and respond to potential 
“hotspots” of safeguarding, this intelligence would pick up potential providers who 
may be putting users at risk, so that users’ needs can be safeguarded. 
 

A number of issues for consideration were identified including: 
 
o The need to consider the implementation of the Care Bill which would place adult 

safeguarding onto a statutory footing and will give the authority the opportunity to 
raise the profile of adult safeguarding across all partners and communities, which will 
ensure the development of adult safeguarding going forward. 

o A consistent approach to safeguarding across all partners is needed and there needs 
to be greater clarity regarding what is defined as safeguarding. For example the local 
Trust carry out investigations regarding serious incidents, which may not always 
result in a safeguarding referrals. The local authority needs to ensure that, no matter 
what setting a person may be in, they have the same rights to be safeguarded as 

57



everyone else. There need to be a robust thresholds agreement to support this 
consistent application.  

o There is a large volume of safeguarding referrals from care homes (63 at the time of 
the review). The potential to allow some independent providers to undertake their 
own investigations with support from the local authority was raised with us as a 
possible way of making this more efficient. We think this should be given careful 
consideration before proceeding. 

o Customer feedback needs to be built upon, for example care homes stated that they 
are aware of when a safeguarding referral is initiated, but are often not aware of its 
progress following the referral. There is also a need to look at the support for 
individuals who may be the subject of investigations, ensuring that they are supported 
during and following the investigation process. 

 
The outcomes of these inspections and reviews together with the annual safeguarding reports of 
each constituent agency of the two Boards are carefully considered with recommendations being 
monitored, where appropriate, through the QAPM framework and built into future business planning 
processes when they are regarded as key issues for Board action, scrutiny or challenge. 
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 

Priority 1 in the Business Plan for 2014/15, entitled ‘To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone’s 

Business’ sets out the key priorities for next year as follows: 

• Ensure all agencies fulfil their responsibilities as set out in Working Together 2013 (WT13) 

• Increase in compliance across  Section 11(CA2004) and SAB Compliance Audits 

• Ensure that the Board, Executive and Subgroups  have appropriate agency representation 
and high levels of attendance/participation to fulfil the objectives of  the Business Plan and 
meet the requirements of WT13 and  Health & Social Care Bill (H&SC Bill) 

• Ensure SAB and partner agencies readiness for implementation of H&SC Bill 

• Ensure that the Board knows the safeguarding strengths and weaknesses of agencies, both 
individually and collectively,  through challenge, scrutiny and performance management 

• The Board drives partnerships and partner agencies to own, prioritise, resource, improve 
and positively impact on safeguarding  and receives management information to scrutinise 
and challenge performance 

• To be assured that the ‘voice’ of children, young people and adults is heard and acted on 

• To ensure partner agency contributions secure ‘value for money’ 

• To secure inspection readiness across the partnerships 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



•Feeding in the views of staff in  the 
identification of priorities for action

•Safeguarding Matters

•Website to gather opinions and 
feedback

•Competency Framework

•Adults' and Children's Trainer's 
Networks

•Hearing the Voice of the Child/Young 
Person
•Evidence that the voice of children, 
young people and adults influences 
planning, policy and procedures through 
audit of subgroup minutes and case file 
audits
•Parent / carer surveys

•Progress on implementation of WT13; 
H&SC Bill

•Performance Management Reports 
considered at SEG

•Inspection reports and activity 

•Single Agency Reports

•Progress on Business Plan

•Number of agencies and areas judged 
adequate / inadequate in S11and SAB 
Audit compliance

•Number of multi-agency meetings 
attended by different agencies

•% of attendance - LSCB SAB meetings 
(target 75%)

•Budget reports
QUANTITATIVE 

DATA
QUALITATIVE 

EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

The framework through which we will test the impact of this work is set out as follows: 

 

  

59



B. SECURING CONFIDENCE IN THE OPERATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS OF 
SAFEGUARDING PARTNER AGENCIES AND SERVICES THROUGH 
ROBUST  QUALITY ASSURANCE AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
OF SAFEGUARDING 

The second priority in the Boards’ Business Plan for 2013/14 was to secure greater confidence in 
the operational effectiveness of safeguarding partner agencies and their services through further 
improving the rigour and robustness of our quality assurance performance management of 
safeguarding. 

What we planned to do. 
 
Quality Assurance and Performance Management 
 
Establish robust Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework that enables the 
Boards to deliver the Business Plan and evaluate the impact of their work and outcomes achieved 
in relation to the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults. 
 
Develop detailed performance indicators that allow measurement of activity and outcomes in 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults. 
 
Assurance that Children and Young People are Safe 
 
Secure assurance and confidence that the quality and impact of early help is effective and co-
ordinated in securing improved safeguarding outcomes for children and families. 
 
Secure assurance and confidence that the quality and impact of child protection and looked after 
children services are effective and co-ordinated in securing improved safeguarding outcomes for 
children and families. 
 
Assurance that Adults are Safe 
 
Secure assurance and confidence that the quality and impact of universal and preventive 
safeguarding practice in relation to vulnerable adults is effective. 
 
Addressing areas of key safeguarding risk in Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
Secure confidence and assurance that procedures and practice are effective in improving 
outcomes for individuals and families within these priority areas of safeguarding risk:  
 

• Domestic violence  

• Child sexual exploitation  

• Suicide and Self-Harm  

• Missing Children and Young People  

• Disabled Children 

• PREVENT (counter-terrorism) 

• Vulnerability of Adults with Learning Disabilities 
 
Learning and Improvement 
 
Ensure that learning from local review processes (SCRs, SILP, DHR, CDOP etc.) is incorporated 
into the practice of agencies and secures improved outcomes for children, vulnerable adults and 
families. 
 

60



Ensure that learning from regional and national review processes is incorporated into the practice 
of agencies and secures improved outcomes for children, vulnerable adults and families. 
 
Secure confidence that LSCB and SAB procedures reflect legislation, policy and best practice and 
are being used effectively to safeguard children and vulnerable adults  
 
Secure clarity in accountabilities and reporting mechanisms in relation to Child Death Overview 
Panel and better understanding of issues which involve child deaths.  
Secure confidence that member organisations have robust and safe commissioning and 
contracting arrangements. 
 
Secure confidence that safeguarding is integral to the commissioning process for adult services. 
 
A workforce fit for purpose 
 
Secure assurance training is improving outcomes for children and vulnerable adults through the 
Training Effectiveness and Workforce Development Strategy. 
 
Secure confidence that all partner agencies understand and are compliant with their safeguarding 
responsibilities. 
 
What we did. 
 
Quality Assurance and Performance Management 
 
The LRLSCB and LRSAB has undertaken a comprehensive  review and redesigned  its quality 
assurance and performance management arrangement to secure more holistic, robust and 
rigorous evaluation of its impact on service quality and safeguarding outcomes for children, young 
people and adults. 
 
The new approach is designed around a ‘four quadrant’ model of quality assurance and 
performance management. 
 

 
 
In addition to extending the scope of our quality assurance and performance management 
framework across the four quadrants there was an underpinning objective to extend the range of 
performance management information across partner agencies in both the children and adult 
arenas.  There has been significant progress made in relation to the collection and collation of 
partner information in relation to children and young people but more limited progress in relation to 
adult safeguarding and this will remain a priority for action in the new Business Plan for 2014/15. 

QUANTITATIVE DATA

(Performance Scorecard)

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE

(Programme of multi-agency 
audits, quality testing etc)

ENGAGEMENT WITH SERVICE 
USERS

(Hearing the Voice of the 
Child/Young Person or vulnerable 

Adult)

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 
STAFF

(Feeding in the views of staff in  
the identification of priorities for 

action)

Safeguarding Improvement 
Quality Assurance and 

Performance Management

61



 
The Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) has played a key role in the development and 
improvement of our quality assurance and performance management work.  Work undertaken this 
year has included: 
 

• Review of the terms of reference including membership.  Frequency of meetings changed to 
quarterly in line with PMF reporting. Membership of auditing task group improved to bring in 
QA expertise. 

 

• The PMF has been developed and agreed by all agencies and provides a much richer range 
of information across the 4 areas of quantitative, qualitative (audit), the voice of service users 
and the voice  of the workforce (see above). 

 

• A generic case file audit tool has been developed which all agencies have agreed to use  and 
this has been piloted . Barriers to effective Information sharing was found to be the key issue 
raised by this pilot audit and is being addressed. 

 

• A multi-agency audit of the ‘Step Up, Step Down’ procedure was undertaken.  This focused 
on the “Step up- Step down” to and from Child Protection Plans.  The audit was to provide 
baseline information about current practice in relation to “step up and step down” – decision 
making for children who are subject to a Child Protection Plan (CPP) in relation to transition 
from the Plan and was part of the recommendations from the ARS SILP.  8 cases were 
audited from Leicestershire and 4 from Rutland 

 

• A multi-agency audit was undertaken at Swanswell 
 
The outcomes and actions arising from these audits are set out in the ‘impact’ section below. 
 
An analysis of the Section11 audit is covered earlier in this report. 
 
Evidence of impact of training is also covered later in this report. 
 
Assurance that Children and Young People are Safe 
 
The LRLSCB now receives performance data that tracks the child’s journey from universal service 
delivery, through early help and into child protection and children in care services.  The data, both 
quantitative and qualitative is set out in the impact section below. 
 
What has been the impact of what we did? 
 
Quality Assurance and Performance Management 
 
The new Quality Assurance and Performance Management arrangements were introduced in 
October 2013 and reports have been made for Quarter 3 and Quarter 4.  Where data was available 
for quarters 1 and 2 these have now been incorporated into the end of year reports. Headline data 
is set out below. 
 
As set out above a number of audits have been undertaken and the outcomes of these are set out 
here. 
 

Key learning from the generic audit included: 

� Securing more consistent relevant agency participation in Strategy Discussions ; 

62



� Ensuring feedback is given to referrers to confirm that the referral was received and 
what outcome transpired; 

� Finding that communication with all relevant agencies assists in better outcomes for 
children 

� Review of referrals to C&YPS / CSC regarding children witnessing domestic violence to 
ensure risk is assessed 

As a result of the audit, an issue with the recording of domestic abuse information sent from the 
Police to First Response was identified.  There is a large volume of this information, most of which 
was below the threshold for action as a referral or assessment. First Response commissioned a 
business analyst to examine the information to determine risk and have completed that piece of 
work.  Additional administrative support has been allocated to First Response.  

 
In the ‘Step-Up, Step-Down’ audit 44 responses were received from a variety or statutory and non-
statutory agencies.   6 of the Leicestershire cases and 3 of the Rutland cases were judged to be 
“good” overall, with the remaining Leicestershire cases judged overall as “inadequate” and 
“requires improvement” and 1 Rutland case judged to be “outstanding”.    

 
Key findings included that: 
 

• In the vast majority of cases there was evidence of good practice, especially in pre-birth 
assessment and conferences 

• Management oversight in the main was considered satisfactory 

• No timeframes were recorded in any of the Child Protection Plans for the Leicestershire 
cases.  This has since been addressed by the Safeguarding Units 

• Some issues of “think whole family” (e.g. parental mental health or learning disability etc) 
and communication between adults services and children’s services were identified and will 
be addressed by the relevant agencies  

• The “voice” of the child and family was evident in most cases 

• Reports to Child Protection Conferences were of a high standard and the correct format was 
used in all but one of the cases 

• There were concerns about the visibility of individual children in complex and large families  

• Services to parents whose children are removed do not address loss and may result in them 
having more children removed in future 

 
The Swanswell audit was undertaken in response to a theme identified in a SCR and related to 
parental substance misuse and its impact on children.  The audit tested whether there was 
evidence that staff working with the adults have increased awareness of risk and protective factors 
regarding safeguarding children and improved compliance in talking to parents about safe storage 
of their medication.  
 
Swanswell completed the case file audit in November 2013. The audit was specific to prescribed 
drug users who were open to treatment at the time of the audit. 10% of cases were audited which 
equated to 27 cases and was audited by Swanswell Senior Practitioners. Improvements can be 
evidences across all domains. The information below identifies the outcomes of the audit, including 
good practice, lessons learnt and an action plan to follow up lessons learnt.  (% in brackets refer to 
the February 2013 audit added by Board Officer – * shows item not audited in February 2013). 
 
In 89% of cases number of and names children in contact with service users had been recorded 
(70%); Date of birth and residency of the children were recorded in 71% of cases audited (50%); 
70% of cases detailed the protective factors of the service user, e.g. negative drug tests, stability in 
treatment, supportive non-drug using partner/spouse (45%); 11 cases had safeguarding or 
Common Assessment Framework (CAF) involvement (6 cases out of 40); 73% were discussed 

63



with other agencies, including safeguarding teams and/or (GPs); 70% whose medication was 
unsupervised showed evidence of safe storage box in use and safe storage of medication being 
discussed (25%); 70% had been given LSCB leaflet which was correctly recorded /conversations 
concerning the risk of harm to children were recorded (38%); 36% discussed in supervision and 
entry was added to confirm the discussion 
 

 Feb 2013 Nov 2013 

Cases detailed the protective 
factors of the service user.  
Examples of these protective 
factors include negative drug 
tests, stability in treatment, 
supportive non-drug using 
partner/spouse. 
 

45% 70% 

Prescribed service users 
audited who’s medication was 
unsupervised showed evidence 
of a safe storage box being in 
use and safe storage of 
medication being discussed 

25% 70% 

Leicestershire Safeguarding 
Children leaflet and 
conversations concerning the 
risk of harm to children  
recorded on HALO 

38% 70% 

Cases were discussed with 
other agencies due to identified 
concerns, including 
safeguarding teams and 
General Practitioners (GPs).   

30% 73% 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Assurance that Children and Young People are Safe 
 
 
 

64



6
5



 

• The LSCB provides a rigorous and transparent assessment of the 

performance and effectiveness of local services.  

• Areas of weakness and the causes of those weaknesses are 

identified 

• Evaluate and where necessary challenges the action being taken. 

• Have clear thresholds in place to ensure the needs of children are 

correctly identified and receive the right intervention, at the right 

time and in the right way. 

 

• Whilst existing thresholds were in place for each authority, guidance for frontline 

staff was fragmented and confusing for partner agencies working across authority 

areas. 

• The Board was not fully aware of the extent of the Early Help Offer 

• The performance framework was not enabling effective performance 

management 

• Partners have reported to the LSCB they had not been getting feedback about 

referrals 

• Timeliness of assessments have been identified as a issues in leics 

• Participation of young people had been noted to have dipped in LAC reviews 

• Numbers of Private fostering too low 

 

LSCB objectives What were the issues? 
 

• Both Leicestershire and Rutland have strong partnership 

arrangements that delivers an integrated Early Help offer. 

• A new Threshold document has been published by the LSCB 

• Both LA's are reporting increase awareness of Thresholds and 

knowledge of available services 

• Following challenge from the LSCB  new processes for managing 

feedback to referrers have been introduced (Leics) 

• A new performance framework and reinvigorated SEG robustly 

monitors partnership performance 

• The Board has asked for and received an explanation regarding 

timeliness of assessment  

• The Boards has requested and received regular updates on young 

peoples participation in LAC reviews 

• The Board has challenged Private Fostering performance and is 

delivering a publicity campaign 

 

• The 'front door' arrangements in both authorities provide effective 

decision making and triage by experienced social workers based on 

clear thresholds 

• Both LA's are reporting a significant increase in the number of 

cases engaged in Early Help 

• All referrals have been receiving resposne letters (from 1st June) 

• Assessment timeliness has improved 

• Participation in LAC reviews has improved 

• The Board has a fuller understanding of performance and has 

insured the business plan reflects priorities for improvement 

• The numbers (albeit still low) of Privately Fostered children is 

improving 

What has been delivered? What has been the outcome? 
 

 Performance - Across The Childs Journey 

6
6



6
7



50 

 

THE CHILD’S JOURNEY IN LEICESTERSHIRE 
 
Early Help 
 
Assurance that Early Help was securing improved access to support for children at an early stage 
and preventing needs escalating through the system has been a key priority for the LRLSCB.  
Throughout the year it has received reports on the development of Early Help in Leicestershire,  By 
April 2014 a central point of access has been created through the newly expanded First Response 
Children’s Duty Team.  The creation of a ‘Priority 3’ Desk has supported a new and more joined up 
way of working to support Priority 3 requests for service, within Children and Young People’s 
Service and with multi-agency partners.  The new approach supports prompt triage of requests for 
service through a social work led team followed by a needs-led identification of services and 
support through locality based multi-agency hubs. 
 
The development of an Early Help Offer and integration of early help services has made significant 
progress with the existing services of Children’s Centres, Family STEPs, Youth Service, and 
Supporting Leicestershire Families coming together under the Early Help badge.  This has been 
supported through the formation of Locality Hubs.  The Hubs were established to support 
identification of services for priority 3 requests where the issues and needs are multiple and 
complex.  The Locality Hubs are based on District/Borough Council boundaries and involve all the 
Early Help Services together with Children’s Social Care, Housing, Welfare and Community Safety, 
Adults and Communities, LPT Children and Family Services, as well as other key providers in each 
locality.  The success of the hubs has been twofold:  enabling a much greater understanding of the 
roles and remits of each individual service creating a positive environment for collaborative 
working, as well as ensuring that families with multiple and complex problems receive the most 
appropriate response to their needs.  Further work is needed to streamline processes and ensure 
that the twice monthly meetings remain focused and efficient. 
 
Sitting behind changes in practice, system changes within Early Help have enabled much greater 
sharing of information across LCC Children and Family Services.  The development of Framework-i 
as a shared case recording system across Early Help and Social Care has supported both closer 
and collaborative working.  The introduction of ‘step up’ and ‘step down’ processes has enabled the 
transfer of cases between early help and social care in a streamlined and more efficient way.  Early 
Help practitioners are supported to identify and respond to risk and wherever possible and 
appropriate continue to provide support to the children, young people and families while social care 
assess and respond to the areas of concern. 
 
During the year Leicestershire Children and Families Service has seen an increase in request for 
service of approximately 60% compared to the number of CAFs initiated in a similar timeframe.  
The changes to process and service delivery have ensured that whenever possible a family that 
has identified needs but does not meet social care thresholds, can be offered support through Early 
Help services or the broader locality provision. 
 
During 2013-14 a single Early Help assessment has been developed which incorporates Signs of 
Safety approaches.  As part of the assessment process, the Family Outcome Star is used both as 
a tool for exploring family difficulties and a method for monitoring progress towards outcomes.  The 
ten domain star enables families and practitioners to identify areas for improvement and use of the 
star enables them to map progress at regular review periods.  A comprehensive evaluation 
programme is being developed in order to understand more fully the evidence of ‘what works’ in 
Early Help.  
 

68



51 

 

In April 2013 Supporting Leicestershire Families began recruitment for the locality based teams of 
Family Support Workers.  By end of March 2014 51 FSWs were in post, supported by 8 Senior 
Family Support Workers and a Service Manager.  Within the first year 338 families received 
support through the service.  Alongside Supporting Leicestershire Families service delivery by the 
end of March 2014, the Payment By Results programme had identified that 633 Leicestershire 
families have been ‘turned around’ according to PBR criteria.   
 
 

69



52 

 

 
 
 
 
 

CONTACTS: Frameworki
Locality/Team Completed % In Progress

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 305 2% 3

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 163 1% 0

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 320 2% 2

Disabled Children's Service 328 2% 1

Other (inc First Response) 14112 93% 85

Total 15228 100% 91

Quarter Completed% Ref to Soc Care% to Early Help

Quarter 1 3724 37% 13%

Quarter 2 3872 40% 11%

Quarter 3 3762 41% 12%

Quarter 4 3870 37% 15%

Total 15228 39% 13%

EARLY HELP ASSESSMENTS: Frameworki
Locality/Team Completed % In Progress

SLF Charnwood 420 16% 8

SLF North West Leics 395 15% 7

SLF Hinckley & Bosworth 289 11% 8

SLF Blaby 171 7% 0

SLF Melton 168 7% 3

SLF Oadby & Wigston 124 5% 0

SLF Harborough 114 4% 1

Children's Centres 341 13% 11

Early Years & Family Support Service (Fam Steps) 331 13% 12

County Youth Service 172 7% 5

Locality Team CAF 41 2% 0

Other 8 0% 1

Total 2574 100% 56

REFERRALS
Locality/Team Completed % In Progress

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 107 2% 2

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 51 1% 0

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 172 3% 2

Disabled Children's Service 17 0% 0

Other (inc First Response) 5548 94% 3

Total 5895 100% 7

Quarter Completed % Re-referrals % to IA/SA

Quarter 1 1372 26% 89%

Quarter 2 1527 27% 93%

Quarter 3 1551 22% 94%

Quarter 4 1445 22% 87%

Total 5895 24% 91%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Contacts per Quarter DCS

Loc 3

Loc 2

Loc 1

Other

2012/13

5891 5819

1674
1165

766 657
152 136 98

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000
Contact Outcomes

2351 2367
2138

260

2344

4023

381

774
442

148

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Contacts by Source

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Referrals per Quarter

DCS

Loc 3

Loc 2

Loc 1

Other

2012/13

Re-Ref %

4960

398 375
124 44 10 4

1409

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

In
it

ia
l

A
ss

e
ss

S
in

g
le

A
ss

e
ss

N
o

F
u

rt
h

e
r

A
ct

io
n

O
T

 A
ss

e
ss

R
e

fe
r 

to

P
3

 L
o

c

p
a
n

e
l

A
g
e

 A
s
se

s
s

U
A

S
C

P
rv

t

F
o

st
e
ri

n
g

A
ss

e
ss

A
d

m
in

S
u

p
p

o
rt

Referral Outcomes

847

1178

933

99

721

1247

248

369

179
74

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

In
d

iv
id

u
a
l

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n

H
e

a
lt

h

H
o

u
s
in

g

L
A

 S
e

rv
ic

e

P
o

li
c

e

O
th

e
r 

Le
g
a

l

A
g
y O
th

e
r

A
n

o
n

y
m

o
u

s

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

Referrals by Source

353

667

727

827

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Early Help Assessments per Quarter

70



53 

 

Supporting Leicestershire Families 
 
The Troubled Families Unit (TFU) has identified that Leicestershire have 810 troubled families, of 
which the expectation is that 1/6 (135) are to be supported by existing family work, and the TFU will 
provide providing Payment By Results (PBR) funding for the remaining families (675). 

When the results for the February 2014 claim were announced in May 2014, the press release 
issued by the Prime Minister’s Office in response to the publication made reference to the success 
in Leicestershire having ‘turned around’ (at that point) 78% of our families, placing us third highest 
in the Country behind the Isles of Scilly (100%) and Wakefield (85%). 
 
The Troubled Families Unit is currently in the process of developing its plans for Phase Two of the 
Payment By Results Programme due to start in April 2015. The TFU have invited authorities to 
express an interest in starting phase two early (July /August 2014), and Leicestershire County 
Council has expressed an interest.  

Child Protection 
 
Volume of contacts and referrals 
 
The total number of contacts for the year was 15,228 of which 5895 (38%) went on to be referrals. 
 
This equates to 452 referrals per 10,000 children. This is low compared to the national average: 
520 per 10,000 children and regional (East Mids) average 585.6 per 10,000 children. However, in 
Leicestershire Early Help cases are progressed to assessment and service provision as ‘contacts’ 
rather than referrals. 
 
IA/CA performance 
 
80% of referrals to CSC go on to initial assessment. In Leicestershire the 10 working day timescale 
from referral to completion of initial assessments was retained until the end of February 2014. The 
end of year completion rate within timescales was 55%- however, this figure was affected by 
technology issues during the year and preparation for the introduction of the new single 
assessment. Remedial action to address this recurring ICT problem has been taken.  
 
Core assessments were also affected by this and completions within timescale was 68%.  
 
In the first period of the new reporting year it is anticipated that completion of the new Single 
Assessments will be reported as significantly improved. 
 
CP Performance 
 
At the end of March 2014, 446 children were on child protection plans - this equates to 29.3 per 
10,000 children and is significantly lower than the national average 37.9 per 10,000 children and 
statistical neighbour average of 32.6 per 10,000 children. 
 
At the end of September 2013 numbers on CP plans had fallen from 393 (end 2012/13) to 373 
reflecting the success of better co-ordination and identification of early help interventions. The 
figure then rose to 427 at end Dec 2013 reflecting the high national profile of serious case reviews 
from the West Midlands (DP) and North Yorkshire (HK) and the impact these had on local demand. 
 
 

71



54 

 

 
 
Duration of CP plans, 18+ months and reasons for levels of repeat CP conferences 
 
Child protection plans lasting two years or more decreased (improved) to 4.8% placing 
Leicestershire in the second quartile of all Local Authorities in England. 
 
Children becoming subject to a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time also 
decreased (improved) again placing Leicestershire in the second quartile of all Local Authorities 
and better than statistical neighbours. 
 
Review of CP plans in timescale fell from 100% (2012/13) to 97.9% (2013/14) due to an 
administrative error in calculating the review dates, which has now been rectified. 
 
Key data relating to Child Protection performance is set out below. 
 

Contact, referral and assessment 

 

Leicestershire Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Number of contacts to Children's Social Care 
(include referrals)  

3724 3872 3762 3870 15228 

Number of referrals to Children's Social Care 1372 1527 1551 1445 5895 

Number/Percentage of referrals resulting in a 
completed Initial Assessment 

1113 1183 1267 1098 4661 

81.1% 77.5% 81.7% 76.0% 79.1% 

Percentage of Initial Assessment carried out 
within 10 working days 

58.0%  56.0% 53.0% 53.0% 55.0% 

Number of Initial Assessments escalated to Core 
Assessments 

635  612  648  904  2799  

Number of Core Assessments carried out within 
35 working days 

 71.0%  71.0%  71.0% 63.0%  68.0% 

Number of strategy discussion meetings  410 417 466 512 1805 

Number of S47 enquiries  332 308 351 358 1349 

 

 

 

Leicestershire Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Number of children subject to a CP Plan 378 373 427 446 

Number in each category of abuse 

Neglect 80 56 60 81 

Physical 22 23 36 26 

Emotional 35 29 60 68 

Sexual 16 13 17 14 

Multiple 225 252 254 257 

Numbers by ethnicity  

White 310 310 367 377 

Mixed 31 28 31 30 

Asian 21 15 18 27 

Black 4 1 9 11 

Other 3 4 1 1 

Undetermined Ethnicity  9 15 1 0 

72



55 

 

Leicestershire Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Numbers by age 

Unborn 25 24 22 15 

0 - 4  159 159 191 189 

5 - 9 101 98 124 146 

10 - 15 84 83 76 85 

16+ 9 9 14 11 

Numbers by gender 

Male  182 183 207 211 

Female 171 166 198 220 

Unborn 25 24 22 15 

Percentage of CP cases which were reviewed within required 
timescales 

100.0% 100.0% 98.0% 97.9% 

Number of CP cases allocated to a Social Worker 373 370 425 445 

 
 

 
 

CHILD PROTECTION - Process
Locality Strat Disc Section 47 s47 to ICPC

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 642 503 49%

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 472 343 56%

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 571 444 50%

Disabled Children's Service 18 12 67%

Other 102 47 28%

Total 1805 1349 51%

Locality ICPC ICPC to CPP Plans 31Mar14

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 246 88% 123

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 193 93% 151

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 223 82% 158

Disabled Children's Service 8 100% 14

Other 13 85% 0

Total 683 87% 446

CHILD PROTECTION - Trends

NB includes plans ending on last day of month

CHILD PROTECTION - Current

15

97

63
47

3

92

83

38

8

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Unborn 0 - 4 5 - 9 10 - 15 16+

Age & Gender of Children with CP Plan at 31 Mar 14

Female

Male

Unborn

283

169

245

52

291

168

227

39

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Emotional Abuse Neglect Physical Abuse Sexual Abuse

Child Protection Plan Categories at 31 Mar 14

Initial

Latest

149

132

116

38

11

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

<3 mths 3 - 6 mths 6 - 12 mths 1 - 2 yrs 2+ yrs

Child Protection Plans by Duration at 31 Mar 14

393 388 378
358

386 373
394

410
427 421 433 446

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Children Subject of Child Protection Plan per Month

2013/14

2012/13

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Starts repeat plans 3 11 7 7 9 4 7 10 7 5 4 5

Starts no prev plan 32 41 47 34 44 48 65 47 50 43 51 48

Ends -36 -58 -62 -61 -25 -68 -48 -41 -40 -54 -49 -41

net change -1 -6 -8 -20 +28 -16 +24 +16 +17 -6 +6 +12

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

40

60

80

Child Protection Plans Starting and Ending per Month

No prev plans, 391, 

88%

1 prev plan, 47, 10%

2 prev plans, 7, 2%

3+ prev plans, 1, 

0.2%

Repeat Child Protection Plans at 31 Mar 14

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Strat Disc 126 156 128 110 149 158 177 172 117 182 182 148

s47 Enqs 109 123 100 77 111 120 131 128 92 137 127 94

ICPC 40 59 58 45 55 50 80 58 63 43 67 65

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200
Strategy Discussions to s47 to Initial CP Conference per Month

73



56 

 

 

CHILD PROTECTION - Performance

100% 100%
98.0% 97.9%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

110%

Jun 13 Sep 13 Dec 13 Mar 14

Child Protection Reviews within Timescale
14.9%

13.7%
12.9%

9.0%

12.6%

5.1%

3.9%

8.5%

2.1%

4.8%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 2013/14

Repeat CP Plans Starting & Plans Ending 2+ Years

Repeat CP Plans Starting

CP Plans Ending 2+ Years

74



57 

 

 
 
 
 
 

CHILD PROTECTION - PROCESS
Locality Strat Disc s47 s47 to ICPC

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 306 222 47%

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 220 158 51%

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 261 210 44%

Disabled Children's Service 7 3 100%

Other 0 0 0%

Total 794 593 48%

Per 10,000 under 18 population Strat Disc s47 ICPC

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 152 110 55

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 89 64 38

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 124 100 47

Disabled Children's Service 1.1 0.5 0.5

Leicestershire 120 90 47

CHILD PROTECTION - TRENDS

CHILD PROTECTION - CURRENT
Locality CP Plans Per 10,000 pop

1. NW Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth 93 23

2. Oadby, Wigston, Market Harborough and Blaby 119 24

3. Charnwood and Melton Mowbray 153 36

Disabled Children's Service 4 0.3

Unallocated 4 0.3

Total 373 28

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Strategy Discussions per Month

no s47

to s47

2012/13

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Children discussed at Initial Child Protection Conferences per Month

No plan

Plan

2012/13

24

87

55
38

3

72

43

45

6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

-1 0 - 4 5 - 9 10 - 15 16+

Age & Gender of Children with CP Plan at 30 Sep 13

Female

Male

Unborn

254 254

289

50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Emotional Abuse Neglect Physical Abuse Sexual Abuse

Child Protection Plan Categories at 30 Sep 13

139

82
87

45

20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

<3 mths 3 - 6 mths 6 - 12 mths 1 - 2 yrs 2+ yrs

Child Protection Plans by Duration at 30 Sep 13

392 385 378
358

386 373

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Children Subject of Child Protection Plan per Month

2013/14

2012/13

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Section 47 Enquiries per Month

no ICPC

to ICPC

2012/13

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

40

60

80

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

Child Protection Plans Starting and Ending per Month

Starts repeat plans

Starts no prev plan

Ends

75



58 

 

Looked After Children 
 
Children in Care (CiC) numbers 
 
At the end of March 2014 there were 490 looked after children in Leicestershire. This is an increase 
from previous quarters but still significantly lower than the national average. Leicestershire has 32 
per 10,000 children in care, compared to 60 per 10,000 children nationally and statistical neighbour 
average of 48 per 10,000 children. However, since the year of Peter Connelly’s death in Haringey 
in 2008/9, care applications in Leicestershire have risen from 2.9 per 10,000 child population to 6.3 
in 2013/14. Internal auditing by Children and Young People Service, peer review and Ofsted 
inspection have all confirmed that the ‘right’ children are in care in Leicestershire and children are 
safe and feel safe. 
 
Placement stability 
 
At the end of March 2014 only 9% of children in care had 3 or more placement moves in line with 
national and statistical neighbour averages. 
 
Educational outcomes for CiC (to follow from Sally-Ann) 
 
Key Stage 1 
 
• The achievement of CiC to Leicestershire at KS1 is below national data for Reading, Writing 

and Maths. However, the cohort is very small, containing only 6 pupils and the difference 
between Leicestershire and other comparisons is often 1 child.  Due to this, it is difficult to 
draw meaningful conclusions.   

 
Key Stage 2 
 
• At Key Stage 2 the achievement of CiC to Leicestershire is above national CLA data on all 

measures except Reading and compares favourably with our regional and statistical 
neighbours on most measures. The cohort is larger than KS1 but still relatively small, 
containing 12 pupils. 

   
• Progress in Key Stage 2 is generally better than national averages and the gap between 

CLA and all pupils in Leicestershire is narrower than national gaps. However, progress 
needs to be accelerated in order for Leicestershire CLA to reach age-related expectations at 
the end of KS2. 

 
Key Stage 4 
 
• At Key Stage 4 the achievement of CiC to Leicestershire is (cohort of 33 students) is 

significantly below national CLA data against the key measure of 5A*-C as many of the 2013 
cohort were not working at this level. The final figure was also affected by one student who 
did not achieve the predicted C+ in English – this exemplifies how small margins can impact 
headline figures with a small cohort. 

 
However, several students achieved Grade D GCSEs which is a solid foundation to build on 
post-16.  For example, in terms of 5A*-D including English and maths, 15% or 7/33 students 
achieved this measure. Extending this to 5A*-G, 70% of CLA achieved this, showing that the 
majority of children do leave school with some qualifications (82% achieved at least 1 A*-G).  

76



59 

 

• Following our focus on gaining qualifications in both English and Maths, out of the whole 
cohort of 45 students, 35/45 young people achieved qualifications in both English and 
maths.  That means 77.7% of our total Virtual School cohort have a good grounding on 
which to build at Key Stage 5 (post 16 education).  

 
The gap between CiC and ‘all’ children widens as children move from Early Years to Primary and 
from Primary to Middle/Secondary schools. This pattern is also reflected nationally. The priorities 
for the Virtual School remain: improving progress over time in relation to the often low starting 
points of CiC; raising end of key stage attainment levels; and narrowing the achievement gap 
between CiC and ‘all’ pupils. 
 

Leicestershire Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Number of Looked After Children 453 469 472 490 

Ethnicity of LAC 

White 386 404 404 429 

Mixed 49 46 45 43 

Asian 11 6 7 7 

Black 0 3 3 5 

Other 5 6 6 5 

Undetermined 2 4 7 1 

Age  

0 - 4  146 152 148 140 

5 - 9 86 89 87 97 

10 - 15 138 133 144 146 

16+ 83 95 93 107 

Gender  

Male  261 270 272 258 

Female 192 199 200 198 

Percentage of LAC at period end 
with 3 or more placements  

7.4% 5.3% 7.0% 9.0% 

LAC cases which were reviewed 
within required timescales  Data  unavailable at   present 

Stability of placements of LAC: 
length of placement  

63.4% 63.6% 67.9% 67.6% 

 

What do the children and young people in care think about the services they receive? 

Information from Children in Care Council children and young people will be sought in future 
quarters.  The Leicestershire Children in Care Council (CICC) met in February 2014. They had 
several new members, explained roles and elected new LAC members to represent Leicestershire 
on the Family Law Justice Board. They also held a Family Law Participation group session. They 
discussed LAC Health Assessments and feedback was passed to the CCG.   On 17th February 
2014, along with the Chair and Deputy Chair, several members of the Leicestershire Children in 
Care council attended the NCB Corporate Parenting Board event meeting up with other East 
Midland Children in Care council members.  

77



60 

 

THE CHILD’S JOURNEY IN RUTLAND 
 
Early Help 
 
The development and improvement of Early Help was a key improvement priority arising from the 
last Ofsted inspection of child protection in Rutland in 2013.  There has been an underlying 
trajectory of improvement in the number of CAFs undertaken in 2013/14 as indicated in the table 
below.  
 

Number of new CAF's Q1 - 12 Q2 - 31 Q3 - 17 Q4 - 30 TOT - 90 

Number/Proportion of Children's Social 
Care referrals that result in a CAF 

4.8% 16.4% 10.8% 34.1% 15% 

3 10 8 15 36 

 
The number of CAFs completed has increased by 45% from 62 in 2012/13 to 90 in 2013/14.  This 
demonstrates the increased use of early help and results from:  
 

• Robust implementation of thresholds: where appropriate, families are directed into CAF 
rather than social care  

• Implementation of “intent to CAF”, whereby the duty team chases contacts that do not meet 
the social care threshold to ensure that a CAF referral is made (out of 42 cases, 39 
resulted in a referral) 

• Six multi-agency CAF training courses which have increased confidence in the use of CAF  
• Improved step up step down processes, so that children are more likely to be receiving the 

right level of help at the right time 
• A new early intervention model developed by the Families First Board. This strengthened 

the early intervention process and offer within the CAF model.  90 families were also 
worked with pre-CAF by Rutland County Council as a single agency. 

 
The CAF process has been particularly effective at working with families experiencing emotional 
harm and neglect. 

 
 
 

Rutland 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Number of new CAF's 19 11 9 23 62 

Number/Proportion of 
Children's Social Care 
referrals that result in a 
CAF 

11.6% 9.3% 1.2% 11.8%   

10 10 1 12 33 

78



61 

 

The percentage of referrals from social care to CAF has increased from 8.7% to 15%.  This  
demonstrates the increased number of cases stepped down from social care to CAF and results 
from: 

• Strengthened relationships between early intervention and social care through joint 
monthly management development sessions  

• Monthly Munro sessions cascading the above work to local practitioners 

• The introduction of a Multi-Agency Support Panel which ensures that children are 
directed towards early help where appropriate 

Changing Lives Rutland 

At April 2014, 34 families had been identified as meeting the criteria for the ‘Changing 
Lives’ programme. Work had begun with 30 of them and 10 successful claims for payments by 
results. This means that the authority has exceeded its target of working with 30 families by March 
2015 well in advance of timescales.  Rutland has applied to become an “Early Starter” for the 2015-
16 programme accessing the upfront funding available to do this as we meet the eligibility criteria of 
working with 90% or more of their families and will have claimed results for having turned around at 
least 50% of their families by the end of June. A further 10 families have been identified with whom 
work could begin in 2014/15.  

 
01/04/12 to 31/03/13 01/04/13 to 31/03/14 Status 

631 contacts opened to social care 690 contacts opened to social care  

8.5%+ 

Of those 378 went onto referral Of those 240 went onto referral  
36.5% - 

Of all contacts, 41 were stepped down / 

recommended to CAF 

Of all contacts, 64 were stepped 

down / recommended to CAF   9.43% + 

Of those that went onto referral 3 resulted 

in a CAF 

Of those that went onto referral 34 

resulted in a CAF    14.1% + 

76 cases open to CAF 93 cases open to CAF  

18% + 

24 cases stepped up from CAF  5 cases stepped up from CAF   
79% - 

Data not recorded or not available Single Agency (2 unmet needs) 

External Lead Professional (TAF 

90 

33%     

 Changing Lives (Troubled Families) 

engaged 

Changing Lives (Payment by 

Results) 

Participation in early intervention 

services  

100% 

33% 

400 

 
As can be seen from the data above, although there has been a slight increase in the overall 
number or contacts opened to social care, there has been a significant positive change in data that 
demonstrates the following: 
 

a) Step Up Step Down Procedure is working well 
b) Single Assessment and thresholds for referral and intervention  is robust  
c) Confidence in the CAF process has improved with the increase in referrals and evidenced 

by evaluations 

79



62 

 

d) Early Intervention Offer prevents escalation of issues to CAF/Social Care 
 
In addition other key data that evidences the impact of early help services provided by the Council 
and its partners is as follows: 
 

Data Headlines 2012-13 2013-14 

Prevention of homelessness 53 86 

Children Centre’s Reach 0 – 5 41.5% 90.02% 

NEET (Not in Education, Employment and/or Training) 1.2% 0.8% 

Child Poverty 8.4% 8.4% 

Under 18 conception rate 6.2% 6% 

 
In addition, the self-evaluation (SEF) of Children’s Centres, 2013-14 had determined a grading of 
GOOD in all four areas. There is an inspection readiness group chaired by the Head of Service to 
prepare for an expected Ofsted Inspection within 2014-15. The last Ofsted Inspection was in 
November 12, achieving a Satisfactory grading.  

 

Child Protection 

 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL 

Number of contacts to Children's Social Care (include 
referrals) 

185 157 169 179 690 

Number of referrals to Children's Social Care 62 61 74 44 241 

Number of Referrals including domestic abuse 
incidents 

8 3 1 7 19 

Number of referrals made by EDT/Out of Hours Team 
(including those that were recorded as contacts only) 

4 1 11 13 29 

Number/Percentage of referrals going onto Initial 
Assessment 

49 53 66 44 212 

79.0% 86.9% 89.2% 100.0% 85.3% 

Number/Percentage of Initial Assessment carried out 
within 10 working days 

48 48 62 40 198 

98.1% 90.6% 93.9% 93.0% 93.3% 

Number/Percentage of Initial Assessments escalated to 
Core Assessments 

9 14 25 8 56 

18.3% 26.4% 40.3% 20.0% 26.4% 

Number/Percentage of Core Assessments carried out 
within 35 working days 

44 36 37 17 134 

97.8% 94.7% 86.0% 58.6% 92.9% 

Number of strategy discussion meetings 16 30 14 17 77 

Number of S47 enquiries  12 30 14 17 73 

 
The number of contacts to Children’s Social Care has increased, reflecting the national trend.  
However, the number of referrals to Children’s Social Care has decreased by 36%, evidence that 
the use of early help has been very effective in slowing down the referral rate and that thresholds 
are being applied more rigorously by the duty team.  There have been more referrals made by the 
Emergency Duty Team (EDT), which results from the improved EDT arrangements (involving the 
robust application of thresholds and use of signs of safety) since Leicestershire County Council 
took on this service, resulting in more appropriate referrals to Children’s Social Care.   
 
The percentage of referrals progressing to initial assessment has increased from 71.4% to 85.3%, 
indicating good use thresholds, resulting in appropriate referrals. 

80



63 

 

 
93% of initial assessments were carried out within 10 days and 93% of core assessments were 
carried out within 35 days. 
 
 
Rutland Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Number of children subject to a CP Plan 23 26 29 34 

Number/Rate in each Category of Abuse 

Neglect 8 7 7 7 

Physical 0 1 3 4 

Emotional 11 11 1 5 

Sexual 1 1 6 4 

Multiple 4 6 12 14 

Ethnicity - Number in each Category 

White 22 22 24 29 

Mixed 1 1 1 1 

Asian 0 0 0 0 

Black 0 2 2 2 

Other/Unborn 0 0 2 2 

Undetermined 0 1 0 0 

Age of Child on CP Plan 

Unborn 1 0 2 2 

0 - 4  9 15 11 15 

5 - 9 8 7 5 5 

10 - 15 5 3 11 12 

16+ 0 1 0 0 

Gender of Child on CP Plan 

Male  14 14 14 18 

Female 8 12 13 14 

Unborn 1 0 2 2 

Percentage of CP cases which were reviewed 
within required timescales 

100.0% 100.0% 89.7% 100.0% 

Number of CP cases allocated to a Social 
Worker 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

There has been an increase in the number of children subject to a child protection plan, as a result 
of more complex cases entering the system, reflecting a national trend.  The majority of cases 
relate to multiple categories or neglect.  There have been more 0 – 4 year olds and more 10 – 15 
year olds in this group, resulting from larger numbers of sibling groups.  All child protection plans 
were reviewed within the required timescales and there were no unallocated cases. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



64 

 

Looked After Children  
 

Rutland 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Number of Looked After Children 30 33 39 34 

Ethnicity of LAC 

White 25 29 31 27 

Mixed 1 3 2 2 

Asian 0 0 0 0 

Black 2 0 4 3 

Other 2 1 2 2 

Undetermined 0 0 0 0 

Age  

0 - 4  7 9 11 9 

5 - 9 8 7 7 7 

10 - 15 9 10 10 9 

16+ 6 7 11 9 

Gender  

Male  16 16 16 15 

Female 14 17 23 19 

Percentage of LAC at period end with 3 or more placements 

Target - < 6% 
0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

LAC cases which were reviewed within required timescales 

Target - > 75% 
100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Stability of placements of LAC: length of placement 

Target - > 70% 
 85.7% (annual figure) 

 

 
The number of looked after children has also increased.  Of note is the increase in over 16 year 
olds in care.  There was an influx of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking children (6 in November and 
December).  Placement stability has been excellent, with no children requiring 3 or more 
placements.  More foster carers have been recruited and trained, which has helped to secure 
placement stability and provided an increased choice of placement.  All LAC cases were reviewed 
within required timescales. 
 
Rutland-specific improvement priorities for 2014/15 are: 
 
1. Revised thresholds to be launched in April 2014, as a result of which it is anticipated that 

there will be an increase in CAF cases. 
2. Multi-agency support panel (MASP) to be expanded to minimise drift in Child in Need cases. 
3. New quality assurance framework to be launched in April 2014, strengthening the audit 

process. 
4. Families First Strategy to be refreshed to provide more detail on processes to be followed. 
5. Single referral process to be launched across Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland. 
6. Transfer protocol for step up step down cases between teams to be updated. 
7. Peer challenge action plan under implementation to strengthen management oversight and 

engagement of children and young people. 
8. Monthly joint performance summary meetings across early intervention and children’s social 

82



65 

 

care to be implemented in April 2014 to enable enhanced scrutiny and challenge of 
performance. 

9. Early help and children’s social care to be integrated into one unit in mid-2014. 
10. Youth Housing project due to open on 3rd November, improving accommodation options for 

older children. 
11. Work to ensure the children’s database is fit for purpose. 
 
IRO reports 
 
A key source of quality assurance and performance management information that enables the 
LRLSCB to test performance in relation to both Child Protection and Looked After Children services 
is the IRO service in each of the two authorities.  The Board received annual reports from the IRO 
teams in both Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
In Leicestershire: 
 
There has been a reduction in the number of Initial and Review Child Protection Conferences as 
shown below: 
 

2011-12 1165 (this included 5 
Rutland conferences) 

2012-13 1105 

2013-14 1031 

 
This matches a downward trend over the 3 years of reducing number of children subject to plans 
measured at year end (31st March) from 524 (2011-12), 393 (2012-13) and increasing to 446 
(2013-14). 
 
However, it is important to see that numbers have been rising towards the end of the year as seen 
in the table presented on page 54 above. 
 
The distribution of reviews compared to last year is as follows: 
 

 

Type of Conference 2013-14 2012-13 

Initial 274 256 

Initial Pre-birth 64 57 

Initial Receiving -in 25 21 

Initial Re-convened 2 2 

 1st Review 296 284 

Subsequent Review 370 485 

 
The most frequent single categories of abuse identified in plans are Neglect (18%) and Emotional 
(15%), which demonstrates a convergence in the proportions over the period.  Multiple categories 
continue to be at a significant level. 
 

Number CP Plans in each 

Category of Abuse 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Neglect 80 56 60 81 

Physical 22 23 36 26 

83



66 

 

Emotional 35 29 60 68 

Sexual 16 13 17 14 

Multiple 225 252 254 257 

 
A key strength identified in this reporting year has been the introduction of the Grow Safety model 
which was a model supported by the LRLSCB.  The key purpose of introducing this approach was 
to make clearer the concerns about the child’s safety and the plans and targets to secure safety 
and allow for the child and family voice to be heard.   
 
Overall performance on the timeliness of conferences is covered above.  However some additional 
concerns were identified in the annual report on which the LRLSCB has requested action.  This 
includes: 
 

• concern that families are not receiving the case conference report within the LSCB 
procedures timescales; whilst performance is better than it was in 2012/13 the LSCB is 
concerned that in over 60% of cases the papers are not with parents two days before the 
meeting; 

• inconsistencies in the quality of information submitted by partners.  Primary Health 
practitioners do provide comprehensive reports in a timely way for conferences.  The reports 
received from the Child Protection Co-ordinators of Leicestershire Police are often received 
in advance, though the presence of representatives to speak to the information is often 
variable.  Reports are rarely provided from GP’s in the agreed format.  The information when 
provided is often as a letter containing the factual information but rarely with a view or 
analysis.  Information from schools is also received in a variety of formats, and rarely in the 
prescribed LSCB format. 

 
Action on both these points has been requested by the LRLSCB in 2013/14 and performance will 
be closely monitored. 
 
A positive development has been the provision of a dedicated advocate to support young people in 
the child Protection conference process which began on 3rd June 2013. The service is offered to 
every young person over 10 years old who are subject of a Child Protection Conference.  Over the 
period since it began operating directly there have been 102 referrals to the service.  The service 
was provided to 53 young people with the advocate representing or supporting them in 54 
conferences.  In addition a further 6 young people aged between 7- 9 years were supported as 
they were the younger siblings. 
 
In the reporting period the SIU dealt with 8 complaints from parents.  Of these 6 were resolved by 
contact with the complainant either by a meeting or letter.  One appeal against a Child Protection 
Conference decision was heard through the revised Appeals procedure.  The appeal was not 
upheld, though learning points around the way in which the involvement of an absent father is 
supported was noted for Locality Social Work practice. 
 
In conclusion the strengths, challenges and areas for improvement arising from the IRO service 
annual report are: 
 
Strengths 
 

• the introduction of the Grow Safety model into Child Protection Conferences to make clearer 
the concerns and risks, better target plans and outcomes and enable the child and family 

84



67 

 

voice to be heard; 

• provision of a dedicated advocacy service to support children over 10 years old in Child 
Protection Conferences; 

• Reduction in the number of complaints; 

• The introduction of the Listening and Support Service for children that go missing. 
 
Challenges 
 

• To ensure that the category of emotional abuse complies with the definition set out in 
Working Together 2013 and DfE guidance; 

• To ensure that families receive case conference reports with the defined LSCB timescales; 

• To secure consistent partnership attendance at conferences to secure quoracy and to 
improve the consistency of the quality of information submitted by partner agencies; 

• To ensure that the data input from Framework i is accurate and on time. 
 
Areas for improvement 
 

• Agency representation at case conferences must be secured to ensure that conferences are 
quorate and can take place within timescales set out in the LSCB procedures; 

• Agency provision of accurate and concise information in the prescribed LSCB format 

• More regular recording and monitoring of IRO challenge and escalation; 

• Return interviews to be consistently carried out when children go missing 
 
In relation to the IRO Children in Care Annual Report: 
 
The year-end figures below, highlight how the children in care population in Leicestershire has 
seen further growth over the 2013-2014 period in comparison to the previous two years. It has 
been as high as 500 during this year which has inevitably had a further impact on IRO caseloads 
and capacity to deliver. 
 

  
 
Between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014, a total of 1283 reviews for children were held.  This 
compares with previous years as follows: 
 

85



68 

 

 
 
 
(Please note that the difference between the 1283 and 1107 figures above are explained by 
differences in the Framework i reporting system) 
 
Of the 1283 LAC Reviews held over 2013-2014 98.8% were held within the prescribed timescales. 
This is a good achievement and a further improvement compared to 97.9% and 98% in the prior 
two periods.  There were 16 out of 1283 LAC reviews that did not take place on time over 2013-
2014 (1.2%). 
 
Child participation in LAC reviews was as follows 
 

  
 

PN1 children who attend their reviews and speak for themselves; 
PN2 those who attend but communicate via an advocate;  
PN3 those who attend and convey their views non verbally; 
PN4 those who attend but don't contribute; 
PN5 children who do not attend but brief someone to speak on their behalf; 

285

451

5 4 12

91

185

71

13

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

PN0 PN1 PN2 PN3 PN4 PN5 PN6 PN7 Blank

Child participation at LAC reviews 2013/14

86



69 

 

PN6 do not attend but communicate their views by another method; 
PN7 those who do not attend and do not convey their views in any other way. 
PN0  represents children under the age of 4 

 

The strengths, challenges and areas for improvement that emerge from the IRO annual report on 
Children in Care are as follows: 
 
Strengths 
 

• Defined IRO lead areas on Children Using Sexually Abusive Behaviour, Child Sexual 
Exploitation, Signs of Safety, complex care needs, national/regional developments and soon 
to be created, Care Leavers; 

• The dual role of IROs across child protection and care which provides continuity across the 
child’s journey; 

• 98.8% of the 1283 reviews carried out within prescribed timescales which is an improvement 
on the previous two years; 

• Increased numbers of children participating in their reviews from 88.5% to 91%; 

• IRO service attendance and involvement at Joint Solutions and Permanency Forums, 
Education of Children in Care meetings and with the specialist LAC health team; 

• Challenge meetings between IRO service managers and the Assistant Director. 
 
Challenges 
 

• Maintaining manageable caseloads within the current capacity of the service given the 
increased number of children in care; 

• Ensuring that the process for children coming into care and their first Review is fully 
understood and implemented by social care staff; 

• Ensuring that the data input to Framework i is accurate and timely; 

• Establishing an effective approach to ensure that children with communication needs and 
disabilities can participate  in their reviews. 

 
Areas for improvement 
 

• Improved quality and timeliness of preparation for Reviews; 

• Consistency regarding assessment, care planning and notifications of/consultation with 
IROs regarding changes in a child’s case; 

• Clear understanding of the IRO statutory role across the children’s workforce; 

• Improved placement sufficiency and suitability to support stability and permanency 
 
In Rutland… 
 
The IRO report relates only to LAC Reviews 
 
At the end of March 2014 there were 34 Looked After Children in Rutland compared to 29 at the 
end of the previous year. 
 
In the year 2013/14 the IRO service conducted 102 reviews (compared to 75 in the previous year) 
and 100% of these were held with timescales. 
 
Participation of children in their reviews is set out in the following table: 
 

87



70 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Strengths 
 

• looked after children receive a good quality service; 

• all looked after children were in education and personal education plans in place; 

• whilst 20 children were placed out of area all were within 30 miles of Oakham; 

• social workers have achieved the 26 week timescale for the new Public Law outline thuse 
ensuring that plans for children are concluded speedily; 

• there are good relationships with CAFCASS; 

• there is strong evidence of children and young people’s participation in reviews; 

• feedback from carers, agencies and children about the IRO and review meetings is very 
positive 

• the authority has secured more local placements for teenagers 

• contact arrangements between children and their parents have improved since last year. 

• The majority of the recommendations in the IRO annual report 2012/13 have been 
implemented. 

 
Areas for improvement 
 

• The timescale for the availability of social work reports still needs to be improved; 

• More local foster placements need to be identified for teenagers requiring provision; 

• Further consideration needs to be given to securing accommodation for sibling groups; 

• Children who no longer need to be subject to a placement order should have these orders 
revoked as agreed in their care plans and review meetings; 

• Discussions need to be undertaken with CAMHS to ensure that their services better meet 
the needs of Rutland children in care. 

28

44

1

23

2
4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

PN0 PN1 PN2 PN5 PN6 PN7

PN0 Child aged under 4 at time of the review 28 

PN1 Physically attends and speaks for his or her self 44 

PN2 Physically attends and an advocate speak on his or her behalf 1 

PN5 Child does not attend but briefs an advocate to speak for his or her self 23 

PN6 Child does not attend but conveys his/her feelings by a facilitative medium 2 

PN7 Child does not attend, nor are his or her views conveyed to the review 4 

    102 

88



71 

 

 
Private Fostering 
 
The annual report on Private Fostering across both Leicestershire and Rutland was presented to 
the LRLSCB at its meeting on 11th July 2014.  The paper reported that during the period April 2013- 
March 2014: 
 

• 5 new notifications of an arrangement meeting the definition of private fostering had been 
received; 

• Of these three were females and two males; 

• All notifications were for white/British children; 

• The average age of those privately fostered was 15 years of age; 

• All but one were actioned according to the visitation regulations; 

• All but one were actioned within 7 working days of notification; 

• All but one had subsequent visits within timescales in the period 2013/14; 

• All of these private fostering arrangements had now ended. 
 
The single case that remained unassessed was due to the young person being risk assessed by 
the Strengthening Families team as potentially being in a connected carer placement i.e. she was 
not initially deemed to be in a typical foster care placement.  The young person is now in an 
appropriate family and friends foster care placement. 
 
All these cases are Leicestershire cases.  There are no recorded private fostering arrangements in 
Rutland. 
 
The key concern arising from the report was the low number of private fostering arrangements 
reported. Comparison with statistical neighbours suggests that Leicestershire County Council 
should be assessing and supporting up to 50 private fostering arrangements per year. Equally it 
would be expected that some such cases would occur in Rutland though comparisons are more 
difficult given the small population of the County. 
 
Action has already been taken in 2014/15 to address this concern.  New Private Fostering 
Awareness Leaflets have been produced to increase understanding amongst professionals and the 
wider community of private fostering with a view to increasing the number of reports of such 
arrangements.  The main point of contact between staff and the carers of privately fostered children 
and young people will be targeted.  This will include schools, GPs, and health visitors.  The 
ambition is to see a marked increase in referrals during 2014/15. 
 
Assurance that Adults are Safe 
 
As set out earlier in this report the development of the new Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework for the Boards has included extension of the range of data and 
information we have to assure ourselves that vulnerable adults are safe.  A key part of this is the 
scorecard now used to monitor key adult safeguarding referral and protection arrangements that 
are set out earlier in this report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

89



72 

 

The key data for Rutland Adult Safeguarding in 2013/14 is as follows: 
 
 

2013/2014  Total  

Rutland 

Safeguarding referrals from Community 29 

Safeguarding referrals from Residential 62 

Primary Client Type for Safeguarding Referrals 

Phys. Disability / Frailty / Sensory Imp. 40 

Mental Health Needs 2 

Learning Disability 6 

Substance Misuse 0 

Not recorded 1 

Primary Client Age for Safeguarding Referrals  

18-64 7 

65-74 2 

75-84 15 

85+ 25 

 

The key data for Leicestershire  Adult Safeguarding in 2013/14 is as follows: 
 

2013/2014  Total  

Leicestershire 

Safeguarding referrals from Community* 622 

Safeguarding referrals from Residential* 1,127 

Primary Client Type for Safeguarding Referrals 

Phys. Disability / Frailty / Sensory Imp. 725 

Mental Health Needs 444 

Learning Disability 189 

Substance Misuse 3 

Not recorded 0 

Primary Client Age for Safeguarding Referrals  

18-64 340 

65-74 134 

75-84 309 

85+ 578 

*These two figures total more than the other sub-totals of the table as it is a count of referrals not individuals 

 

 

90



73 

 

There are only two measures in the national performance framework relative to safeguarding and 
both are based on responses from the annual survey of service users. The key measure is the 
percentage of people who say that services have made them feel safe.  There has been a small 
increase in this proportion, up to 90%, and performance remains in the top quartile for the second 
year. 
 
Comparing the level of safeguarding activity for the full year 2013/14 with the previous one is 
problematic due to changes to both national reporting and the Adult Social Care IT 
system.  However based on data to the end of February it is estimated that during 2013/14 there 
were 1,700 safeguarding referrals, an increase of 28% on the year before.  Of these, it was 
concluded that 53% were either substantiated or partly substantiated. 
 
In addition steps have been taken to secure qualitative data and information to supplement the 
quantitative data we scrutinise. 
 
An example was the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Case File Audit undertaken  to test 
compliance with ‘No Secrets’ 2000, including Alerting, Referring, Strategy Meeting/Discussions, 
Safeguarding Investigations, Adult Safeguarding Conferences and Service User Involvement in the 
process (taking into account communication needs.) 
 
Leicestershire County Council Adult Services identified and audited 40 cases and Rutland’s 
Peoples Service 4 cases. All the cases were closed in the calendar year 2012 with no on-going 
safeguarding issues.  The cases were also audited by Leicestershire Partnership Trust and 
Leicestershire Police.  Whilst no service users were directly involved in this audit its conclusion and 
recommendations can be used in future engagement performance work. 
 
Practice issues arising from audit included: 
 

• Ensuring information is shared with agencies involved with the service user; 
• Recording the nature and content of discussions and decision making; 
• Recording of Protection Plans and review arrangements; 
• Team Managers confirming sign-off having reviewed recording and decision making; 
• Recording of Mental Capacity assessments; 
• Multi Agency decision making produces securing better plans and better outcomes. 

 
Recommendations from the Audit have been considered by the two Council departments and 
actions taken to address recommendations have included: 
 
1. Staff training on the use of Safeguarding Screens to evidence: 

 
• Strategy meetings/discussions ( including who is involved) 
• Mental Capacity of service users and consent to investigation 
• Implementation and Review of Protection Plans 
• Closing Summaries 
• Team Manager sign-off 
 

2. Staff considering the following practice issues: 
 
• Ensure checks are made with regard to other agency involvement 
• Be clear what constitutes a strategy discussion 
• Evidence of decision making. 

91



74 

 

3.  Police reviewing where information might be stored in relation to strategy discussions and 
protection plans and ongoing work. 

 
Lessons learned in relation to the multi-agency audit tool have been fed into its revision for use in 
2014/15. 
 
Addressing areas of key safeguarding risk in Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Children Missing 
 
CSE and Missing has been a key priority for the LRLSCB in response to both national expectations 
and locally driven priority setting for a number of years.  A Sub-Group focusing on CSE, child 
trafficking and missing children was established in 2012/13. The sub-group is sub-regional to 
ensure effective co-ordination between Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland reflecting the 
geographical area covered by Leicestershire Police. 
 
Headline information about our performance on CSE is set out in the diagram on the page 68.   
 
Details of work undertaken during 2013/14 are set out below: 
 

• Launch of a combined CSE, trafficked and missing children Sub Group and associated 
strategy 

• Development of the multi-agency operational meetings to a sub-regional level 

• Launch and revision of a Missing from Home and Care Protocol 

• Implementation of the new missing definition - ‘absent’ category 

• Launch of awareness raising campaign with children and families including the performance 
of ‘Chelsea’s Choice’ in schools seen by over 8000 children in 39 schools across the 
County, Rutland and the City. This resulted in an increase in referrals and disclosures. 

• A campaign to raise the awareness of key service providers such as taxi drivers, hotel and 
leisure providers to the incidence of CSE and how to report cases; 

• Practitioner seminars – missing, CSE and e safety 

• Ongoing multi-agency training for practitioners 

• Attendance at national NWG forums 

• Reduction in numbers reported missing (inc. children in care) and repeat missing episodes 

• Increased and more appropriate CSE referrals 

• Increased Ievel of disclosures 

• Reported increase in awareness amongst practitioners 

• Successful outcomes following joint operations - Operation Fedora/Kilroy and Orchestra 

• Agreement for the development of a co-located multi-agency team 
 
During 2013/14, in the County CSE referrals were received from FAS Teams, Independent 
Children’s Home, Leicester City Council, Early Help, New Futures, Strengthening Families Team, 
Chelsea’s Choice Production, EDT, Leicestershire LADO, Supporting Leicestershire Families, 
Police and YOS. 
 
We have witnessed  increasing numbers of referrals as set out below: 
 
Total referrals for 01.04.12 – 31.03.13  54 referrals 
Total referrals for 01.04.13 – 31.03.14  85 referrals  
 

92



75 

 

 
Analysis of the available data indicated that: 
 

• the vast majority of CSE related reports recorded by Leicestershire Police related to white 
European female victims between the ages of  12 to 17 

• there was a clear link between children being reported missing and being identified as at risk 
of or victims of CSE 

• approximately half the reports related to victims who were ‘looked after children’ and the 
vast majority of those children were also regularly reported as missing from home 

• there did not appear to be a bias towards one geographical area within the police force area 

• identified suspects in CSE related reports were overwhelmingly male, with just one female 
suspect recorded 

• There did not appear to be a bias towards any particular ethnicity in relation to suspects 
 
The findings have been used to inform the local multi-agency strategy described in this return. As a 
direct result of the report more police officers received awareness raising training and the police 
CSE team more comprehensively mapped any identified organised crime groups involved in CSE 
related offences. A more consistent approach to the recording of offences has been adopted. 
 
There are already good virtual operational arrangements in place between partners across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. It has been identified that the development of a co-located 
multi-agency team hosted by the police would enhance the current arrangements. This is a priority 
for 2014/15.  This joint team will be established to capitalise on the success of a court case where 
a number of perpetrators were successfully prosecuted and sentenced for sexually exploiting a 
young person. It will also strengthen existing partnership arrangements and address lessons learnt 
following the investigation and subsequent trial including the implementation of best practice such 
as supporting the victim and family pre, during and post-trial and engagement with local 
communities. 
 
 
Challenges remain to be addressed.  These include: 
 

• The continued variability in the consistency and quality of responses to CSE across areas 
remains a risk, particularly in light of evidence of cross border CSE and trafficking and the 
fact that children and families move across borders including vulnerable groups such as 
‘looked after children’ 

• An agreed consistent approach to data collection and problem profiling regionally and 
nationally needs to be achieved to enable comparative data and the building of a 
comprehensive evidence base, potentially supported by a single IT solution 

• Increasing the numbers reporting CSE from under-represented groups including boys/young 
men and children/young people from BME communities 

• Building improved trust, confidence and awareness within BME communities, specifically 
faith organisations, to support children and parents to identify and report CSE 

• Information sharing agreement work nationally and locally should help address barriers in 
relation to health services and patient confidentiality issues 

• Greater analysis needs to be undertaken in relation to the nature and scale of child 
trafficking similar to the work undertaken in relation to CSE by the OCC 

• The link between CSE and internal and external child trafficking needs to be better 
understood by agencies and the public 

• The influence of changing culture resulting from the internet and use of social media: the 

93



76 

 

impact of the availability of online pornography on children and young people; the risks 
associated with young people ‘sexting’ each other; and increasing numbers of children being 
exploited through technology, targeted by online abusers and use of blackmail and extortion 
– a national response to these issues is still under development 

 
 

94



77 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

• Have a greater understanding of  the extent of CSE in 

Leicestershire and Rutland 

• Produce a local CSE strategy 

• Raise local awareness of CSE 

• Seek assurance that the risks for young people are being 

addressed 

• Disrupt and Prevent CSE 

• Ensure victims are supported 

• Ensure partnership arrangements are effective and in line 

with latest policy and guidance 

• In 2011/12 there were 93 CSE referrals to Leicestershire County 

Council  although the quality of referrals was variable 

• There was no strategic oversight of CSE and CMHC 

• There was no strategy in place,  

• No routine multi agency operational meetings taking place.  

• The first joint operational meeting with the police identified over 50 

cases of children where CSE and CMHC was a concern. At least 17 of 

these were deemed as high risk by the police.  

• In 2012/13 there were 1100 episodes of children reported missing in 

Leicestershire and 36 in Rutland 

 

LSCB objectives 
What were the issues? 

 

• June 2012 - Following a series of task and finish meetings the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB CSE, Trafficking and 

Missing Sub Group was established  

• January 2013 - launch of the LSCB CSE, Trafficking and Missing 

Strategy and the Missing Protocol. 

• January 2013 - the Missing Multi-agency Operational Meeting 

became joint with the City and Rutland. 

• June 2013  - the LSCB launched the CSE awareness campaign 

in schools with more than 8000 children targeted 

• During 2013/14 more than 500 practitioners from across the 

partnership have been trained  

• Successful CSE prosecutions have been effectively publicised 

in the media, further raising awareness. 

• The LSCB has provided funding to the CSE subgroup (£42K) to 

support the strategy implementation 

• Additional funding of the formation of the co-located multi 

agency team has been agreed and is in the process of 

implementation 

 

• The numbers of referrals fell in 2012/13 to 54, however the 

numbers have increased in 2013/14 to 85 as a direct result of the 

increased levels of awareness amongst practitioners, children and 

communities 

• The school education programme has led to a number of young 

males making direct disclosures of online grooming that are now 

the subject of an ongoing police investigation 

• The quality of referrals has improved  

• The number of missing episodes in 2013/14 was 413 in 

Leicestershire (63% reduction) and 11 in Rutland (70% reduction) 

 

 

 

What has been delivered? 

What has been the Outcome? 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation  

 

9
5



78 

 

 
 
The new ‘Missing Protocol’ covering Leicestershire, Rutland and Leicester City was launched in 
February 2013 and has been in operation throughout 2013/14. 
 
The following table identifies the total numbers of missing persons (1 or more missing reports) and 
how many incidents that they equate for, broken down into children 0-17yrs and adults 18+. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The following table identifies the total number of repeat missing persons (2 or more missing 
reports) and how many incidents that they equate for, broken down into Children 0-17yrs and 
Adults 18 +.  
 

 

  Repeats 

  0-17 Persons 0-17 Incidents 18+ Persons 18+ Incidents 

  13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 

County 105 195 485 1307 28 64 65 239 

 
 
 

This data is only for missing reports. It does NOT include absent reports. The absent reporting 
process was introduced in 2013 and we do not yet have the ability to accurately collate absent 
report data.  
 
From the total number of missing incidents (children and adults), 58% were as the result of repeat 
missing persons equating to 1360 incidents generated by 290 individuals.  
 
From the total number of reported missing children incidents 73% were as the results of a repeat 
missing child equating to 1184 incidents.  
 
From the total number of reported missing adult incidents 25% were as the result of a repeat 
missing adult equating to 176 incidents. 
 
During this time range there have been 23 individuals across the force area that have been 
reported missing on 10 or more occasions. These individuals account for 493 missing reports 
which represent 21% of all reports received by Leicestershire Police. 
 
All of these 23 individuals are children with 6 placed in local authority care homes, 5 in private care 
homes and 7 regularly going missing from their private home address. The remaining 5 individuals 
began going missing from their home address and 3 have since been placed with foster carers and 
2 in local authority homes and have all continued to go missing.  
 
The top 10 missing locations for this year are a mixture of local authority children’s homes (3), 
private children’s homes (3), local mental health units (1) and home addresses of high volume 
repeat missing persons (3).  The below  table shows each of these locations, the number of 

  All Incidents 

  0-17 Persons 0-17 Incidents 18+ Persons 18+ Incidents 

  13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 13/14 12/13 

County 328 586 708 1699 304 649 341 824 

96



79 

 

incidents for each one and the number of individuals reported missing from that location in the 
given time frame. Incidents from these locations account for 19% of all missing reports for the 
financial year 2013/14. 
 
 
Domestic Violence 
 
The Safeguarding Boards work closely with the Community Safety Teams within Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  The Safer Leicestershire Partnership and Safer Rutland Partnership take the lead 
strategic and commissioning role in relation to Domestic Violence with the Safeguarding Boards 
adopting a scrutiny and challenge role.  Effective interfaces between the these partnerships, 
including cross-cutting membership,  helps to ensure that the Boards priority of Domestic Violence 
maintains profile and focus. This in turn strengthens  the approach across all partners to Domestic 
Abuse, supporting the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults.  
 
The outcomes of this focus includes: 
 

• Support for completion of DHRs as part of countywide (&Rutland) agreement. 

• Support and development of the DASH approach to risk assessment  through resourcing 
training for agencies. The Boards funded £20,000 via a reserve account to support the roll 
out of DASH. 

 
Also funded via the reserve account was a pilot project run by Women’s Aid Leicestershire which is 
described under Part A above. 
 
Reports of domestic abuse to the police in Leicestershire increased by 643 (8.8%) to 7,902 
incidents in 2013-14 compared to the previous year.  The proportion of victims assessed by the 
police as at high risk of harm saw a steady increase throughout the year. 
 
Referrals to specialist domestic abuse services increased by around 25% (approx. 230 people) - 
and these services supported over 1000 adults people affected by domestic abuse in 2013/14, 
which is a slight increase on the previous year. 
 
Whilst many factors affect domestic abuse incidence and reporting it is felt that increased 
awareness work and training on domestic abuse during the year may have influenced the increase 
in reports and referrals to support services. 
 
Between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014 of 324 SLF families assessed in that period there were 
199 SLF families who reported DA as a factor (61.4%), 47 of which reported it as a current factor 
(14.5%). 
 
 
Suicide and Self Harm 
 
In July 2013 both Safeguarding Boards, during a joint meeting, received a presentation on the 
Suicide Reduction Strategy developed under the leadership of public health.  The Boards were 
able to scrutinise the proposed strategy from a safeguarding perspective and secure some 
changes better to communicate the link between suicide reduction and safeguarding practice.  It 
was agreed that the Boards would receive regular reports on the effectiveness of the strategy and 
these reports will be made, initially, to the Safeguarding Effectiveness Sub-Group with any matters 
of concern escalated to the Executive or Boards. 

97



80 

 

 
The Board has specifically monitored concerns that were expressed about patient care and safety 
at the Bradgate Unit, including the findings outlined in a published CQC report.  These concerns 
were triggered by an increased number of reported suicides amongst patients at the unit.  Board 
scrutiny included regular reports on the risk summits that were co-ordinated by NHS in response.  
 
In December Leicester Partnership Trust reported that the enforcement notices imposed by the 
CQC had been lifted.  
 
 
PREVENT 
 
A keynote presentation from the Prevent Coordinator for Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) 
was given at the Boards’ Development Day in January 2013 as part of a broader strategy to align 
certain aspects of the Prevent agenda with the work of the safeguarding boards. 
 
Prevent consists of three core areas of focus with regard to violent extremist elements: institutions, 
ideology and individuals. It is the “individuals” strand of the strategy, which offers a tailored support 
system to safeguard those vulnerable to radicalisation, that is being mapped against the local 
safeguarding structures and the LSCBs have been instrumental in helping facilitate this. 
 
The Prevent Coordinator was invited to sit on the VCS LSCB Reference Group which has ensured 
that training and awareness-raising workshops have been able to reach beyond statutory partners 
and reach key voluntary sector roles within the children’s workforce. In addition, local Prevent 
training has been aligned against the new safeguarding competencies framework so that 
attendance supports the required competencies for people in those roles. 
 
Perhaps the most significant development is that Prevent has now been drafted into the LLR LSCB 
policies and procedures to reflect its safeguarding significance and so that referrals from concerned 
members of the public about the welfare of a child in relation to Prevent can legitimately be made 
via the LSCB standard referral routes. This is a significant step forward as some people may still 
have a reluctance to contact the Police in such circumstances; it also means that we can justifiably 
discuss Prevent in the language of safeguarding now that it is so closely aligned with our LSCBs. 
 
Learning disabled adults including those in residential placements 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board exerted a significant focus on the findings of the South 
Gloucestershire SAB Serious Case Review into the abuse of patients at Winterbourne View 
Hospital near Bristol which had been the focus of a BBC Panorama investigation.   
The focus of the Board’s work was to assure itself that local social care and health agencies had 
tested their own provision against the recommendations of the report, identified any areas requiring 
improvement and acted on these.  The Board has received a number of reports informing it of 
progress made with local actions and has been assured that these actions have appropriately 
addressed the learning from the review. 
 
Adults with mental health needs 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board has assumed a specific focus during 2013/14 on the 
implementation of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and associated work relating to Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).  The Board now receives bi-annual reports on this area of work from 
the manager responsible. 

98



81 

 

 
The purpose of the DoLs is to safeguard the rights of vulnerable adults living in care homes or who 
are in hospital, from arbitrary decisions being made to deprive them of their liberty and to provide a 
robust and transparent framework in which to challenge the authorisation of DoLs and this is why it 
has been made a priority for the Board. 
 
It is important to draw attention to the fact that prior to 1st April 2014 the delivery for the DoLs 
service was provided under a Partnership Agreement between the three local authorities in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The service was hosted by Leicestershire County Council. 
As of the 1st April 2014 the partnership separated and Leicester City now run their own DoLS 
service and Leicestershire and Rutland remain in a partnership agreement.  The data included in 
this report represents Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland for the period April 2013 – March 2014 
since the partnership agreement was in place during the period that is the focus of this annual 
report. 
 

Referrals Breakdown 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

44
99

2 12 7

0

200

L City C L County C NHS LC NHS LCR RCC

No. of people subject to a standard authorisation 

as of 31.03.13 (Y4)

L City C

L County C

NHS LC

228 225
89 47

0

500

0 - 90 91 - 180 181 - 270 271 - 365

Length of Authorisation (Y5)

0 - 90

91 - 180

181 - 270

Supervisory 
Body 

Y5 
Q1 

Y5 
Q2 

Y5 
Q3 

Y5 
Q4 

 
Total 

L City C 64 84 87 74 
 

309 

L County C 135 141 163 143 
 

582 

RCC 9 8 5 4 
 

26 

Total 208 233 255 221 917 

99



82 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

270
195

0

500

Authorised Declined

Outcome of Standards required by Urgents (Y5)

Authorised

Declined

254

4 26
2

0

100

200

300

Best interests Eligibility Mental capacity Mental health

Reason for Declining Authorisation (Y5)

Best interests

Eligibility

Mental capacity

Mental health

13 7 12 15
52

554

176

58
2

0
100
200
300
400
500
600

Types of Disability (Y5)

Undeclared

Hearing

Visual

Dual Sensory Loss

Physical: Other

Dementia

Mental Health: Other

Learning Disability

212

648

2 2 25

0

500

1000

Not Known Heterosexual Homosexual Bisexual Undeclared

Sexual Orientation (Y5)

Not Known

Heterosexual

Homosexual

Bisexual

Undeclared

100



83 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

820

13 30 11 11 3 1
0

200
400
600
800

1000

Ethnic Origin (Y5)

White

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups

Asian/Asian or British

Black/Black British

Other Ethnic Origin

Not Stated

189
100

265
335

0

500

18-64 65-74 75-84 85+

Age Group (Y5)

18-64

65-74

75-84

85+

397
492

0

200

400

600

Male Female

Gender (Y5)

Male

Female

101



84 

 

 
 
Some key points arising from analysis of the data. 
 
Since the safeguards were first introduced there has been a year-on-year increase in the number 
of applications for DoLS.  This reflects the proactive approach taken since 2009 to raise awareness 
of the process. The general indicator, which has been validated by the Department of Health, is 
that higher referral figures are an indicator that the legislation is understood. 
 
Leicestershire has had the highest DoLS referral rate in the country. 
 
Within the year covered by this Annual Report the Supreme Court handed down its judgement in 
the case of ‘P’ v Cheshire West and Chester Council which has had a significant impact on the 
number of DoLS referrals nationally.  Initial indications are that the number of referrals has increase 
in Leicestershire and Rutland by approximately 25% - which is lower than in many other areas 
most probably explained by the higher referral rate preceding the judgement. 
 
Approximately 60% of current referrals are repeat referrals.  It is understood that the use of short 
authorisation may account for the higher than average referral rate. 
 
Careful monitoring is undertaken to monitor which care homes and hospitals request DoLS 
assessments to understand its application in key settings. 
 
Basic training in relation to MCA and DoLS has been provided through the Leicestershire Social 
Care Development Group (LSCDG) primarily to care providers but this is accessible to all front-line 
professionals.  Agencies also organise their own MCA training. 
 
Key issues for the future include: 
 

• The need to address variations in awareness and ownership of MCA and DoLS practice 
across all agencies and care providers – particularly where there is evidence that providers 
have made no referrals; 

• Monitoring and responding to the impact of the Supreme Court Judgement particularly in 
term of the impact of increased rates of referrals on resources on the DoLS team; 

• Securing greater consistency in MCA and DoLS training particularly where this is 
commissioned and delivered in individual agencies; 

• Ensuring there are sufficient numbers of Best Interest Assessors given the increasing 
workloads arising from greater number of referrals; 

• Ensuring Best Interest Assessors are kept updated on changing legislation, case law, policy 
and practice guidance. 

 
NHS England Leicestershire and Lincolnshire Area Team has secured funding to deliver an 
enhanced cross-agency programme to support improved delivery of MCA and DoLS and this 

316

580

21

0

500

1000

L City C L County C RCC

Number of Referrals (Y5)

L City C

L County C

RCC

102



85 

 

programme is a key element of the Safeguarding Adults Board focus in 2014/15. 
 
Think Family – Whole Family Multi-Agency Training and Intervention Programme for Families 
Affected by Parental Mental Health 
 
The LRLSCB and LRSAB has received regular reports on this research project that is being 
delivered by Leicestershire Partnership NHS Teaching Trust (LPT), De Montfort University and 
Meridien Family Programme.  The project has focused on embedding a ‘whole family’ approach to 
the delivery of services to adults with mental health needs who are also parents. 
 
Initial findings from the project have indicated positive outcomes and the Boards are now promoting 
wider agency engagement to build on this success. 
 
Older people particularly those in hospital and those living in residential care or nursing 
homes 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board has similarly remained sighted on local responses to key national 
reports relating to the safeguarding of vulnerable people particularly older people. 
 
The Board received two reports relating to ’Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS: 
Accountability and Assurance Framework’ and ‘Care and Corporate Neglect: Corporate 
Accountability and Adult Safeguarding’ with a focus on identifying issues for local action.  
 
The Board has also scrutinised local responses to the Francis Inquiry into events at Mid 
Staffordshire NHs Foundation Trust.   An overview of the 290 recommendations was provided and 
local agencies have provided assurances that they have addressed those issues that required 
responses locally.   
 
The Board heard that there were plans to strengthen work in the following standards: 

• Complaints  

• Duty of candour / Workforce indicators 

• Serious Incidents  

• Patient Experience  

• Information sharing 

• Reviewing the  structure and focus of Quality Visits (announced vs unannounced)  
 
The Board receives regular reporting on progress with these plans. 
 
There were also plans to review the existing collaborative arrangements across LLR including how 
information and data is shared. The way that concerns are reported is under scrutiny during 
2014/15 
 
Learning and Improvement  / A workforce fit for purpose 
 
The Training Sub Group has continued to work effectively during 2013/14.  Meetings have been 
held at strategic points during the year to address implementation and delivery of the programme of 
events, along with development of the programme for 2014/15.  Meetings have been well attended, 
by committed people, who have ensured that agreed actions have been taken between meetings. 
 
Particular recognition should be given to the excellent work of the Project Development Officer and 
the Training Coordinator who together have made a major contribution to the development, 

103



86 

 

administration and delivery of an continuously improving programme; a programme which, in 
2013/14, enabled 1,174 people to receive training (641 in 2012/13) from 52 events (30 in 2012/13). 
 
A programme is in place for 2014/15, to address the priorities set by the LSCB.  This programme 
will be developed further during the year and a number of commitments have been given already.  
Two main ‘gaps’ have been identified – ‘Effective Partnership Working’ and ‘Safeguarding Babies ‘ 
– both of which have strategies in development to ensure that the training requirements will be met 
during the year. 

 

The following are quotes from front line professionals who are feeding back what they have learnt 
after training: 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

The continued growth of the programme, coupled with the robustness of the coordination and 
monitoring processes has resulted in a substantial growth in data; enabling a thorough analysis 
and confirming trends in the learning and development of the workforce. This data has continued to 
highlight the benefits of the inter-agency training and the key strengths of the programme.  

 

The key findings in the annual report highlight that: 

 

• 20 different themes have been available on the programme this year with a total of 52 
courses delivered.  

• A total of 1174 individuals have been trained between April 2013 and March 2014. 

• The reasons for No Shows and Cancellations confirm the prevalence of workplace (and 
personal) issues which impact upon learning and development.  

• A growth in data has confirmed patterns in attendance (No Shows and Cancellations), 
learning, development and work based practices.  

• The 3 Month Follow-Up Evaluation confirms longer term development and the wider benefits 
of inter-agency training. 

• The training coordination and evaluation processes remain both crucial and central to the 
overall functioning of the programme; offering a robust method of capturing the effectiveness 
of the training.  

• Similarities in data and evaluation findings have been observed with Year 1, offering 
confidence in the analysis undertaken. 

Safeguarding Learning and Development for Schools is provided by Leicestershire CYPS 
Safeguarding Development Unit.  The table below shows how many courses and the topic that 

‘Enjoyed working in a 
multiagency approach with 

different services involved in 
putting the child in the 

centre of focus’. (Participant 
from Effective Partnership 

Working session) 

‘I feel more confident 
to make a decision 
about a referral/ 
course of action’. 
(Participant from 

Designated 
Safeguarding Officer 

session) 

‘I'll be able to use 
skills learnt with 

future partnership 
working’. (Participant 

from Effective 
Partnership Working 

session) 

 

‘Very informative and 
interesting learnt a lot 

to use in my work 
practice’. (Participant 

from Child Sexual 

Exploitation session) 

104



87 

 

were conducted in in Leicestershire and Rutland.   

 

Course P1 April – 
June 

P2 July - 
September 

P3 October - 
December 

P4 January - 
March 

Total  

Designated Senior 
Person for Child 
Protection (inc. 
DSP Refresher) 

118 71 148 171 508 

Safer Recruitment 60 21 49 57 187 

Allegations 21 13 58 11 103 

Bespoke Training 33 128 120 28 309 

Whole School 333 
(8 

sessions) 

1509 
(30 sessions) 

366 
(11 sessions) 

908 
(21 sessions) 

3116 
(70 sessions) 

E-Safety 95 150 20 50 315 

Total 660 1892 761 1225 4538 

 
 
A major development to secure more rigorous and robust evaluation of the impact of training on 
service delivery and outcomes for children and young people has been the formulation of our 
Safeguarding Competence Framework.  This was launched on 1st April 2014 and will create a 
stronger framework within which the two Boards can evaluate the impact. 
 
Safeguarding Adults Learning and Development  
 
The strategy adopted in Leicestershire and Rutland is to support and encourage providers of 
services to develop safeguarding learning within their organisations. To support this there has been 
a revision and re-launch of the Competency Framework and development of supporting guidance 
and tools. 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Competency Framework is for use by all staff within the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland workforce to support individuals and organisations to undertake their 
safeguarding roles and responsibilities in a confident and competent manner. There is an 
expectation that organisations will ensure that all staff providing a service know how to respond to 
concerns in line with local and national agendas. 
 
Some individuals will work in settings which provide both universal and specialist services for 
adults and children. It is the responsibility of the organisation to determine the knowledge and 
learning that is required. 
  
The benefits of a Competency Framework are that it: 
 

• Provides guidance on how to identify the appropriate competency group for members of the 
workforce who have contact with adults at risk; 

 

• Outlines the minimum competency for staff and volunteers in relation to their role in the 
safeguarding adults process; 

 

• Provides evidence for inspection/registration i.e. CQC OFSTED  
 

105



88 

 

• Provides suggestions regarding a range of training, learning and development methods and 
opportunities through which the competencies may be achieved; 

 

• Suggests a format for recording this evidence; 
 

• ProvidesBest Practice Guidance – which assists with commissioning learning events and 
evaluating. 

 
The Competency framework went live on 1st April 2014 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board continues to commission two courses: Investigators and Managing 
the Process both are delivered by the Ann Craft Trust. 
 
 
Both courses have received excellent evaluations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Safeguarding Adults Trainers Network 
 
This Network supports those who develop and deliver Safeguarding Learning, including those who 
have attended the Training for Trainers courses run by the Leicestershire Social Care Development 
Group (LSCDG)  
 
The Network has met four times this year with between 35 and 40 attendees from a variety of 
providers in the statutory independent and voluntary sector. 
 
Throughout the year we have briefed participants on issues in relation to legislation, historical 
abuse, learning from Serious Case Review, sharing resources, finding solutions to blocks to 
learning and the development and implementation of the revised competency framework and Best 
Practice Guidance. 
 
The Trainers Network also received input regarding the new children’s safeguarding competency 
framework. A joint network event is planned for the summer of 2014. 
 

Insightful couple 

of days – 

Registered 

Manager 
 

Multi agency working 

is key to good 

outcomes – Police 

Officer 

All my concerns 

about 

investigation and 

planning have 

been answered – 

Social Worker 

106



89 

 

1
0
7



90 

 

 
 

• Ensure that sufficient, high-quality multi-agency training is 

available, its effectiveness is evaluated and the impact on 

improving front-line practice and the experiences of 

children, young people, families and carers is evident. 

• All LSCB members support access to the training 

opportunities in their agencies.  

 

• The safeguarding training had not been reviewed for a number 

of years 

• The approach being used did not have a clear link between 

priority areas for learning and the training programme 

• The training programme did not have a set of standards that 

could be used to measure quality and effectiveness 

• Single agency training was inconsistent and lacked a 

competency framework 

LSCB objectives What were the issues? 

 

• New minimum training standards have been introduced 

alongside a quality assurance process 

• The themes for the training plan are triggered by Board 

Priorities including findings from local and national SCR’s 

– themes have included: Domestic Violence, CSE, risks 

associated with digital technology 

• New training strategy in place for 2014 

• New competency frame work in place for 2014 

• The partnership jointly funds a training coordinator role 

for LLR 

• There has been a 83% increase in the number of people 

accessing multiagency training in 2013/14 compared to 

the previous year 

• The ‘no show’ rate has reduced from 16% to 10% 

• Nearly 300 people attended the training and 

development strategy briefing event 

 

• The post training evaluation shows that Knowledge, skills 

and confidence have demonstrated sustained improvement 

compared to pre-training. 

• Frontline practitioners across the partnership are able to 

articulate examples of how the training they have received 

has had a positive impact on their practice and the way in 

which they have safeguarding a child 

• There is clear evidence that following training there has 

been an increase in the number of CSE referrals 

• The new minimum standards and quality assurance process 

is driving up quality and improving the effectiveness of 

training 

• The competency framework has provided a platfoem to 

ensure that multi agency and single agency training is 

relevant and effective 

 

What has been delivered? 
What are the Outcomes? 

 

Multi – Agency Training Programme 
1
0
8



91 

 

 
Caseload monitoring 
 
A key element of our work in testing that the workforce is fit for purpose has been to monitor 
caseloads.  At present this has focused on social work case loads but work is being undertaken in 
our QAPM framework to extend our coverage to other agencies.  The data collected for 2013/14 is 
set out below. 
 
Rutland Caseloads 
 
Average caseloads per social worker have remained steady throughout the year.  There is 
currently one agency worker within Team 11 that will hold a caseload, but is currently covering the 
caseload of social worker on sick leave. 
 
National data – Number of Children in Need per children’s social worker 
Rutland: 14 
East Midlands: 22  
National average: 17 
SN average: 15.7 
 
 

Team  

No. of 
SW's in 
Team 

Total 
Team 
Caseloa
d 

Avg. 
Caselo
ad per 
SW 

Lowes
t 
Casel
oad 

Highest 
Caseloa
d 

Duty Team 12  3 69 17.3 16 18 

Long Term 
Team 11 6 157 20.3 18 25 

Disability 
Team 3 1 31 15 n/a n/a 

All Teams 10 257 17.5 16 25 
 

 

Leicestershire Caseloads 

Leicestershire: 18 

East Midlands: 22 

National average: 17  

SN average: 18.10 

 
 

Team  No. of staff 
in team 
used in 
this report 

Total 
cases in 
team as at 
end Mar 14 

Averag
e case 
load 

Highest 
case 
load 

Lowest case 
load 

Charn MM CiC - 
L'boro 

13 167 12.8 20 3 

Charn MM CPS - 
East 

8 111 13.9 20 2 

109



92 

 

Team  No. of staff 
in team 
used in 
this report 

Total 
cases in 
team as at 
end Mar 14 

Averag
e case 
load 

Highest 
case 
load 

Lowest case 
load 

Charn MM CPS - 
Melton 

6 116 19.3 25 6 

Charn MM CPS - 
West 

7 116 16.6 25 2 

Charn MM FAS 15 155 10.3 15 1 

Charn MM St Fam's 13 146 11.2 22 2 

DCS - OT 7 146 20.9 43 1 

DCS - SW 14 190 13.6 25 1 

NWL HB CiC 15 154 10.3 19 1 

NWL HB CPS - A 5 102 20.1 27 17 

NWL HB CPS - B 5 93 18.6 27 12 

NWL HB CPS - 
Hinckley 

8 119 14.9 26 1 

NWL HB FAS - 
C'ville 

8 139 17.4 30 1 

NWL HB FAS - 
Hinckley 

7 126 18 29 5 

NWL HB St Fam's 12 115 9.6 16 2 

OWB MH - CiC 13 140 10.8 25 1 

OWB MH - FAS 10 177 17.7 28 11 

OWB MH CPS 12 200 16.7 24 1 

OWB MH St Fam's 13 129 9.9 30 1  

 
Allegations against staff – the LADO Report 
 
A further dimension of our work to secure a workforce fit for purpose is the monitoring of allegations 
against staff and the work of the LADO.  Headlines from the annual reports of the LADOs in both 
Leicestershire and Rutland are set out below. 
 
Leicestershire 
 
The table below shows the number of referrals received divided into professional role and then 
divided into whether the referral led to a Strategy Meeting.  Percentages for the previous year 
appear are included for comparison purposes.   
 

Role 

Total Referrals 

 

Strategy Meeting held 

Yes No 

Referrals 
2013-14 

% of 
Referrals 
2013-14 

%  of 
Referrals  
2012-13 

Number 
of 

people % 

Number 
of 

people 

Teacher 67 25 20 37 55 29 

110



93 

 

Child Minder 31 11 9 15 48 15 

Foster Carer 25 9 7 18 72 5 

School Support Staff 18 7 9 3 17 14 

Residential Social 
Worker 16 6 3 8 50 7 

Support Worker 8 3 9 7 88 1 

Education - Non 
Teaching Staff 8 3 9 3 38 5 

Sports Coach 9 3 0 7 78 2 

Voluntary 7 3 3 5 71 2 

Scout Leader 6 2  5 83 1 

Police Officer 6 2 2 2 33 4 

Religious Leader 6 2 1 1 17 5 

Head teacher 5 2 2 2 40 3 

Social Worker 5 2 3 5 100  

Bus Driver 5 2 1 4 80 1 

Taxi Driver or Escort 5 2 2 4 80 1 

Learning Support 
Assistant 4 1 1 3 75 1 

YOS Worker 3 1  1 33 2 

Private Tuition 4 1  3 75 1 

Youth club staff 
member 2 1   0 2 

Probation Officer 2 1   0 2 

Governor 2 1  1 50 1 

Choir Master 1 0   0  

Health Care Worker 1 0   0 1 

Home Care Worker 1 0  1 100  

Other 21 8 13 3 14 16 

(blank) 5 2 7 2 40 3 

Grand Totals 273   140  124 

 

The decision regarding holding a strategy meeting had not been made in 9 cases at the time of 
data collection. 
 
Where gaps are present, the gaps represent professions for which data was not available from 
previous years 
 
In analysing the figures above it is extremely clear that more referrals relate to teachers than any 
other profession, with 25% of referrals; however 45% of these did not result in a Strategy Meeting.  
Conversely, while foster carers are the subject of 9% of referrals, a Strategy Meeting was held in 
72% of these cases.  These figures indicate the consideration that is given to cases and the 
conclusion that an unsuitable foster carer can cause much more harm to a child than most other 
‘workers’ because of the amount of time, care and opportunity to harm that is ‘available’.  Having 
noted the above, only 1 carer was referred to the DBS.  The carer worked for an Independent 
Fostering Agency.  No Local Authority carers were referred to the DBS during the period under 
consideration. 
 

111



94 

 

Nature of concerns that have led to allegations 
 

 
Nature of Concern 

2013-14 2012-13 
Total % Total % 

Emotional 15 5 14 5 
Inappropriate Conduct 62 23 86 28 
Neglect 15 5 19 6 
Physical 105 38 127 41 
Sexual 67 24 41 13 
(blank) 10 4 22 7 
Grand Total 274  309  

 
While the figures for this year and last year are generally similar, number of allegations relating to 
sexual abuse has shown a significant increase.  The reasons for this are unclear as there has been 
no recognisable changes in criteria or practice.  This will be monitored and studied as more data is 
collected. 
 
Review Strategy Meetings 
 
In order to resolve allegations in a timely manner, it is desirable not to hold unnecessary review 
meetings.  An outline of the number of meetings being held in order to resolve allegations is shown 
below.   
 

Number of meetings 1 2 3 4 5 6 or more 

Meetings held per allegation 73 36 19 8 2 2 

 
Over half of allegations are resolved by the first strategy meeting, with less than 10% of allegations 
requiring more than three meetings. 
 
The possible outcomes of Strategy Meetings and the number of times they were used are 
represented below.  The figures relate to individual people, although some people were the subject 
of more than one allegation and so appear more than once.  It should also be noted that more than 
one outcome can result from a single allegation.  
 

Comparison of the use of the 
outcomes available compared over 

two years 

2013/2014 

  

2012/2013  

Strategy 
Meeting 

held 

Strategy 
Meeting 

held Variation 
in % Yes % Yes % 

Caution 2 1.4 3 2.0 -0.6 

Cessation of use 0 0.0 1 0.7 -0.7 

Criminal Investigation 17 12.1 3 2.0 10.1 

Disciplinary Procedures 22 15.7 7 4.7 11.0 

Dismissal 9 6.4 5 3.4 3.1 

Inclusion on barred/restricted list 4 2.9 2 1.3 1.5 

Malicious 1 0.7 3 2.0 -1.3 

NFA after initial consideration 0 0.0 4 2.7 -2.7 

Referral to ISA 22 15.7 9 6.0 9.7 

Referral to regulatory body 5 3.6 4 2.7 0.9 

Substantiated 45 32.1 31 20.8 11.3 

112



95 

 

Suspension 12 8.6 2 1.3 7.2 

Unfounded 30 21.4 15 10.1 11.4 

Unsubstantiated 29 20.7 56 37.6 -16.9 

Allegation reported to Police 0 0.0 1 0.7 -0.7 

No Further Action 0 0.0 1 0.7 -0.7 

Strategy Discussion Completed 13 9.3 3 2.0 7.3 

Strategy Discussion Completed - NFA 25 17.9 14 9.4 8.5 

Strategy Discussion for Adult to be 
Reconvened 120 85.7 134 89.9 -4.2 

Strategy Discussion for Adult to be 
Reconvened (later Cancelled) 1 0.7 0 0.0 0.7 

           

Number of relevant people  140   149   

 
While most of the figures relating to outcomes in the last two years are remarkably similar, 
significant differences can be seen in the following outcomes;  
 
Unsubstantiated is used in 16.9% fewer cases than last year.  This is likely to be a result of 
Strategy Meetings only being convened when a meeting is necessary i.e. when the allegation is 
eventually substantiated.  Correspondingly, the outcome of ‘Substantiated’ is used 11.3% more 
than last year. 
 
This year disciplinary procedures were noted as an outcome in 11% more cases than in the 
previous year.  The cause of this is not clear. 
 
Unfounded is used 11.4% more in 2013-14.  The cause of this is unclear and will continue to be 
monitored.  
  
If the outcomes that indicate concerns (substantiated, disciplinary procedures, etc.) are added 
together and the outcomes that indicate no concerns (unfounded, unsubstantiated, etc.) are added 
together the following statistics result: 
 

2013/2014 2012/2013 

Concerning 
Not 

concerning Concerning 
Not 

concerning 

138 85 67 93 

 
It should be noted that this relates to the number of outcomes and not the number of people 
involved.  These figures indicate that while extremely similar numbers of people have been the 
subject of Strategy Meetings, those being taken through the process this year much more likely to 
be seen as adults with some level of justifiable concern attributed to them.  An alternative 
explanation for these results would be that the allegations process has become more ‘punitive’ 
(likely to result in an outcome that indicates a concern), however the increased use of the outcome 
‘Unfounded’ would contradict this.  Additionally, other agencies involved in the process should 
serve to ‘temper’ any significant shift in threshold for the various outcomes. 
 
The agreed action plan for the LADO service for 2014/15 is as follows: 
 

ACTION WHEN 

  

113



96 

 

 Consider developments needed 
within Frameworki including: 

  

• Separating Strategy Discussions 
and Strategy Meetings to assist in 
reporting 

 

• Continue to develop the working 
relationship with the Police 
including the use of the Universal 
Referral Form  

 

• Continue to monitor trends in 
workload to allow for improved 
work planning 

 

• Develop closure letters and 
feedback for ‘complainants’ 

 

• Continue to be involved in training 
for Head Teachers 

 

• Consider any opportunities to offer 
training to external agencies, in 
particular residential settings 

 

• Develop a ‘toolkit’ for 
organisations to use to 
encapsulate their own 
expectations of staff behaviour 

 
 

• Establish East Midlands Regional 
LADO meetings 

 
 
 
 
September 2014 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
Ongoing, via 
consistent use of 
reports 
 
By Feb 2015 
 
 
Monthly training 
events 
 
 
Ongoing dependent 
on workload 
 
 
By end of December 
2014 
 
 
 
 
By March 2014 

     
Rutland 
 
There were 17 referrals in 2013/14 compared with 15 in 2012/13.  Two of the 17 referrals did not 
meet the LADO criteria (one was not working with children and one was a conduct issue) and one 
was investigated by a neighbouring local authority.  Of the remaining 14 allegations, 7 were 
substantiated, 4 were unsubstantiated, 2 were unfounded and one is still to be resolved.   The 
majority of referrals related to educational establishments, with a small number of referrals in 
relation to sports coaches.  A new LADO protocol has been written to build on the LSCB 
procedures and set out clear guidance for all agencies involved in the LADO process. 
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 
Priorities 2- 5 of the new Business Plan for the two Boards set out the priority actions identified for 
next year across the areas covered in last year’s Business Plan Priority B.  The plans for each area 
of work are set out below. 
  

114



97 

 

•Evidence of front line 
practitioner voice documented 

in audits and QA processes

•Safeguarding Matters and 
Website to gather feedback

•Evidence that the voice of 
children and young people is 
present in investigations, 
assessment, intervention, 
planning and reviews: through 
audit, feedback, children's rights 
and participation workers

•Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•CSE Subgroup report

•See table below for examples of 
quantitative data for this 
priority

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIV
E EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMEN
T WITH 

FRONT LINE 
STAFF

ENGAGEMEN
T WITH 
SERVICE 
USERS

 

Priority 2a: To be assured that children and young people are safe 

• To be assured of the quality and impact/effectiveness of services across the ‘child’s journey’ 

• To be assured that thresholds for safeguarding children are clear, understood and consistently applied 

• To be assured that the impact of universal and early help intervention reduces the numbers of children 
requiring protection and care 

• To be assured that the quality and impact of single and multi-agency children protection practice is 
effective 

• To be assured that children at high risk/vulnerable are being identified (e.g. Child Sexual Exploitation, 
Children Missing from home and care, bullying) and risks managed to secure a positive outcome 

 

• Contacts recorded by Duty/ First Response 

• Number of Early Help / CAF referrals made by different agencies 

• Number of referrals to Supporting Leicestershire Families / Changing Lives Rutland 

• Referrals recorded by Duty/ First Response 

• Sources and outcomes of referrals and  Re-referrals 

• Number of referrals and assessments where [domestic abuse] [CSE] [children missing] 
[bullying] [FGM] [priority] is a factor 

• Factors identified at referral and assessment 

• Number of children reported to police as missing from home (>24 hours) 

• Number of offences recorded by police where a parent or carer wilfully assaults, ill-treats, 
neglects, abandons or exposes a child <16 in a manner likely to cause the unnecessary 
suffering or injury to health  

• Number of internet safety incidents where the police were involved 

• Sexual offences recorded by the police including rape, sexual assault, child grooming and 
offences related to indecent images of children 

• Number of first time entrants into the youth justice system 

• The rate of A&E attendance caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries to children and 
young people aged 0-17 (N6) 

• Timeliness of assessments 

• Strategy Discussions 

• Number of Child protection enquiries 

• Child protection conferences 

• Number /% of children who have been subject of a child protection plan for more than 2 years or 
for a 2nd or subsequent time 

• Child protection plans by category of abuse 

• Children who are subject of a child protection plan per 10,000 population aged under 18 

115



98 

 

 

Priority 2b - To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe 

• To be assured of the quality and impact/effectiveness of services to adults in need of safeguarding 

• To be assured that thresholds for safeguarding adults are clear, understood and consistently applied. 

• To be assured that the impact of universal and early help intervention reduces the numbers of adults 
requiring protection and care.  

• To be assured that the quality and impact of single and multi-agency adult protection practice is effective. 

• To be assured that adults at high risk/vulnerable are being identified (e.g. mental health, domestic 
violence) and risks managed to secure a positive outcome 

 
• Number of Referrals to Social Care 

• Primary Client Type 

• Outcome of referrals 

• Repeat Referrals 

• Primary Age Group 

• Source of Referral 

• Type of Abuse 

• Offenders discussed at MAPPA that have an assessed learning disability or allocated 
CPN 

• Protection Plans 

• Deprivation of Liberty (DoLs) information 

• Numbers of vulnerable adult referrals that do not have a crime report attached 

• Numbers of adult referrals that do have a crime attached 

• Multi-agency investigations in the community 

•Evidence of front line 
practitioner voice documented 

in audits and QA processes

•Safeguarding Matters and 

Website to gather feedback

•Evidence that the voice of adults 
in need of safeguarding is present 
in investigations, assessment, 
intervention, planning and reviews: 
through audit and feedback

•Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•See table below for examples of 
quantitative data for this priority

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

116



99 

 

• Total number of referrals processed by the police 

• Multi-agency investigations in registered settings 

 

 

Priority 2C – To be assured that services for children, services for adults and services for families are 
effectively coordinated to ensure children and adults are safe 

 

• To be assured that young people who are receiving services from children’s services successfully transition 
to adult services where necessary 

• That adults who are assessed as posing risk to children, young people and adults in need of safeguarding 
(such as MAPPA and MARAC) are effectively managed  and that risk to others is mitigated 

• To be assured that services that work with “whole” families are effectively coordinated – e.g. Supporting 
Leicestershire Families and Changing Lives Rutland and secure added value in ensuring and co-ordinating 
effective safeguarding. 

 

117



100 

 

 

 

Priority 3a: To be assured of the quality of care for any child not living with a parent or someone 
with parental responsibility 

• To be assured that partner agencies are fulfilling their responsibilities as corporate parents (e.g. sufficient 
local accommodation) 

• To be assured that children/young people who are privately fostered are identified and supported 

• To ensure awareness is raised of the notification requirements for private fostering, and the effectiveness of 
this is monitored  

• To be assured that children and young people placed in L&R from other areas are safe 

• To establish and maintain robust interface with other LAC bodies (charity, respective roles and 
responsibilities) 

•Evidence of front line 
practitioner voice documented 

in audits and QA processes

•Safeguarding Matters and 
Website to gather feedback

•Evidence that the voices of children, 
young people and adults in need of 
safeguarding are present in 
investigations, assessment, intervention, 
planning and reviews:  through audit and 
feedback and direct discussion with 
people involved and via, for example, 
participation workers and children's 
rights officers and Healthwatch

•Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•Number of referrals, assessments and 
outcomes from Supporting 
Leicsetershire Families and Changing 
Lives Rutland

•Information from MARAC and MAPPA

•Information from Children's Transitions 
(Disabled) Team and Adult  Social Care 
(Promoting Independence) 

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

118



101 

 

 

• Number of referrals re Private Fostering 

• Number of children supported in Private Fostering 

• The number of Looked after Children 

• Number of children referred as moving into Leicestershire or Rutland from another LA 

• The number of Looked after Children by placement type 

• Stability of placements of LAC: length of placement 

• The number of Looked after Children who are placed out of county 

• LAC cases which were reviewed within required timescales 

• Number and proportion of LAC with three or more placements 

• Number of Looked after Children missing from care 

• The number of Looked after Children achieving health and education outcomes 

• Care leaver information 

 

Priority 3b: To be assured of the quality of care for any adult supported by registered providers 

• To be assured that adults living with or receiving services from registered providers are safe 

• To be assured that providers are effective in carrying out their safeguarding responsibilities and that as a 
result service users are safe. 

• To be assured that safeguarding roles and responsibilities and outcomes are explicit in commissioning, 
contracting, monitoring and review of services 

 

•Evidence of front line practitioner 
voice documented in audits and QA 

processes

•Voice of carers and residential staff 
captured

•Safeguarding Matters and Website to 
gather feedback

•Evidence that the voices of children and 
young people are present in assessment, 
intervention, planning and reviews: 
through direct discussion with people 
involved and via, for example, 
participation workers and children's rights 
officers

•Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•See table below for examples of 
quantitative data for this priority

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

119



102 

 

 

•Evidence of front line practitioner 
voice documented in audits and QA 

processes

•Whistleblowing at locations under 
H&SCA

•Safeguarding Matters and Website to 
gather feedback

•Evidence that the voices of adults in 
need of safeguarding supported by 
registered providers are present in 
investigations, assessment, 
intervention, planning and reviews:  
through audit and direct discussion with 
people involved and via, for example, 
Healthwatch

•Inspections undertaken at locations 
under H&SCA

•Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•Safeguarding alerts received by adult 
Social Care under H&SCA about adults 
supported by registered providers

•Safeguarding alerts received by CQC 
under H&SCA

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

120



103 

 

Priority 4: To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is raising service quality and 
outcomes for children, young people and adults  

• Apply the Learning & Development Framework and ensure its effectiveness (including national SCRs)  

• Ensure learning from national and regional SCRs and other learning processes is incorporated into the 
practice of partner agencies and the partnership 

• Ensure the effectiveness of CDOP for L&R and that lessons from child deaths in L&R are understood and 
consistently acted upon 

• Implement the PMF and ensure its effectiveness 

• To ensure that policies and procedures are ‘fit for purpose’ 

 

  

•Evidence of front line practitioner voice 
documented in audits and QA processes, 

esp for audits to check embedding of 
learning

•Feedback from learing events

•Safeguarding Matters and Website to 
gather feedback

•Adult's and Childrens' Trainer's Networks

•Children's Training Subgroup

•Evidence that the voice of children and 
adults in need of safeguarding are present in 
learing processes (SCRs, SILPs etc)

•Feedback from families re CDOP?

•Evidence that the voices of children, young 
people and adults in need of safeguarding 
are present through direct discussion with 
people involved and via, for example, 
participation workers and children's rights 
officers and Healthwatch

•Number of Learning Process Reports 
(SCRs, SILPs etc) completed

•SCR Subgroup reports

•Procedures Subgroups reports

•Feedback from Learning Events

•Inspection Reports

• Thematic Reports and Audits

•Number of potential cases discussed at SCR 
Subgroups

•Number of cases discussed at CDOP

•Number of deaths notified to CDOP

•Number of completed cases signed off by 
CDOP

•number of SCRs associated with CDOP 

•% of recommendations from learning 
processes implemented and to timescale

•Number of SCRs, SILPs or other learning 
processes conducted

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

121



104 

 

 

Priority 5: To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose  

• To be assured that the workforce is competent as measured by the Competency Frameworks through quality 
assurance 

• To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of training and development in terms of the impact on the quality 
of safeguarding practice and outcomes for service users 

• To be assured that the workforce is safely recruited 

• To be assured that allegations made against people who work with children and adults are dealt with 
effectively 

• To hear the voice of practitioners 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

•Staff questionnaires and surveys

•Staff feedback re learning and 
development

•Staff retention and workforce reports

•Safeguarding Matters and Website to 
gather feedback

•Whistleblowing

•Evidence that the voice of children and 
adults in need of safeguarding is present in 
learning and development programme and 
events

•Children, young people and adults in need 
of safeguarding report that workforce is fit 
for purpose - monitored through complaints, 
and other means such as direct discussion 
with people involved and via, for example, 
participation workers and children's rights 
officers and Healthwatch

•LLR Inter-Agency Safeguarding Training 
Report

•Evidence that safeguarding learning & 
development programme is making a 

positive difference to the outcomes for 
children and adults through:

• Single Agency case file audits

•Multi-Agency Case File Audits

• Thematic Reports

•Inspection Reports

•Safe Recruitment audits

•LLR Inter-Agency Safeguarding Training 
quantitative data- Attendance and 
participation by courses delivered; 
Knowledge, skills and confidence; Key 
actions identified by participants

•Number of staff trained to level 1/2

•Number of Independent Sector Staff in 
receipt of Alerters/Referers Training

•number of complaints received

•Number of CP Conference Appeals

•Allegations data from LADO

QUANTITATIVE 
DATA

QUALITATIVE 
EVIDENCE

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH FRONT 
LINE STAFF

ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICE 

USERS

122



105 

 

 IMPROVING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT  
The third priority in the Boards’ Business Plan for 2013/14 was to improve the effectiveness of 
Communication and Engagement. 

What we planned to do. 
 
Develop an effective communication strategy to raise the profile of the board and its work and to 
secure learning and improvement in safeguarding practice across Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
Develop a robust media strategy that was both proactive but also responsive and effective when 
serious incidents occur. 
 
Develop an effective engagement strategy so that children, young people and vulnerable adults 
better engage with the Board and impact on the planning, delivery, monitoring and evaluation of 
services. 
 
Develop effective engagement with front-line staff from across partner agencies so that they are 
able to impact on the planning, delivery, monitoring and evaluation of services. 
 
What we did. 
 
The Communications and Engagement Sub-Group formulated a Communications Strategy and 
Engagement Strategy which were agreed by the Boards in 2012/13, these have continued to be 
implemented with any communication needs being identified at each sub group meeting.  
 
‘Safeguarding Matters’, the Boards’ quarterly newsletter was launched in February 2013. During 
2013/14 we have issued four editions including a special for schools.  ‘Safeguarding Matters’ is 
now issued electronically as well as in hard copy  The current distribution list for safeguarding 
matters is now over 240 individuals or teams and growing. The business office receives requests 
for hard copies which are also circulated via the Board and Subgroup meetings.  
 
Future distribution emails will only contain the webpage link to encourage people to visit the site 
and to view other publications such as the Serious Case Review special edition.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

123



106 

 

 

• As part of the learning and improvement framework the 

LSCB aims to ensure that learning and information is 

effectively communicated across the partnership 

• Communication methods meet the needs of children, 

families and adults. 

• Provide an effective communication platform for 

professionals, member’s of the community and board 

member’s to access up to date information and policies 

• The old website did not reflect the LSCB and SAB governance 

structure and failed to capitalise on the combined strength of 

the collective Boards. Professionals and members of the public 

found it difficult to navigate and use. 

• Lessons and information from key thematic priorities such as 

CSE, private fostering needed to be effectively communicated. 

• Safeguarding Matters publication needed to refresh and 

respond to feedback from partners 

• A coherent communications strategy needed to be developed 

• Some existing leaflets did not reflect findings from SCR’s 

 

LSCB objectives What were the issues? 
 

• New combined LSCB and SAB website went live in February 2014 

• All leaflets have either been revised or in the process of revision 

• Safeguarding Matters publication has been refreshed and 

‘special editions’ responding to specific SCR findings 

• Combined Adults and Children learning events brought over 200 

practitioners and managers tighter to discuss lessons from SCR’s 

and the impact on practice. 

• There has been active consultation with partners regarding the 

content of information leaflets. 

 

• In April 2014 the website recorded more than 9500 ‘hits’ this 

was a 37% increase from the previous month 

• There has been a 30% increase in the number of times the 

website has been used to access information on SCRs 

• The learning event and subsequent issue of Safeguarding 

Matters has received recognition from ‘Community Care’ and 

authorities across the country wanting to adopt the ’20 things 

to consider’ prompts 

What has been delivered? What has been the outcome? 
 

Communicating Learning and Improvement   

1
2
4



107 

 

1
2
5



108 

 

 
The Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards’ website was re-designed and re-launched in 
January 2014 providing a more user friendly and easier to use format. Within the first 12 weeks it 
had received over 5,000 visits and over 18000 different page views.  
 
We attended meetings of the Leicestershire and Rutland Youth Councils to raise awareness of the 
LRLSCB and to enable young people to identify proposed priorities for action in the Business Plan 
2013/14. 
 
We met with Young Inspectors from Rutland to identify ways in which they could incorporate 
safeguarding into their programme both as a cross-cutting theme and as a targeted area of 
inspection. 
 
We received reports from the children in care council’s and children’s rights services to remain 
informed of the views and opinions of looked after children. 
 
We carried out a schools survey through Leicestershire and Rutland Schools Councils again to 
gauge key safeguarding issues for children and young people for consideration during our business 
planning process. 
 
We engaged with Young Inspectors in Rutland to develop proposals for the inclusion of 
safeguarding issues as both cross-cutting and targeted elements with the young inspectors 
programme. 
 
What has been the impact of what we did? 
 
The safeguarding priorities arising from engagement with children and young people were fed into 
the Board’s discussions at their Development Day in January 2014. This led to the inclusion of e-
safety/e-bullying as a key priority in the new Business Plan for 2014/15. 
 
We have considered a range of views and opinions of children and young people across the 
continuum of provision from universal, through early help and into child protection and care. A 
range of such views that we have been sighted on are set out below. 
 

110 schools and academies took part in the Schools Survey including 10 from Rutland.  In total 
1,240 surveys were completed by pupils with the bulk of the surveys being completed by 5 – 14 
year olds.  The overall age range was from 4 – 19  with 48.1% respondents being female, 47.9% 
male and 4% not stated.  The full results can be found on our website: http://lrsb.org.uk/the-voice-
of-the-child-or-young 

The Top 5 concerns identified in the survey were: 

 

1. Being approached by a stranger either on line or when out 

2. Being hurt by people 

3. Health worries about their family 

4. People doing drugs 

5. Identity theft (for future surveys we would phrase this differently: ‘people pretending to be you 
or a friend on line’).  

 
These issues are now being addressed in our work for 2014/15. 

126



109 

 

“Changing lives has helped us a lot more than other help as the help and support given is a lot 
more useful and helped us as a family a lot more. All the family have benefitted from the help 
given as well and we all have progressed in every field of life. The approach that Sue has had 

with our family has been great very 'to the point' but also talks to us as though she is on our level 
and doesn't talk down to us :) changing lives has helped me personally because they have 
helped me to cope with everything we have been through a lot better and best of all, all the 

meetings we have had managed to get me my fulltime job. I do think that family life is better after 
all the help we have received because we work better together and also not so many arguments 
are caused between us. All that changing lives has offered has been amazing and I don't think 
that there is anything else that they can offer as everything done so far has been brilliant and 

helped us significantly” 

 

Some key messages the survey: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Rutland Early Help 

 
The engagement of service users has been essential and paramount to the success of achieving 

outcomes at an earlier stage. As services within early intervention are predominantly  of voluntary 

engagement (as opposed to statutory services where it is compulsory for a family to engage with 

services), there is a higher success rate of engaging with children, young people and families 

through the whole process. People feel more in control in defining what their needs are and what 

needs to happen to improve their circumstances. Where engagement is refused on this basis, 

practitioners are persistent in working with the family to help them see the benefits of receiving 

support at an earlier stage. 

A key tool that that has been adopted as a method for assessment and evaluation across the 

People directorate is the “Richter Scale”. This tool has been crucial in enabling families to engage 

fully with services and take ownership to take action and create change. All staff within early 

intervention and social care have been trained in the use of this tool.  

 

The Service is in the early stages of requesting feedback for the Changing Lives work.  They 
recently received this quote from a young person who is 18 years old and from a family they have 
been working with since April 2013. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Constantly bullied by a gang, made 
to feel bad about myself and I 
worried about going back to school 

 

I'm worried about self-harm 
help not being good enough or 
CONFIDENTIAL 

 

Persuaded to do something I 
don't want to do (drugs / 

smoking) 

127



110 

 

Leicestershire Children’s Rights 

LCR carried out an exercise entitled: Do children and young people think they are safe? 

The following quote comes directly from young people in relation to their experiences, as reported to the 
Leicestershire Children’s Rights Officers.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 

The LRLSCB and LRSAB Business Plan for 2014/15 continues to prioritise improvements in our 

work to engage with and secure the participation of children, young people and adults. 

Under priority 1 in the Business Plan which seeks to ensure that safeguarding is everyone’s 

business a key objective is: 

• To be assured that the ‘voice’ of children, young people and adults is heard and acted on 

The focus of our actions next year will be to extend our engagement beyond strategic groups such 

as the Youth Council and the Children in Care Council to specific communities of interest and to 

service user feedback at service delivery point.  The intention is to work with existing mainstream 

engagement and participation groups so that safeguarding can feature on their agendas and 

facilitate more voices being heard as we plan our business plan and evaluate performance in the 

annual report.  This will include working with Healthwatch to enable them to include safeguarding in 

their interfaces with patients both children and adults. 

Working together helps because 
everyone needs to join together 
as a team to support ME and those 
all around me, so that I do well at 
school, feel cared for at home 
and am able to believe I can 
achieve whatever I want … LAC 

 I can talk to Nanny, I can 
tell her anything. B, 13 

 

I like going to Grandad’s coz we can go 
on our laptops. We can’t take them 
home coz we don’t have internet. K, 10 

 

I’m worried if my mum loses 
custody of me and my 
brother. I’d prefer to go to an 
orphanage than live with my 
dad. V, 14 

 

I worry that we can’t see dad, 
like we can’t stay over with him.” 
M, 12 

 

On Sunday we wanted dad to 
take us to dinner but he said 
he was busy and what! Is work 
more important than us kids?  
R, 11 

I feel like I’m not coping 
with my mum. I’m finding 
her really hard. I’m 
worried about how much 
more I can take of my 
mum. G, 16 

 

We’ve never had a 
mum & son talk, we 
should have been able 
to talk about 
everything that has 
happened, but we 
haven’t been. I want 
to talk to my mum 
about stuff, not just 
hide it. J, 16 

 

I want Mum to stop 
threatening social services 
will take us away when we’re 
being naughty. B, 13 

 

I don’t think the reason for 
the Child Protection Plan 
starting in the beginning is 
there anymore. Mum’s fine.  
B, 13 

 I want dad to listen 
more and stop being 
on the phone all the 
time.  R, 11 

 

128



111 

 

5. SERIOUS CASE REVIEWS AND CDOP 

Serious Case Reviews 

The work of the SCR subgroup was discussed in Chapter three.  

There were no serious case reviews within the Children’s or Adults arenas for Leicestershire and 

Rutland within the 2013/14 year. As previously commented, the Board office undertook two 

domestic homicide reviews that the SCR subgroup had over-site of. These were submitted to the 

home office for approval and we can now announce (August 2014) that both are judged as 

adequate.  

Child Death Overview Panel 

The Children Act (2004) places a statutory duty on local authorities in England to set up LSCBs. 

One of the duties of the LSCB is to ensure a review is undertaken on the deaths of all children who 

are normally resident within their area. 

The duties undertaken by the LLR CDOP are as outlined in chapter 5 of ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2013’. The child death overview process has been established within LLR 

since February 2009. ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2006’ outlined the duties of the 

LSCB to undertake a review of any child death resident within their area. ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2013’ re-emphasised the need to ensure a process is in place to undertake this 

work. 

The remit of the child death overview process is to co-ordinate a systematic review of the death of 

children between 0 and 18 years of age (the review does not include stillbirths).  

The process incorporates two interrelated pathways that allow for expected and unexpected deaths 

to be reviewed (‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013’ p73). The purpose of which allow 

for; 

“(a) collecting and analysing information about each death with a view to identifying- 

-any case giving rise to the need for a review mentioned in Regulation 5(1) (e); 

-any matters of concern affecting the safety and welfare of children in the area of the authority; and 

-any wider public health or safety concerns arising from a particular death or from a pattern of 

deaths in that area; 

(b) putting in place procedures for ensuring that there is a coordinated response by the authority, 

their Board partners and other relevant persons to an unexpected death.” (HM Government, 2010). 

The child death overview process is not an investigation and does not supersede the need for 

organisations to undertake their own reviews following the death of a child. It is intended that the 

child death overview process will incorporate issues identified within the SCR and SILP processes 

to ensure shared learning. 

129



112 

 

Cases  taken to panel = 47

No. of Panels = 8

No. of Panels were cases discussed = 6

No. of developmental Panels = 2

Unexpected  

County = 13

Gender 

County 

Male 6

Female                    7

Age

County 

0-27 days 2

28-364 days 5

1 - 4 yrs 2

5-9 yrs                                               2

10-14 yrs                                           2

15 - 17+364 days                              0

Category

County

1. Deliberaly inflicted injury abuse or neglect              4

2. Suicide or deliberate self harm 0

3. Trauma & other external factors 2

4. Malignancy 0

5. Acute medical or surgical condition 1

6. Chronic medical condition                                                                 0

7. Chromosonal genetic & congenital anomalies        2

8. Perinatal/neonatal event 0

9. Infection 4

10. Sudden unexpected unexplained death 0 

A table follows that gives an overview of the cases within Leicestershire and Rutland: 

130



113 

 

From the CDOP process the following positive outcomes have been identified: 

• Relevant doctors and midwives are receiving feedback via quarterly meetings. 

• Children and families are being supported around their choices for end of life care. 

• Close liaison with professionals to ensure bereavement support is being offered to families, 

including siblings. 

• Appropriate referrals are being made for genetic counselling for families.  

• Interpreting services are being utilised effectively. 

• CDOP is linking into the work being undertaken and progressed by the Joe Humphries 

Memorial Trust.  

o This includes the CDR Manager speaking at local conferences 

o CDOP are currently exploring possible options for increasing public awareness/training 

with regard to basic life support. 

• Good (regional) multi agency work for oncology patients. 

• Good (national) multi agency work for children with life limiting conditions. 

• Good service provision for those with an end of life care plan (in supporting wishes of the 

family and child). 

• Demonstration of active family involvement regarding palliative care decisions. 

• Identification (during a home visit) of a family’s additional vulnerability, leading to appropriate 

referrals to agencies. 

 

Proposed Appendices are as follows 
 
Appendix 1 
 
BUSINESS PLAN 2014/15 
 
Appendices 2 and 3 

Protocols with Health and Well-Being Boards – or web links to these. 

131



114 

 

Appendix 4 

 

Annual Report of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland VCS Reference Group 2013-14 

 
1. Introduction: VCS Reference Group functions, priorities and membership. 

The Leicester and Leicestershire/Rutland LSCB VCS Reference Group works on behalf of the 
VCS, acting as a conduit for communication between the LSCBs and the VCS. The Group is 
proactive in engaging the involvement of the VCS in the work of the LSCBs and has identified 
the following responsibilities: 

• To represent VCS perspectives to the LSCBs and identify VCS representatives to attend 
LSCB Subcommittees as appropriate. 

• To seek the views of the VCS and raise awareness of the work of the LSCBs. 

• To raise the awareness of the LSCBs in relation to the work of the VCS. 

• To identify appropriate safeguarding resources available to the VCS. 

• To create and maintain appropriate links with other VCS networks.  
 

A total of 10 different VCS groups are represented on the Group, with additional efforts being 
made to expand membership.  
 

2. L&R LSCB Priorities 2013-14: VCS Reference Group contribution to each priority area.  

The following Outcomes have been retrieved from the VCS Reference Group 2013-14 Action 
Plan and mapped against the relevant Board priorities. The broader achievements of the Group 
have also been highlighted to further demonstrate the Group’s contribution. 

 
2013-14 Strategic Priority One: Improve the effectiveness and impact of the Safeguarding 
Boards  
 

VCS Group Actions, Priorities & Achievements:  

 
The Group has undertaken the following activities under each outcome: 
 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 1 – ‘Agencies within the LSCB are aware of VCS 
services and the contribution the VCS can make to the Safeguarding Children & Young People 
agenda’. 
 

• Sub-Group Representation - Regular attendance maintained throughout the year at 

Leicestershire/Rutland LSCB and relevant sub-groups including: 

o Leicestershire & Rutland - LSCB, LSCB/SAB Executive and the SEG  

o Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland - Joint Executive,  Safeguarding Training 

Commissioning & Development Group  

• CWD Reports - Reporting on activities and key achievements to LSCB Executive Groups 

via the LSCB Managers; including relevant information from Annual Workforce Data Profiles 

and Inter-Agency Training Evaluation Report.  

• Bi-annual Reports to the Executive groups have not been produced and presented, 

however, this Annual Report includes key information from the inter-agency analysis and 

Evaluation Report. (All reports produced by the CWD Projects Team are shared with 

members and cascaded to the sector). 

132



115 

 

• (Annual workforce data profiles, identifying PVI groups/organisations that work directly with 

and support children, young people and families, together with a TNA analysis, showing 

numbers of staff and volunteers who have received safeguarding training or are in need of 

safeguarding training, will only be provided for Leicester as funding for this work has ceased 

in both Leicestershire and Rutland).  

• LSCB Representation - L&R LSCB representation on the Group and feedback from the 

LSCB is also provided by the Deputy Chair (voluntary sector representative for the LSCB). 

• Training - Information fed back to Group in relation to the training needs of the sector, 
collected through the Inter-Agency Training Evaluation Report and training enquiries: 

o Raising awareness of need for Essential Awareness Training 
o Input into Competency Framework from a VCS perspective 
o Information from inter-agency training in relation to VCS access to the training and 

immediate impacts on knowledge, skills and confidence.  

• Risk Analysis – The Deputy Chair took part in a risk analysis session with the LSCB; 
exploring the potential risks to the Board if the Business Plan objectives are not met. 

• Sharing VCS Issues – The VCS representatives regularly discuss the key safeguarding 
issues they face as part of their day to day practice; allowing risks to be highlighted to the 
LSCB and different agencies to share ideas. In addition, the Group discusses potential 
pressures on other VCS services in relation to capacity, reliance on services and 
expectations of VCS referral agencies, particularly as governmental changes and reduced 
funding take effect.  

• VCS Services - The VCS representatives regularly share information relating to their 
service delivery, which proves highly useful for signposting and overall LSCB knowledge of 
VCS local services.  

IMPORTANT: It is not possible to provide assurances to the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB of 
the contributions made by small and medium VCS groups and organisations to ensuring children 
and young people are safe 
 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 2 - ‘Agencies within the VCS are aware of the 
LSCB and their responsibilities to Safeguard children & young people within LSCB procedures and 
guidance’. 
 

• CWM Website - The Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB is referenced on the CWM website, 
with links to the Board website. The CWM website also links to the VAL website; enabling 
users to access LSCB information more easily. 

• Group 2 Essential Awareness Training - Information regarding the Board is included in 
Group 2 training sessions that are delivered by the CYP Projects Team. This aims to raise 
awareness of the role and responsibilities of the Board and the participant’s individual 
responsibility to safeguard children and young people. 

• CWM e-briefings & Communication with the VCS - CWM e –briefings are sent out every 
two weeks. During 2013-14, information has been included on: 

• Disclosure and Barring 

• Safeguarding Training 

• Thresholds Guidance 

• LLR Safeguarding Learning Competency Framework 

• Safeguarding for Trustees Training 

• Impact of Domestic Violence on Children 
 
Information has also been provided for the L&R Safeguarding Matters Newsletter  

133



116 

 

 

• SCR Dissemination - SCR briefings are disseminated to the PVI organisations through the 
CWM e-briefings and are highlighted on the CWM website. These include a summary of 
learning particularly relevant to PVI organisations along with ‘questions to consider’ to 
encourage organisations to examine organisational practice and information regarding 
resources to improve/quality assure practice. Examples include: 

• An SCR relating to the abduction of 15 year old girl by her teacher 

• An SCR relating to sexual abuse at a Birmingham Nursery 
 
Learning from SCRs is also disseminated to the VCS Reference Group members and cascaded 
within individual organisations. For example the Board representatives have presented key 
information at the meetings.  
 

• Safe Network– The team’s Development Officer has continued to carry out her role as the 
Safe Network Champion for Leicester. Examples include: 

• Delivery of 2 x Safeguarding for Trustees workshops 

• Delivery of 1 x Disclosure and Barring Workshop 

• Delivery of 1:1 consultation on e-safety 

• Delivery of 1 x E-Safety Workshop 

• Delivery of 1 x Child Protection Policies workshop 

• Telephone support to signpost and advise groups regarding utilisation of the Safe 
Network Standards.  

• LSCB Representation – The L&R LSCB representative sits on the Group and feedback 

from the LSCB is also provided by the Deputy Chair (voluntary sector representative for the 

LSCB). 

• Changes to LSCB Procedures - The Group has strived to ensure that new safeguarding 

processes and procedures are both clarified and effectively communicated to the sector. (In 

particular this has included the changes to the County CAF process and details of the new 

First Response System). 

VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 8 - ‘The LSCB VCS Reference Group has a clear 
action plan in place that is linked to the business plans of the L&R and L Boards. The action plan is 
regularly monitored and reviewed and is up-dated annually’. 
 

• Action Plan - The Reference Group has a clear annual action plan that is linked to the 
Business plan of the LSCB. 
 

• Monitoring - The Action Plan was not systematically monitored each quarter during 2013-
14, however, the identified outcomes and activities were reviewed during meetings as part of 
on-going discussions. For 2014-15 it is planned to either: 

• Review the plan at each alternate meeting throughout the year; or 

• Review 2 x action points from the plan per meeting 
 

• Annual Review - An annual review meeting took place on 08.07.14 when the Action Plan 
was up-dated in relation to 2013-14 activities and achievements of the group. These are 
included within this report. 

The VCS Group’s Impact:  

 

The work undertaken to achieve Outcomes 1, 2 and 8 demonstrates a key contribution to the 

134



117 

 

Board’s Strategic Priority 1. This contribution is summarised as follows: 

• Improved understanding of the needs and contribution of the VCS. 

• Sharing up to date information and increasing VCS access to the latest LSCB 
developments. 

• Delivering a proactive approach to supporting both LSCBs and the VCS by aligning the 
Action Plan with the Board’s priorities 

 
2013-14 Strategic Priority Two:  Secure confidence in the operational effectiveness of the 
Safeguarding Partner Agencies and Services through robust Quality Assurance and 
Performance Management of Safeguarding  
 

VCS Group Actions, Priorities & Achievements:  

 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 1 - Agencies within the LSCB are aware of VCS 
services and the contribution the VCS can make to the Safeguarding Children & Young People 
agenda. 
See above 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 5 - ‘Increased awareness by VCS 
groups/organisations of the Safe Network Standards and role of the Safe Network Champion.’ 
 
1. Group 2 Training - Information regarding the Safe Network Standards is included as part of the 

Group 2 training for the PVI sectors  
2. Additional Capacity - The CYP&F team successfully bid to become the Regional Development 

Learning Partner with Safe Network. This resulted in additional funding being levered in that 
enabled targeted work/training to take place in Leicestershire and Rutland to address some of 
the concerns rising out of the cessation of the work of the CWM Project in these two Local 
Authority areas 

 
IMPORTANT: There is a real risk to the future of this work across LLR. Leicester city’s funding 
ceased at the end of March 2014, so currently this work is continuing on goodwill and the 
commitment of the team to ensure the VCS CYP&F workforce is aware of its’ safeguarding 
responsibilities and is fit for purpose.  
 
The outcome of the above will be that assurances will not be able to be provided to the Board 
on in relation to this priority. 
 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 6 – ‘The LSCB Reference Group has supported 
both the VCS and statutory partners within the LSCB to reflect and learn from experiences of 
complex cases, SCRs, ‘stuck’ cases and professional challenge over safeguarding issues’ 
 

• Learning from SCR’s is disseminated via the CWM website, e bulletins. It is also included 
within the Group 2 Safeguarding Training and shared with members of the VCS 
Safeguarding Reference Group. 

• Information regarding SCR learning events is actively disseminated to the Sector via the e-
briefing and website. 

• VCS Training Uptake - Whilst it has not been possible to undertake a specific snapshot, 
information regarding levels of knowledge, skills and confidence both pre and post Group 3 
training sessions are captured as part of the inter-agency coordination role.  

• Work in Progress – The team is currently setting up a template to complete a quarterly 

VCS Data Snapshot using the inter-agency training data collected as part of the coordination 

135



118 

 

process. This will include a section on SCR evaluation data, with an aim to provide an 

insight to learning and workplace barriers (depending on the data provided).  

VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 7 -’The LSCB VCS Reference Group has an 
established membership that is representative of the sector’ 
 

• Membership Audit - A membership audit was undertaken and note of attendance levels 
made. Attendance rates have ranged from 33% to an improved 73% throughout the year. All 
information and the minutes are shared with all group members following each meeting.  

• Improving Representation - A lack of representation was identified from 
groups/organisations working with Drug and Alcohol Abuse; Mental Health; Domestic 
Violence. Organisations and individuals were identified from relevant groups (Swanswell – 
Drug and Alcohol Abuse; Rethink – Mental Health; City Service – Domestic Violence) and 
invited to attend. Of these only 1 has attended the meetings. Swanswell agreed and are on 
the group mailing list but have yet to attend a meeting. There has been no attendance from 
Rethink. 

• Member Attendance - A survey of group membership has been undertaken and shows that 
during 2013-14, 3 new members have joined the group with 12 of the previous members 
remaining regular attendees. New members represent the Leicester LGBT Centre, 
Swanswell and the Leicester City Domestic Violence Service. 

 

Additional Contributions 

• Stay Safe & E-Safety Sub-Groups – Attended by a group member to provide VCS input. 
Key information has been fed back to the Group and to the wider sector as appropriate.  

• L&R Workforce Data Impact Report - The team is currently working on a proposal/Impact 
Report to highlight the benefits and impacts of undertaking the Workforce Development 
Project and Data Workforce Profile in Leicestershire and Rutland.  This work will highlight 
significant areas of gaps, the strengths of the project and relates this information to the 
Board’s priorities going forward for 2014-15.  

• Identifying Key Trends & Messages – Group discussions help to identify key trends in 
relation to workforce development which is also informed by the research, reporting and 
training work delivered by the CWM team. In particular, the risk of overemphasis on training 
for safeguarding and lack of managerial guidance for the VCS workforce is highlighted as a 
significant issue to be addressed. 

• Other Safeguarding Topics & Training Needs- Member agencies have shared key 
massages from their training packages, in particular the CSE training delivered by New 
Futures. This helps to raise awareness of the training content and relevance to the VCS 
workforce whilst facilitating discussion relating to the CSE training needs of the sector.  

• Local Safeguarding Issues – Details relating to local safeguarding cases that have 
featured in the media are also discussed at meetings; whereby LSCB representatives raise 
further awareness of these issues and VCS representatives can share their experiences. 
These discussions help to improve knowledge of local sensitivities, including any cultural 
issues/barriers VCS groups should be aware of.  

• Workforce Skills – Different agencies have raised concerns to the LSCB’s relating to the 
standard of skills and knowledge that have been displayed by student Social Workers whilst 
on work placements. This has helped to raise awareness of workforce skills and the need for 
LSCB’s to open up a dialogue with local Universities. 
 

The VCS Group’s Impact:  

 

136



119 

 

Through the work of the Group there have been clear efforts to improve information and 
communication channels with the sector to improve operational effectiveness. These contributions 
can be summarised for the Board under the following key points: 

• Raising awareness of the contribution and needs of the VCS 

• Improving information sharing and highlighting learning from safeguarding issues.  

• Continual efforts to improve membership that is representative of the sector; in terms of both 
the range of organisations, type of work undertaken and geographical areas.   

• Improving VCS awareness of the Safe Network and the support available to VCS 
organisations to improve their safeguarding standards and processes. 

The following Group outcomes are directly linked to Quality Assurance and monitoring activities; 
demonstrating further links with the Board’s second priority.  

 

VCS Group Actions, Priorities & Achievements:  

 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 4 - ‘A monitoring framework is established to 
enable the Reference Group to identify increased access to Safeguarding training across children 
and adults services.’ 

• Online Booking Information - The booking process for inter-agency safeguarding training 

has been revised to enable disaggregation of data to identify numbers of attendees who 

work primarily with children or adults. 

• Promotion of Training - Safeguarding training programmes are promoted on the CWM 

website through their own clearly defined section. Information is included as a standard item 

in all e-bulletins during the year.  

• LSCB Membership - The LSCB Project Development Officer continues to attend and 

contribute as an active member of the VCS Reference Group. 

• Training Opportunities and Quarterly Reports - Training opportunities available through 

the Inter-Agency Safeguarding Training Programme are continually promoted to the group 

and recommended for dissemination. In addition, the quarterly reports are circulated to all 

members.  

• Key Training Statistics - Of the 1174 attendees during 2013 -14 1050 provided details 

relating to the clients with whom they work, 91% delivered all or part of their work with 

children and young people. 46% delivered all or part of their work with adults. VCS 

attendees alone equated to 232 during 2013-14, 176 of whom provided details relating to 

their client base. Of these, 75% delivered all or part of their work with children and young 

people and the same proportion with adults. There was an 83% increase in the number of 

VCS attendees from 2012-13 to 2013-14. This equates to an increase of 14% for the VCS 

between the 2 years.   

VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 9 - ‘Review LSCB action plans to ensure 
alignment of Reference Group Action Plan’ 
 

• Annual review of Action Plan - A meeting was held on 08.07.14 by the Chair of the 

Reference Group, the Deputy Chair and the Leicester LSCB Representative to review the 

progress of the current Action Plan (2013-14) and to ensure the 2014-15 Action Plan is 

aligned to the Business Plan for the L&R Board. 

137



120 

 

• LSCB Board Attendance - L&R LSCB representative attends the bi-monthly group 
meetings and the Deputy Chair attends the L&R LSCB Board; allowing the Group’s 
programme of work to be aligned and consistent with the priorities of the Board. 

The VCS Group’s Impact:  

The Group plays a key role in promoting training opportunities and monitors VCS access and 
uptake via the reporting undertaken by the CWM Team; in relation to data workforce profiling and 
training evaluations. This work helps to highlight links between training and effective practice, 
thereby improving understanding of the VCS training landscape and the needs of the VCS.   
 
2013-14 Strategic Priority Three: Improve the effectiveness of Communication and 
Engagement 
 

VCS Group Actions, Priorities & Achievements:  

 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 2 -‘Agencies within the VCS are aware of the 
LSCB and their responsibilities to Safeguard children & young people within LSCB procedures and 
guidance’ 

See above 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 3 -’A resource library is identified, developed and 
maintained and made easily accessible to the VCS ensuring this includes: CSE, Domestic Abuse 
and Abuse through Technology 
 

• Meeting Agenda Item - ‘Resources’ is included as a standard agenda item for each VCS 
Reference Group meeting. All members of the group are encouraged to share relevant 
resources that are then disseminated wider through their own networks.  Resources and 
information shared during 2013-14 include: 

o Policy/guidance updates 
o Signposting information 
o Training opportunities 
o Sharing good practice 
o Sharing latest research  
o Local/national agendas 
o Local LSCB developments and resources 

 

• Website Links - The CWM website contains relevant/useful on –line resources which 
are regularly identified and collated for dissemination to the sector. Specific examples 
include: 

o Avoiding Accidents – links to making the link briefings on e.g. fire safety, safety in 
the home  

o Bullying – links to resources and best practice tips for applying anti-bullying 
procedures into practice 

o Child sexual exploitation – links to animations highlight different types of 
exploitation 

o Domestic Abuse – forced marriage e-learning 
o E-safety – links to resource to address internet safety issues affecting LGBT 

young people 
o LSCB – overview information regarding function and purpose of LSCBs and links 

to websites 
o Female Genital Mutilation – information regarding NSPCC FGM Helpline 
o Neglect – link to NSPCC briefing on impact of neglect 

138



121 

 

o Safeguarding and Your Organisation 
o Safeguarding Babies – links to NSPCC resources 
o Safer Recruitment – links Safe Network resources 
o Serious Case Reviews – Summaries of high profile reviews and how learning can 

be applied within VCS organisation 
o Working Together 2013 – briefings providing a summary of new guidance and 

advice on ensuring organisations are meeting their responsibilities 
o National PREVENT agenda and a dedicated webpage to local training 

opportunities 
 

The website also has clear links to other relevant resources – especially those that can be 
found on the Board website and the Safe Network Website. 
 

• Further Dissemination - Information regarding resources listed above that would be 
useful to the sector and where /how to access them are included within the e –briefings. 
Information is also sent out with minutes from the VCS Safeguarding Reference Group 
for members to distribute through their own networks. Specific examples include: 

o Events: E.g. ‘Safeguarding our Futures’ national event. 
o Research: NSPCC research reports e.g. ‘Disclosures of Childhood Abuse’ 
o Training: Designated Safeguarding Officer training opportunities for the VCS 
o Training: Free Research in Practice webinar on ‘Assessing the Risk of Further 

Maltreatment’ 
o Shared Learning: NSPCC SCR directory for England and Wales 

 
VCS Reference Group: Action Plan Outcome 7 – ‘The LSCB VCS Reference Group has an 
established membership that is representative of the sector.’ 

See above  

The VCS Group’s Impact:  

The Group uses effective communication methods managed by the CWD Project Team to actively 
disseminate key safeguarding information to the sector, with important information also cascaded 
through training sessions.  

Collectively the Group acts as a communication network, working towards the following areas of 
improvement: 

• Improving communication with the VCS  

• Improving awareness of safeguarding, including LSCB developments.  

• Improving access to resources and training opportunities 

• Broadening membership to facilitate wider representation and cascade key safeguarding 
information. 

 

3. Contribution to SAB: Shared Information & Messages 

 
The Group continues to share and promote information with the Safeguarding Adults Board in 
respect of work with the VCS; highlighting both the operation of the Group, key considerations for 
the VCS and promoting the importance of children and young people’s safeguarding as part of the 
adults agenda. These messages have aimed to develop an understanding of the importance of the 
CYP agenda to the adults’ workforce. 
The group continues to emphasise the need for linkages between both groups (if an Adults 
Reference Group is set up), and discussions have previously taken place with a unified message 
also emphasised to VCS groups/organisations in relation to the need to adopt a broader whole 

139



122 

 

family approach to safeguarding.  
The Group’s key contribution to the SAB can be summarised as follows: 

• Proactive steps to develop awareness of the role of the VCS within Adults Safeguarding 

• Emphasis on the need to promote children’s safeguarding as part of the Adult’s agenda 

• Raising awareness of broader safeguarding considerations for professionals working with 
adults 

 
 

140



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYTO ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14 

This overview summarises the key achievements, outputs, outcomes and impact of 

the work of the Leicestershire and Rutland Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards 

in 2013/14.  It also highlights the further improvements that will be sought in 2014/15.   

We recognise that the annual report has to be a detailed and complex record of our 

work, so this summary is intended to be accessible to a wider audience and enable 

readers to understand the impact of our work over the last year. 

Where appropriate this overview distinguishes between work undertaken by the 

Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards so that information can be easily extracted 

for specific purposes such as inspection and peer review processes.  The 

information is presented alongside the key priorities in our business plan 2013-16. 

PRIORITY A: IMPROVE THE EFFECTIVENESS AND IMPACT OF THE 

SAFEGUARDING BOARDS 

What has been achieved in 2013/14? 

The children’s safeguarding board responded to the Department for Education’s 

(DfE) revised Working Together 2013 document.  We revised the board’s statutory 

membership, governance and accountability arrangements to ensure compliance 

and issued the required ‘threshold protocol’ and a learning and improvement 

framework.  The board considered and approved assessment frameworks for both 

local authorities. 

We introduced a self-assessment tool to evaluate our performance against the new 

Ofsted review framework for safeguarding children boards.  Areas that are not 

judged to be ‘good’ or better feature on our Business Plan priorities for 2014/15. 

The adult safeguarding board has prepared for the Care Act 2014. This has included 

undertaking a self-assessment against the Association of Directors of Adult Social 

Care’s (ADASS) ‘top-ten tips’. 

The board has self-assessed its own effectiveness during this year and in six out of 

10 areas members rated the board ‘good’.  Action is already being taken in the four 

areas where need for improvement was identified and is incorporated into our 

Business Plan 2014/15. 

Key strengths identified in the audit were: 

• Effectiveness of the Independent Chair 

• Constitutional compliance with Working Together 2013 and No Secrets 

• Self-audit 

• Self-development and improvement 

• Information and intelligence sharing 

141



 

 

• Effective communication – particularly through ‘Safeguarding Matters’ 

Members of the board included managers with a strategic role in safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children within their organisation.  These members can: 

• speak for their organisation with authority;  

• commit their organisation on policy and practice matters; 

• hold their own organisation to account and hold others to account.  

Better engagement with senior leaders in partner organisations was secured through 

the safeguarding summit held in December 2013.  This will become an annual event.  

This event raised the profile of both boards within the local professional community. 

Attendance levels at meetings have been high and representation from schools and 

colleges, which was an area of concern in 2012/13, has been addressed.  The 

private sector provider community in adult services has agreed to re-join the board 

after a period of absence. 

Section 11 audits indicate sustained or improved performance against safeguarding 

standards in all but one agency.  Performance was particularly strong in the adult 

services audit where eight organisations self-assessed themselves to be fully 

compliant with standards. 

There is strong evidence of challenge between board members leading to action to 

improve service delivery and performance. Examples include: 

• challenge from Leicestershire Police regarding increases in the number of 

children ‘missing’ incidents that resulted in a review of the Missing Protocol 

across Leicestershire, Rutland and Leicester and some reduction in the 

number of reported incidents; 

• challenge from the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in relation to the 

notification of changes in care arrangements for children looked after with 

evidence of improvements in information sharing; 

• challenge from a range of partners to better co-ordinate policy, practice and 

procedures across the Leicestershire, Rutland and Leicester City which has 

been taken forward by the joint Executive Board between the two LSCBs.  An 

example of how this has made a real difference was the agreement to work 

collaboratively on Single Assessment and Threshold Protocol which came 

from Working Together 2013.  There has similarly been joint work on: policy 

and procedures; child sexual exploitation, child trafficking and missing; 

training and workforce development. 

The board worked within its budget and linked expenditure more closely to key 

priorities in the business plan.   Action was taken to address the long-standing 

budget reserve through the allocation of grants to services able to further deliver the 

boards’ priorities. 

142



 

 

Effective arrangements have been put in place to ensure we work with other 

partnership bodies including: the Health and Wellbeing Boards, local authority 

scrutiny committees, the Children’s Trust in Rutland and the Community Safety 

Partnerships. 

The boards have delivered domestic homicide reviews on behalf of the Community 

Safety Partnerships.  Two reviews were delivered in 2013/14.  The learning from 

these reviews is being disseminated through the Serious Case Review Sub-Group 

with any relevant improvements being included in the framework we are using the 

manage quality and performance.   

We have worked across the area and region so that we are more efficient and 

consistent – particularly for agencies who operate across local boundaries. Key 

achievements in 2013/14 included: 

• co-ordinated local authority single assessment arrangements 

• LSCB Threshold Protocols 

• LSCB Learning and Improvement Frameworks 

• Integrated work on policies and procedures across both children and adult 

services 

• Integrated arrangements for workforce development and training 

• Signs of Safety 

• The Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based Violence (DASH) tool  

• Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards implementation 

• Joint Executive Groups for both children and adult safeguarding to improve 

co-ordination across the sub-region and the East Midlands 

The boards have increased their focus on learning and improvement. We have not 

only focused on the outcomes of reviews within Leicestershire and Rutland but also 

in testing local performance against recommendations from serious case reviews 

and inquiries in other areas and nationally.   

Examples include consideration of serious case reviews for Daniel Pelka, Hamzah 

Khan, and reports from the Office of the Children’s Commissioner on child sexual 

exploitation and trafficking, the Winterbourne View Report and the Francis Report.  

There has been robust and rigorous scrutiny of the responses to these reviews as 

well as the impact on quality and performance management.  

There has been a real focus on ensuring learning is disseminated to front-line staff 

through events such as the Serious Case Review Learning Event in February 2014. 

The board has remained aware of inspections and reviews carried out in member 

agencies. We have monitored action plans from local authority Ofsted inspections, 

peer challenge arrangements across the East Midlands, Care Quality Commission 

inspections of both organisations and providers, and Ofsted inspections of other 

organisations such as CAFCASS. 

143



 

 

What will improve in 2014/15?  

Our business plan for 2014/15 sets out a number of priorities.  We are seeking:  

To ensure that all agencies fulfil their responsibilities as set out in Working Together 
2013.  We also plan to increase compliance in the Section 11 Audit which tests 
agency compliance with key safeguarding requirements. 

To ensure that the agencies are appropriately represented on the board, executive 
and sub-groups and attendance and participation levels are high so that we can 
achieve our objectives. 

To ensure that the board knows the safeguarding strengths and weaknesses of 
agencies, both individually and collectively, through challenge, scrutiny and 
performance management 

To drive partnerships and agencies to own, prioritise, resource, improve and 
positively impact on safeguarding and receives management information to 
scrutinise and challenge performance 

To be assured that the ‘voice’ of children, young people and adults is heard and 
acted on 

To ensure partner agency contributions secure ‘value for money’ 

To be ready for inspection across the partnerships 

PRIORITY B: SECURING CONFIDENCE IN THE OPERATIONAL 

EFFECTIVENESS OF AGENCIES (INDIVIDUALLY AND COLLECTIVELY) 

THROUGH ROBUST QUALITY ASSURANCE AND PERFORMANCE 

MANAGEMENT OF SAFEGUARDING 

What has been achieved since 2013/14? 

 A new Quality Assurance and Performance Management (QAPM) framework has 

been introduced.  This is made up of four areas: quantitative data, qualitative 

information, service user perspectives and staff perspectives.   

The framework now draws on performance information from all agencies.  It also 

focuses on better engagement with children, young people and adults as well as 

front line staff in planning, delivering, monitoring and evaluating service delivery and 

performance. 

This new framework has enabled the Safeguarding Effectiveness Sub-Group (SEG) 

to exert greater rigour in scrutinising performance and alerting both the executive 

and boards to areas that require action and intervention to improve performance. 

This has enabled the boards to focus on strategy and performance rather than 

process and procedure. 

The sub-group has developed a more robust and extensive programme of audits to 

test front line practice and to identify areas for learning and improvement. 

144



 

 

The Child’s Journey in Leicestershire 

We have seen increases in the number of children receiving early help through the 

First Response arrangement.  The Supporting Leicestershire Families initiative has 

also helped to improve the lives of the most vulnerable families.  

• There were 15,228 contacts. There were 5895 referrals – which is low 

compared to statistical neighbours 

• The percentage  of referrals proceeding to initial assessment has decreased 

from 84.5% to 80% in the previous year  

 

• Initial and core assessments are being completed more quickly and systems 

have been improved.  

• The number of children on child protection plans has increased from 393 to 

446 but remains low in comparison to statistical neighbours.  The highest 

number of plans relate to emotional/physical abuse 

 

• The rate of completion of child protection plan reviews has fallen to 55%  

 

• The number of children in care has increased from 446 to 490 but remains 

low in comparison to statistical neighbours 

 

• 9% of children in care experienced three or more placements in the year 

which is in line with statistical neighbours 

The Child’s Journey in Rutland 

The number of Common Assessment Framework CAF) assessments completed has 

increased by 45% from 62 in 2012/13 to 90 in 2013/14. 

The number of contacts to children’s social care has increased, reflecting the 

national trend.  However, the number of referrals to children’s social care has 

decreased by 36%, evidence that the use of early help has been very effective in 

slowing down the referral rate and that thresholds are being applied more rigorously 

by the duty team. 

The percentage of referrals progressing to initial assessment has increased from 

71.4% to 85.3%, indicating good use thresholds, resulting in appropriate referrals. 

93% of initial assessments were carried out within 10 days and 93% of core 

assessments were carried out within 35 days. 

There has been an increase in the number of children with child protection plans – 

34 as compared to 23 in the previous year.  The largest category of abuse is neglect. 

All child protection plans have been reviewed within timescale.  No child protection 

plans lasted longer than two years. 

145



 

 

The number of children in care has increased by 29 to 34.  No child experienced 

more than 3 placements in the year. 

100% of children in care had their reviews on time – this matches performance in the 

previous year. 

The views of the independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) services 

The annual report provides a perspective on the quality of services to children in 

need of protection and care from the IRO services.  They report a number of 

improvements, including: 

• The success of the Grow Safety (previously Signs of Safety) model in 

Leicestershire has improved the focus and effectiveness of reviews 

particularly in terms of enabling the voice of the child and family to be better 

heard and to secure a better focus from professionals on outcomes and risk; 

• In Rutland, multi-agency training has taken place within early help and child 

protection services. The Signs of Safety model will be implemented by 

31st March 2015 

• Improvements in advocacy services for children; 

• Reductions in the number of complaints 

• The introduction of a listening and support service for children that go missing. 

The reports do however identify areas for improvement relating to the timeliness of 

distribution of papers for reviews, the levels of attendance and quality of reporting of 

some partner agencies, the need for better responses to children’s needs from some 

services such as CAMHS.  All the issues raised by IROs have been incorporated into 

our Business Plan for 2014/15 

Private Fostering 

Concerns remain about the low number of private fostering arrangements known to 

the two local authorities.  A major awareness raising campaign is underway in 

2014/15 to address this. 

Serious Case Reviews and Child Deaths 

No Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) were undertaken during 2013/14. 

The LSCB did engage in Serious Case Reviews in three other areas – Lancashire, 

Lincolnshire and Birmingham – which featured children that had been resident in 

Leicestershire. 

The Safeguarding Effectiveness Group has done targeted work to improve practice 

in response to past reviews, from those undertaken in other areas and from audits 

used to test the impact of previous learning. 

146



 

 

A range of learning events and conferences has been delivered to disseminate 

learning and to support action to improve practice. 

The Child Death Overview Panel has completed reviews on 47 child deaths – which 

are similar to levels in statistical neighbour authorities.  The highest number of 

notifications still remains those under 1 year of age.   

The Safeguarding Effectiveness Group has increased the level of reporting and 

number of individual agency and multi-agency case audits. This has included audits 

to test the impact of SCR recommendations and an audit of Strategy Meetings which 

had been identified as a concern in the previous year. 

Action has been taken where audits have identified the need for improvement. 

Assurance that Adults are Safe  

In Leicestershire  

There has been a 28% increase in the number of referrals 

64% of referrals related to residential or nursing care homes.  This compares to 63% 

in the previous year which shows that the ratio between residential and community 

settings has remained much the same. 

The rate of completing referrals was 95% last year and is now?  

53% of referrals were substantiated or partially substantiated. 

Neglect remains the most significant.  There has been an increase in the proportion 

of referrals relating to neglect and a decline in those relating to physical abuse. 

There are still an increasing number of referrals arising from unacceptably poor 

standards of care. 

In Rutland  

There were 91 referrals leading to investigation which is higher than last year. 

68% of these referrals related to residential or nursing care home settings with only 

32% from the community which is a significant shift in ration from last year. 

Of the completed referrals 47% were substantiated or partially substantiated. 

Areas of Safeguarding Risk in Leicestershire and Rutland 

The boards have sought assurance that action is being taken to address those areas 

of safeguarding risk that were identified as priorities in our business planning 

process for 2013/14.  The annual report outlines progress that has been made in 

relation to: 

147



 

 

• Child sexual exploitation and trafficking 

• Children missing 

• Domestic abuse 

• Suicide and self-harm 

• PREVENT 

• Learning disabled adults including those in residential settings 

• The implementation of the Mental Care Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards 

• Older people – particularly those living in residential care and nursing homes 

Positive progress has been made in all these areas. We have put in place more 

robust and rigorous arrangement to identify, assess and respond to risk.   

However, these do remain high priority risks.  Clearly, the positive action taken has 

sometimes had the effect of increasing the number of cases reported – which is what 

was expected.  We must ensure that our focus is balanced between prevention and 

response to identified risk if we are to see reductions in safeguarding risk in these 

areas. 

Workforce development 

Significant progress has been made to deliver a comprehensive programme of 

training and development in safeguarding for children and young people.   

The range of training and number of attendees has increased.  A total of 1174 

people were trained and post-training evaluations have been very positive. 

An important development this year has been the Competency Framework for 

children and adult safeguarding training.  This provides a more robust and rigorous 

tool to evaluate the impact of training on service delivery and on outcomes for 

children, young people and adults.  It monitors competences across the workforce – 

and allows better targeting of training.  The new framework was launched in April 

2014. 

Workforce Capacity 

The boards have begun to monitor workforce capacity to better identify safeguarding 

risk in our organisations and systems.   

Agencies proposing service reductions are asked to present safeguarding risks to 

the board.  We have asked for assurance that funding and staffing levels are 

managed to mitigate any risk. 

Caseloads amongst social workers have remained steady in most areas but 

increasing numbers of contacts and referrals will need to be carefully monitored to 

ensure that staffing capacity is sufficient to respond to need. 

148



 

 

Within this annual report, we have included headlines from the annual report of the 

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) responsible for overseeing allegations 

made against staff.   

The number of cases has not changed significantly from last year but, in 

Leicestershire, the proportion relating to sexual abuse has risen.  This may be a 

result of heightened public awareness and confidence in reporting as a result of high 

profile media coverage of cases such as the Saville case. 

Improvement sought in 2013/14 and built into the business plan 

Priority 2a: To be assured that children and young people are safe 

To be assured: 

•  of the quality and impact/effectiveness of services across the ‘child’s journey’ 

• that thresholds for safeguarding children are clear, understood and 
consistently applied 

• that the impact of universal and early help intervention reduces the numbers 
of children requiring protection and care 

• that the quality and impact of single and multi-agency children protection 
practice is effective 

• that children at high risk/vulnerable are being identified (e.g. child sexual 
exploitation, children missing from home and care, bullying) and risks 
managed to secure a positive outcome 

Priority 2b - To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe 

To be assured: 

•  of the quality and impact/effectiveness of services to adults in need of 
safeguarding 

• that thresholds for safeguarding adults are clear, understood and consistently 
applied. 

• that the impact of universal and early help intervention reduces the numbers 
of adults requiring protection and care.  

• that the quality and impact of single and multi-agency adult protection practice 
is effective. 

• that adults at high risk/vulnerable are being identified (e.g. mental health, 
domestic violence) and risks managed to secure a positive outcome 

Priority 2C – To be assured that services for children, services for adults and 

services for families are effectively coordinated to ensure children and adults 

are safe 

149



 

 

To be assured: 

• that young people who are receiving services from children’s services 
successfully transition to adult services where necessary 

• that adults who are assessed as posing risk to children, young people and 
adults in need of safeguarding (such as MAPPA – Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements- and MARAC– Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference) are effectively managed  and that risk to others is mitigated 

• that services that work with “whole” families are effectively coordinated – e.g. 
Supporting Leicestershire Families and Changing Lives Rutland and secure 
added value in ensuring and co-ordinating effective safeguarding. 

Priority 3a: To be assured of the quality of care for any child not living with a 

parent or someone with parental responsibility 

To be assured:  

• that partner agencies are fulfilling their responsibilities as corporate parents  

• children/young people who are privately fostered are identified and supported 

• that awareness is raised of the notification requirements for private fostering, 
and the effectiveness of this is monitored  

• that children and young people placed in Leicestershire and Rutland from 
other areas are safe 

• and 

• To establish and maintain robust interface with other Looked After Children  
bodies (charity, respective roles and responsibilities) 

Priority 3b: To be assured of the quality of care for any adult supported by 

registered providers 

To be assured:  

• that adults living with or receiving services from registered providers are safe 

• that providers are effective in carrying out their safeguarding responsibilities 
and that as a result service users are safe. 

• that safeguarding roles and responsibilities and outcomes are explicit in 
commissioning, contracting, monitoring and review of services 

Priority 4: To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is 

raising service quality and outcomes for children, young people and adults  

• Apply the Learning & Development Framework and ensure its effectiveness  

150



 

 

• Ensure learning from national and regional SCRs and other learning 
processes is incorporated into the practice of partner agencies and the 
partnership 

• Ensure the effectiveness of CDOP for Leicestershire and Rutland  and that 
lessons from child deaths are understood and consistently acted upon 

• Implement the performance management framework and ensure its 
effectiveness 

• To ensure that policies and procedures are ‘fit for purpose’ 

Priority 5: To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose  

• To be assured that the workforce is competent as measured by the 
Competency Frameworks through quality assurance 
 

• To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of training and development in 
terms of the impact on the quality of safeguarding practice and outcomes for 
service users 
 

• To be assured that the workforce is safely recruited 
 

• To be assured that allegations made against people who work with children 
and adults are dealt with effectively 
 

• To hear the voice of practitioners 
 

Improving the Effectiveness of Communication and Engagement 

What has been achieved in 2013/14? 

A communications strategy and a participation and engagement strategy were 

agreed by the board. 

‘Safeguarding Matters’, a bi-monthly publication to staff across the partnerships in 

both counties, was launched in February 2013 and has been positively received by 

staff. 

A new website was launched in January 2014 and initial monitoring of ‘hits’ suggests 

increasing and wide access to the site – in April over 9,500 hits were recorded a 

37% increase on the previous month. 

There has been engagement with the Youth Councils and with Young Inspectors in 

Leicestershire and Rutland to enable the voice of children and young people to be 

heard in identifying priorities for action in future business plans. 

151



 

 

A major schools survey was also carried out through which we engaged Schools 

Councils in identifying safeguarding priorities for the new business plan – 110 

schools participated including 10 from Rutland 

A range of publications and leaflets has been issued to better disseminate key 

information and service availability including a leaflet on private fostering. 

There was a major media and communications exercise to raise awareness of Child 

Sexual Exploitation and Trafficking targeting a range of audiences including schools, 

taxi companies, sport, leisure and hotel industries and the wider community.  There 

is evidence that these campaigns have led to greater levels of reporting. 

Improvement sought in 2013/14 and built into the business plan 

Engagement with children and young people needs to be extended to cover both 

broad audiences and very targeted groups – such as looked after children, disabled 

children, those subject to child protection plans, black and minority ethnic groups.  

We also need to improve how we engage with children and young people at the 

point of service delivery. 

Engagement with front-line staff requires significant development. 

The website will be revised to reflect new national frameworks such as Working 

Together 2013 as well as including bespoke areas for professionals, the wider 

community and children and young people themselves. 

Safeguarding Adults Board 

Ensuring the effectiveness of services and keeping adults safe. 

Work undertaken by the board. 

The board has received regular reports from agencies on actions taken in response 

to both the Winterbourne View and Mid-Staffordshire Hospital/Francis reports.   

The board has been provided with assurances that local providers have produced 

action plans to address any local concerns and it continues to receive updates on 

their implementation. 

The board has extended the scope of its work include prevention and early 

intervention both through scrutiny of Safer Communities initiatives and the 

Supporting Leicestershire Families programme.   

A range of initiatives has been undertaken to learn from investigations – such as 

serious case reviews and serious incident learning processes.   

These include: the Safeguarding Matters publication; a range of other 

communication channels; training and workforce development and direct work within 

service teams. 

152



 

 

In August 2012, a conference was held on the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).  This was attended by 120 professionals 

from across the partnership.  An action plan to improve practice and procedures was 

produced and is being monitored by the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group.    

The board has continued to provide a comprehensive programme of training and 

workforce development to support staff in delivering effective safeguarding and 

securing better safeguarding outcomes for service users.  

The Safeguarding Adults Training Network has met on a bi-annual basis to ensure 

that learning and improvement is effectively disseminated.  On average, there have 

been between 35 and 40 professionals attending each meeting. 

The Training Effectiveness Group has developed the ‘Competency Framework’ that 

underpins the training and development offer and formulated a competency log to 

better evaluate the impact of training on practice. 

The Procedures and Practice Sub-Group revised or developed new procedures 

primarily in response to learning from reviews.  These included: 

• Pan-East Midlands Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) procedures 

• Information sharing agreement 

• Thresholds Document 

• A range of risk assessment and risk management tools. 

Improvement sought in 2014/15 

Safeguarding referral rates continue to rise. Whilst this may in some part be the 

result of improved awareness resulting from both training and communication activity 

the reasons for these increases will be more fully analysed to identify required 

improvement particularly in prevention and early intervention. 

More work needs to be undertaken to understand patterns of repeat referrals from 

residential providers and to evaluate the effectiveness of intervention designed to 

improve care standards. 

Work will be done to improve the clarity and understanding of thresholds. 

Work will be undertaken to better understand First Contact in Leicestershire and its 

impact on preventing adults coming in to the formal adult protection system as part 

of our aim to reduce safeguarding referrals and to prevent adults requiring specialist 

services. 

Regular reporting of performance on Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of 

Liberties Safeguards legislation will be included in the Quality Assurance and 

Performance Management framework for the SAB. 

153



 

 

The evaluation of training needs better to identify impact on both the quality of 

service delivery and outcomes for vulnerable adults and further development in 

training evaluation is planned to support this. 

Quality Assurance and Performance Management 

What has been achieved since 2013/14 

The Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework was revised to 

extend the range of impact evidence collected and to include information from all 

partners.  The new framework comprises four key quadrants: quantitative data; 

qualitative data; the views of service users and; the views of front line staff. .  

A Safeguarding Adults Compliance Audit was introduced to test compliance in all 

agencies against key standards.  This has provided a baseline from which we can 

now judge improvement.  Levels of compliance were high but agencies that self-

assessed themselves as partially or non-compliant with standards have now set in 

place actions to address this. 

Improvement sought in 2014/15 and built into the business plan 

Work will be undertaken to further embed the new Quality Assurance and 

Performance Management Framework for 2013/14 that it: 

• extends the quantitative scorecard to include a wider range of safeguarding 

performance data from partner agencies; 

• extends the range of qualitative evidence particularly the number of multi-

agency audits undertaken 

• includes evidence drawn from engagement with adult service users and from 

front-line staff. 

Communication and Engagement 

What has been achieved since 2011/12? 

A communications strategy and a participation and engagement strategy were 

agreed by the board. 

A new brand identity/logo for the SAB was adopted and launched. 

‘Safeguarding Matters’, a bi-monthly publication to staff across partners in both 

counties was launched in February 2013 and has been positively received by staff. 

Improvement sought in 2014/15 and built into the business plan 

The business plan for 2014/15 continues to prioritise improvements in our work to 

engage with and secure the participation of children, young people and adults.  This 

will include a programme to refresh key leaflets. 

154



 

 

A key priority next year is to ensure that safeguarding is everyone’s business and 

that the ‘voice’ of children, young people and adults is heard and acted on 

Our focus next year will be to work with existing engagement and participation 

groups so that safeguarding can feature on their agendas and facilitate more voices 

being heard. This will include working with Healthwatch to enable them to include 

safeguarding in their interfaces with patients both children and adults. 

 

155



156

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
17 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
ANNUAL ADULT SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS AND COMMENDATIONS 

REPORT 2013-14 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 To provide members of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

with a summary of the complaints and commendations for adult social care services 
commissioned or provided by the Adults and Communities Department in 2013-14.  The 
annual report is attached as Appendix A. 

 
2 The Committee is asked to note the report and is invited to make comments. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 

3 The Committee last received a report on complaints and commendations on the 2 
September 2013.  This report covered the year 2012-13 and members requested that 
further reports continue to be presented on an annual basis.  

 
Background 
 

4 The Adults and Communities Department has a long standing statutory duty to have a 
complaints process in place for adult social care.  The Local Authority Social Services 
and National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009, effective from 1 
April 2009, introduced a two stage process with flexible investigation methods and 
timescales to suit the nature and complexity of the complaint. If the complainant is 
unhappy with the outcome after stage one, they can ask the Local Government 
Ombudsman (LGO) to investigate.  

 
5 Under these Regulations, there is a further requirement to produce an annual report that 

reviews the effectiveness of the complaints and commendations procedures and 
provides a summary of statistical information.  The attached report fulfils this 
requirement and presents a summary of the complaints handled using the complaints 
process in 2013-14. 

 
6 Complaints and commendations about other aspects of the Department’s work are 

reported separately as part of the corporate complaints process.   
 

Key points 
 
7  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

Agenda Item 9157



  

a) There was an increase in the number of complaints received in 2013-14 compared 
to the previous year (154 compared to 139).  This has followed the trend across 
the Authority where complaint volumes have increased. It also reflects the national 
picture as seen by the LGO who record adult social care services as the highest 
single area of complaints they received during the year. The LGO Review of Adult 
Social Care Complaints 2013 can be viewed at Appendix B.  

 
b) When complaint numbers are compared against overall numbers in receipt of a 

service during the year (15,949), it is clear that a very small percentage do go on 
to make a formal complaint (c.1%). 

 
c) During the year, 18 complaints were referred to the LGO.  This is slightly more 

than the year before (13). The Ombudsman cited maladministration with injustice 
in just one complaint. There were three similar judgements last year. No financial 
penalties were imposed during the year 2013-14. 

 
d) Response times remain good with almost identical performance to the prior year. 

After sustained improvement over the last few years, it is likely that there will not 
now be any further improvements to these healthy results. 69% of complaints were 
resolved within ten days (up from 45% in 2011-12) and 89% resolved within 20 
working days.  Three complaints were not resolved within the statutory maximum 
time (65 days).  

 
e) Community Care charging remains a source of concern accounting for c.25% of all 

complaints and the area most likely to be upheld. At the heart of this is inaccurate 
data which in turn generates inaccurate invoices. A number of actions are being 
progressed to generate improvements in this area. 

 
f) 13 complaints were managed under the joint working protocol. Regular meetings 

between partner organisations continue to be held to try to ensure the 
effectiveness of this joint protocol. 

 
g) It is pleasing to again note the increase in numbers of commendations recorded in 

2013-14 (260). This marks a further 89% increase on 2012-13. This has been an 
objective of the Customer Relations Team over the last few years and it is 
encouraging to see these greater numbers. 

 
h) In 2014 the Local Government issued a special report on adult social care. The 

report highlights the impact that people feel when services let them down and 
comes amidst Ombudsman concerns that it has seen a 130% increase in adult 
social care complaints since it took on responsibility for registered private care 
providers in 2009. This makes it the fastest growing area of the LGO’s work, with 
the highest uphold rate for all areas of complaints 

 
i) The Department of Health is currently consulting on the introduction of an appeals-

based system which would sit alongside the statutory complaints procedure and 
enable an alternative form of challenging the outcome of any social care 
assessment. This could, potentially, have significant impact to the work of both the 
Customer Relations Team and Adult Social Care more generally. Further details 
are expected to be released in late 2014. 

 
 

158



  

Background Papers 
 

None. 
 
Circulation under the Local Alert Issues Procedure 
 

None. 
 
List of Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Social Care Statutory Complaints and Commendations: Annual Report - 
April 2013 - March 2014 
 
Appendix B – LGO Review of Adult Social Care Complaints 2013* 
*Please note due to the size of the file, members are asked to view this online at: 
http://www.lgo.org.uk/downloads/special%20reports/2044-ASC-report-28.05.2014.pdf 
This will not be included with the papers. 

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equal Opportunities implications 
 

8 The Adults and Communities Department supports vulnerable people from all the 
diverse communities in Leicestershire.  Complaints and commendations are an 
important way of ensuring that service responses are fair and equitable to all sections 
of society.  This report does not highlight any specific equal opportunities implications, 
but contains a commitment to undertaking a fresh Equalities and Human Rights Impact 
Assessment on the complaints service during 2014-15. 

 
Officers to contact 
   
Mick Connell � 0116 305 7454 
Director, Adults and Communities Department 
 

Email: mick.connell@leics.gov.uk 

Simon Parsons � 0116 305 6243 
Customer Relations Manager, Corporate 
Resources Department 

Email: simon.parsons@leics.gov.uk 

 

159



160

This page is intentionally left blank



   

Customer Relations 
Corporate Resources Dept 

             

              
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AAdduulltt  SSoocciiaall  CCaarree    

  
  

SSttaattuuttoorryy  CCoommppllaaiinnttss  &&  

CCoommmmeennddaattiioonnss  

  

  

AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt  

AApprriill  22001133  ––  MMaarrcchh  22001144 

  

APPENDIX A 
161



   

Customer Relations 
Corporate Resources Dept 

CONTENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1. Purpose & Context of Report  

2. Complaints Analysis 2013-14 

3. Learning from Complaints 

4. Commendations 2013-14 

5. Monitoring the Process 

6. Customer Relations Team – Work priorities for 2014-15 

7. Key Themes and Concluding Comments 

8. APPENDIX B: LGO Special Report 

 

Page 
 

2 
 

4 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

16 
 

17 
 

19 

 
 
 
 
 

162



 
- 2 - 

1. Purpose and Context of Report 
 
1.1 Purpose & Scope 

 
To report to Members and Officers detailing Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC) 
Adult Social Care complaints activity from 1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014 
including developments and planned improvements.  
 
To meet the Council’s statutory duty requiring the production of an annual report 
each year1 
 
The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Services Complaints 
(England) Regulations 2009 outlines the statutory responsibilities of the County 
Council. 
 
This report provides analysis and comment for Adult Social Care Services on all 
complaints managed under the statutory complaints process. Those complainants 
not qualifying under the statutory process are considered under the County 
Council’s Corporate Complaints and Commendations Annual Report presented to 
the Scrutiny Commission. 
 
1.2 Background Context 
 
The Adult Social Care Service within the Adults and Communities Department 
arranges and supports the provision of a wide variety of services to help people to 
remain living independently in their own homes with increasing levels of choice 
and control over the support they receive. When this is no longer possible, the 
department supports residential or nursing care as well as having lead 
responsibility for safeguarding adults at risk of harm. 
 
This year 15,9492 older people and adults of working age received an Adult Social 
Care service. The department always aim to provide high quality services that 
meet the needs and circumstances of individuals and their families. The 
department actively promote involving clients and carers in shaping services; 
using their skills and experiences to help us ensure we provide the right services. 
However, given the personal and complex nature of the services, sometimes 
things do go wrong. 
 
The complaints process is a mechanism to identify problems and resolve 
Issues. If things go wrong or fall below expectation, the County Council will try to 
sort things out quickly and fairly. We also want to learn from our mistakes or 
concerns that arise and will make changes to improve services. 
 
Analysis of information about  complaints received during 2013 -14 gives Adult 
Social Care an opportunity to reflect on both the quality of the services it provides 
to the people who use the service and consider how well it listens and responds to 
their needs. 
 

                                            
1
 Statutory Instrument 2009 no.309 (18) 

2
 Data supplied by Performance & Intelligence Team  

163



 
- 3 - 

1.3 Ombudsman Special Report – Review of Adult Social Care Complaints 
2013 
 
In May 2014, the Local Government Ombudsman issued a special report on Adult 
Social Care complaints covering the 2013 calendar year. This is an important 
document and is the first time the Ombudsman has issued such a report. The 
report includes complaint statistics for each local authority as well as all registered 
care providers about whom the Ombudsman has received a complaint. 
 
The report highlights the impact that people feel when services let them down and 
comes amidst Ombudsman concerns that it has seen a 130% increase in adult 
social care complaints since it took on responsibility for registered private care 
providers in 2009. This makes it the fastest growing area of the LGO’s work, with 
the highest uphold rate for all areas of complaints. Nationally in the last year, there 
has been a 14% increase in the number of complaints and enquiries received 
about adult social care. 
 
In setting out a vision for future social care complaints, the LGO also calls for a set 
of common standards for complaint handling, with mandated data returns to CQC, 
clear signposting obligations, and the right to advocacy support when complaining 
about care services. At this point it is unclear to what extent these actions will be 
taken forward. 
 
Leicestershire County Council does not present as an outlier in this report, with an 
average complaint per 100,000 residents of 3.1 which is firmly mid-table. 
 
The full report is included as Appendix B of this report and reference will be made 
to it throughout this report. 
 
1.4 Reform of Health and Social Care complaints regulations  
 
The Department of Health are currently consulting on the introduction of an 
appeals-based system which would sit alongside the statutory complaints 
procedure and enable an alternative form of challenging the outcome of any social 
care assessment. This could, potentially, have significant impact to the work of 
both the Customer Relations Team and Adult Social Care more generally. The 
draft regulations indicate a move towards introducing such a mechanism in April 
2016 but further consultation on the detail is expected in late 2014. 

164



 
- 4 - 

 
 

2. Complaints Analysis 

 
2.1 Complaint Volumes 
 
Table 1: Adult Social Care Complaints recorded 

 

 
 
As illustrated above the total number of complaints received this year has 
continued to increase. There has been an 11% increase from prior year, though 
this increase has slowed from that seen between 2011/12 and 2012/13. The 
longer term trend remains upward particularly when considered within the context 
of further cuts to social care services over the next few years. 
 
 

165



 
- 5 - 

2.3 Complaints by Directorate 
 
Table 2: Adult Social Care Complaints by Directorate 

 

 
 
The above table shows the services which have been complained about through 
the year. Personal Care and Support saw the highest numbers with Promoting 
Independence teams seeing the lowest numbers. 
 
Strategy and Commissioning numbers also include those complaints that are 
about independent providers, though it should be noted these are only after the 
complainant has attempted to resolve the issues directly with the provider. 

 

166



 
- 6 - 

Table 3: Adult Social Care Complaints by Service Area 

 

 
 
The above breaks down where complaints have arisen. All complaints received 
have been mapped against a service area. 
 
Clearly a major theme this year has been Community Care Finance complaints 
(which were identified in last year’s annual report as being on the increase). It 
should be noted, however, that both Community Care Finance and Adult Mental 
Health services cover the whole county so, as such, might reasonably be 
expected to be higher than individual locality areas. 
 
In addition to the above, 2 complaints were received about social care services 
offered by the Customer Service Centre and were handled under the corporate 
complaints procedure. Although the CSC is managed by Corporate Resources 
Department, it was agreed last year to reference these in future A&C annual 
reports. These numbers are however low considering the volume of enquiries that 
are taken by the service centre and a reminder will be issued about the 
importance of ensuring all complaints are forwarded to the Customer Relations 
team. 
 

167



 
- 7 - 

 
In 2012/13 Adults and Communities Scrutiny Committee noted that it would be 
helpful to add more context to this data, such as reflecting the different population 
sizes in the districts and showing complaints received per resident, and the 
information should generally be presented in a way that added value to the 
exercise.  
 
To address this gap, the County Council’s Research and Insight team have been 
engaged and have provided both District Total Populations and numbers of people 
who have taken an adult social care service within the 12 month period. The 
figures are shown in the graphics below 
 
Table 4: District Populations 
 

 
 
Using the above data-set it has been possible to calculate the number of 
complaints made per 100,000 residents. This mirrors one of the measurements 
used within the Local Government Ombudsman Special Report and shows that 
there were just 23 complaints recorded per 100,000 residents. 
 
Figures have also been calculated to show the percentage of actual service users 
who went on to make a formal complaint. The results are shown in Table 5 below 
 
 
 
 

168



 
- 8 - 

Table 5: Percentage of Complainants per district  
 
 

DISTRICT Service 

Users 

Complaints 

Received 

% of Service 

Users (or 

family) making 

a complaint 

Complaints per 

100,000 people 

based on District 

Total Populations 

Blaby & Oadby 

Wigston 3605 35 0.97% 23.23 

Charnwood 3822 34 0.89% 20.14 

Harborough 1750 10 0.57% 11.58 

Hinckley & Bosworth 2625 17 0.65% 16.03 

Leicester City 492 2 0.41% NOT KNOWN 

Melton 1058 17 1.61% 33.48 

NW Leicestershire 2169 28 1.29% 29.78 

Rutland 55 0 0.00% NOT KNOWN 

Out of County 354 3 0.85% NOT KNOWN 

(blank) 19 8     

Grand Total 15949 154 0.97% 23 

 
 

2.4 Joint Complaints 
 
The Health and Social Care complaints regulations place a duty on Local 
Authorities to work together with health partners in responding jointly to 
complaints3. Leicestershire County Council accordingly has a joint complaints 
handling protocol which sets out common guidelines and approaches to this. 
Members include Leicester City Council, the Clinical Commissioning Groups, 
University Hospitals Leicester (UHL) and the Leicestershire Partnership Trust 
(LPT) 
 
During the year 2013/14, thirteen complaints were considered using the Joint 
Complaints protocol. This is an increase on the previous year (8) with the bulk 
being complaints around hospital discharge arrangements. Work is being 
undertaken in this area to streamline processes in this key area. 
 
Of the thirteen complaints considered this year, the average response time was a 
greatly improved 22.65 working days. Only one complaint exceeded the statutory 
maximum target of 65 working days; however this was because two separate 
multi-agency meetings were held. 

 
Following the re-introduction of quarterly meetings of this multi-agency group, 
improvements have been noticed in managing joint complaints and all parties 
have agreed to a revised operating model which has helped deliver these  
improved overall response times. 

 
 
 
 

                                            
3
 Statutory Instrument 2009 no. 309 (9) 

169



 
- 9 - 

2.5 Complaint Causes 
 
Significant effort has been made this year to review each complaint to understand 
the principal issue that led to it being made.  
 
During 2013-14, a decision was also taken to map complaints against the 
Council’s revised Customer Service Standards which were launched in April 2014. 
As a key source of customer feedback, complaints often form an important part of 
evaluating how well the County Council is performing against these Standards. 
Table 6 below summarises these findings. 
 
Table 6: Complaint causes 
 

 
 
 
As can be seen from the table above, the issue most commonly raised is around 
the accuracy and clarity of information. This year the majority (67%) of these 
related to Community Care Finance and financial processes. There are however 
other examples such as; 
 

• Failure to update systems to reflect death of a service user 

• Failure to  record thought processes around decisions made 
 
This category is also the most likely to see complaints upheld and it is therefore 
recommended that this is prioritised as an area for improvement by the Director. 
 
The next highest category is the quality of the Council’s work. This is, however, a 
broad category ranging from not ‘doing the basics’ well enough (e.g. poor quality 
letters or not doing things we have promised), through to the thoroughness of a 
social care assessment or report. Examples under the heading “Quality” includes - 
 

• No care package being set-up to coincide with hospital discharge date 

• Concerns with family members not being involved in decision-making 

• General quality of care being delivered by a provider 
 

170



 
- 10 - 

Professional judgement is at the heart of the work of most social care teams and, 
as such, it is unsurprising that this category also features prominently. Typically 
these are responded to through a line manager reviewing how the officer has 
made the decision. The following are a few examples of complaints recorded 
under this category - 
 

• Concerns that safeguarding referral was not taken seriously 

• The outcome of an OT assessment 

• Decision made to end financial support 
 

It is re-assuring, however, to see that this category of complaint has a low level of 
complaints upheld - 17%. This suggests that, in the vast majority of cases, officers 
are making sound professional decisions. 

 
Delays in providing service - with 22 complaints - are the next highest category 
with OT waiting lists accounting for 7 of these. 
 
It is worth also mentioning that in the category ‘Keeping customers informed and 
updated’, the adult social care service tends to perform better than other 
departments with just 6 complaints featuring this as the prime cause.  

 
The full breakdown of complaint causes and their respective outcome appears 
below. In the 2014-15 report year on year analysis will be shown. 
 
Table 7: Complaint causes and respective outcomes 
 

Cause Number 
% Upheld 

(Partly or Fully) 

Accuracy / Clarity of Information 34 85% 

Quality of Work 32 41% 

Professional Judgement / Decision making 29 17% 

Delays in providing service 22 54% 

Politeness, open-ness and honesty 15 60% 

Sensitivity / Empathy of staff 5 40% 

Keeping Informed / Updated  6 66% 

Collaborative Working 4 50% 

Our fairness to you 2 0% 

Multiple  4 100% 

Our Policy 1 0% 

 
 

2.6 Who Complains and Accessibility? 
 
Just 24% of complaints are made by the Service User themselves, with family 
members the dominant category at 69%. This is not unusual for the services 
provided by the Department. 
 
Just 1 complaint was made by an independent advocate, a service the 
Department continues to offer to service users. An additional 5 complaints were 
brought by MPs or County Councillor’s acting on behalf of service users. 

171



 
- 11 - 

 
Although some equalities monitoring data is collected by the Customer Relations 
team, it is currently anonymous and therefore cannot be allocated against 
individual service areas. The overall results appear in the Corporate Complaints 
Annual Report. Due to process changes made recently, it is anticipated that in the 
2014-15 Annual Report this data will be able to be supplied. 
 
A full Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment will also be carried out by 
the team this year to ensure that both equality and human rights analysis is 
undertaken and to mitigate any adverse impact on all protected characteristic 
groups 

 
2.7 Performance against timescales: How responsive have we 
been? 

 
Table 8: Adult Social Care Performance 

 

 
 
Table 8 above shows the time taken to respond to complaints, providing a 
comparison between the current reporting year and the previous one. The table 
shows consistently strong performance against the internal, best practice target of 
ten working days, with 69% now achieving this target. Complaints that are more 
complex in nature are sometimes given a 20 working day response time and 
performance has remained excellent in terms of compliance with this indicator at 
an impressive 89%. Given the complexities of social care complaints these are 
pleasing figures. 
 
Three complaints were recorded as outside of the statutory timescales of 65 
working days. One was a complex joint complaint involving multiple agencies and 
the other two cases resulted in being managed through safeguarding 
investigations. In each case the complainant was kept informed throughout as to 

172



 
- 12 - 

the status of their complaint and as such the Customer Relations Manager has no 
concerns over these. 
 

2.8 Complaints Outcomes & Resolutions 
 
Table 9: Adult Social Care complaints recorded by outcome 

 

Complaints by Outcome

25%

27%

39%

5%
4%

Partly Upheld

Totally Upheld

Not Upheld

Outside of Jurisdiction

Withdraw n

 
 
Table 9 above shows that a majority (52%) of complaints were upheld either fully 
or partly. This is an increase on last year (39%)  
Some of this is simply down to the increased numbers of complaints about 
accuracy of information which is more likely to result in a firm conclusion. 
However, there would also seem to be an increased willingness by managers to 
accept and cede certain elements of fault. This is a positive cultural change with 
the emphasis being “what can we learn from the experience?” rather than “can we 
defend our position?” 
 
As noted in the 2012-13 Annual Report, a change was made this year to add a 
further two outcomes of “Withdrawn” and “Outside of Jurisdiction”. Previously, 
complaints that were discontinued for these reasons were recorded as “not 
upheld”. However, it was felt that this was inaccurate and the new categories 
better represent the actual outcome. 
 
Complaints that are labelled as “Outside of Jurisdiction” are usually where, upon 
investigation, it is found that either other agencies are better placed to respond, or 
it is more appropriate to consider the matter under other procedures (e.g. 
Safeguarding investigation).   
 
 
 
 

173



 
- 13 - 

 
 
2.9 Local Government Ombudsman Complaints 
 
The Ombudsman made enquiries on 18 complaints during 2013-14. This is an 
increase on last year (13). Approximately 11% of complainants go on to take up 
their complaint with the Ombudsman. 
 
In six cases the Ombudsman decided not to investigate, either because there was 
no evidence of any fault, or the complaint concerned matters outside of her 
jurisdiction. 
 
In eleven cases, the Ombudsman, after detailed investigation, was happy with the 
actions the Council had taken. In 2 cases this involved local settlement with the 
Ombudsman; neither involving financial compensation. 
 
The Ombudsman cited maladministration with injustice in just one complaint. 
There were 3 similar judgements last year.  The details of this case are -   
 

� Ms A complained about the charges imposed by the Council for her 
daughter’s stay in a residential placement. The Council had verbally 
indicated that there would be charges, but had not confirmed this in writing. 
The Ombudsman found fault with this and asked the Council to waive three 
months charges up i.e. until the point the complainant had accepted that 
charges were liable. The Council agreed with this proposal and settled on 
this basis. 

 
Whilst it should be noted that there is still scope for complaints initially considered 
during 2013/14 to be brought to the Ombudsman, the absence this year of any 
significant findings of maladministration is noteworthy and suggests that the vast 
majority of complaints have been dealt with effectively by the department. 

174



 
- 14 - 

 

3 Learning from Complaints 
 
3.1 Corrective action taken 
 
Each of the 80 complaints either partly or fully upheld have been reviewed to 
ascertain what action the department has taken to learn from the complaints and 
avoid such issues occurring in the future.  
 
Table 8 below provides a breakdown of the action taken. From this it can be seen 
that in 38% of cases an apology alone was seen as the appropriate action. 
Typically this is where things had already been corrected or there is no opportunity 
to influence things further. 
 
Amending records is the next highest area (14), which is almost exclusively 
correcting records which directly produce invoices. 
 
In 13 cases, the department reviewed the resources assigned to the case, either 
through a re-assessment or re-prioritising the case. 
 
In 9 cases, direct staff supervision was undertaken to address performance, whilst 
in 7 cases a review of procedures was agreed.  
 
Table 10: Corrective actions taken 
 

 
 
Examples of specific remedial actions taken include the following - 
 

• Implementation of an auto-acknowledgement system within Community 
Care Finance section to give confidence that referrals have been received. 

 

• A general reminder to be issued about the importance of trying to deliver 
the outcome of assessments in person to enable an opportunity to discuss. 

 

• Reminder issued to ensure minimum of 1 month notice given when making 
changes to transport provision. 

 

175



 
- 15 - 

• Undertake a review of letter templates to ensure they are clear and fit for 
purpose. The Customer Relations Manager is assisting with this 

 

• Remind Locality Managers of the need to notify Community Care Finance 
team when changes are made to support plans. 
 

• Specific staff training to be provided around support available to carers 
 

 

4 Commendations 2013-14 
 
260 commendations were recorded across adult social care services during 
2013/14. This marks a further 89% increase on last year (137). 

 
In particular, the HART team has seen large numbers captured with 149 
commendations coming for this area alone.  

 
It is encouraging to again see greater visibility of the good work that is being 
delivered by the Council and an increasing number of managers passing 
compliments to the Customer Relations Team for formal recording. Increasing the 
number of commendations reported in this report has been an objective of the 
Customer Relations Team and it is encouraging to see that this year 
commendation volumes exceed complaint volumes. 
 

A small selection of the commendations received can be found below. They show 
some of the real-life stories where Adult Social Care makes a huge difference to 
people’s lives. 
 

• “A big thank you to all the Home Care team who looked after me following 
my fall. You have all been so kind” 

 

• “So impressed with the speed...I got a big help...all the equipment is 
brilliant...Thanks to all concerned” 
 

• “Before we entered on this venture we were very apprehensive but we 
needn't have worried...each and every one of them (carers) were a credit to 
you. They gave the impression they wanted to be there and it was not just a 
chore” 
 

• “Very pleased with help and support..Mr G spoke to my dad with great care 
and respect and was always a phone call away..can't speak highly enough” 
 

• “I would like to thank you for the commitment and dedication D has shown 
Mr X and his family. She is truly an angel who has changed the fortune of 
my family” 
 

• “Thanks for helping us place T. Without your support and compassion the 
last few months would have been far more difficult” 

 
 

176



 
- 16 - 

The Customer Relations Team will continue to work closely with departments to 
try to reflect all the positive feedback received across the teams. 
 
 

5 Monitoring the Process 

 
The Customer Relations Team continues to support Adult Social Care Services to 
manage and learn from complaints. The key services offered are - 
 

1. Complaints advice and support 
2. Production of Performance Reports 
3. Liaison with Local Government Ombudsman 
4. Quality Assurance of complaint responses 
5. Complaint handling training for Operational Managers 
6. Scrutiny and challenge to complaint responses 
 

During this reporting period, no complaints handling workshops have been run for 
Adult Social Care managers. The Customer Relations Team is keen to promote 
this facility further over the next year. 
 
Assistance continues to be routinely provided to Locality Managers in drafting 
responses to complaint investigations. This helps ensure a consistency of 
response and that due process is followed. 
 
Quarterly performance reports are written and presented to the Departmental 
Management Team (DMT). The Customer Relations Manager also meets with the 
department’s Intelligent Client each quarter to talk through complaints matters. 
 
 
6. Customer Relations Team – Work Priorities for 2014-15 

 
The Customer Relations Team comprises just two officers – the Customer 
Relations Manager and a Complaints Officer. 
 
During 2014/15, the team will focus on a number of initiatives, some of which are 
corporate and some specific to Adult Social Care - 
 
6.1 Corporate Initiatives 
 

� Continuing to ensure the complaints procedure is accessible and that 
advocacy arrangements are promoted appropriately. The Equality & Human 
Rights Impact Assessment will help inform this. 

 

� Introduction of a mechanism to monitor and evidentially audit that actions 
agreed, as part of a complaint response, have been carried out. 
 

� Production of a Customer Feedback Framework which sets out principles 
for departments to adopt and ensure we commit to the feedback promises 
set out in the Council’s new Customer Service Standards. 
 

177



 
- 17 - 

6.2 Adult Social Care Initiatives 
 

� Ensuring that all managers understand the statutory complaints procedure 
as well as the support and guidance available to them.  
 

� Undertake a review of the social care complaints procedure to ensure that 
the key messages from both the Ombudsman special report (see section 
1.3 above) and the emerging themes from the Care Act 2014 are 
considered and incorporated as appropriate. The Ombudsman’s key 
principles and questions are set out below. 

 

 

 
 
7. Key Themes & Concluding Comments 

 
7.1 Key Successes & Areas for Improvement 

 
The Customer Relations Team would highlight a number of successes this year as 
follows -  
 

• The low findings of maladministration by the Local Government 
Ombudsman 
 

• The continuing strong performance in terms of response time-scales 
 

• Commitment by departmental managers to engage with the Customer 
Relations team as a ‘friendly critic’ helping improve processes. 

 

• However, there is also one clearly identified area for improvement –  
 

Invoicing remains a key source of concern 

 
This issue alone accounts for 25% of all complaints received. It is also the most 
likely issue to be upheld.   

 
At the heart of this is inaccurate data which, in turn, generates inaccurate invoices. 
Whilst some of this can be attributed to a series of manual work-arounds following 

178



 
- 18 - 

the introduction of a new computer system (Controc) and the migration to a new 
operating system; there are also wider issues with locality teams not advising the 
Community Care Finance team of important changes. This appears to be more of 
a cultural issue which requires improvement.  

 
Whilst local action plans have been put in place by Community Care Finance 
managers to generate improvements and indeed some have been made, the 
Customer Relations Manager believes there are process issues that cannot be 
fixed by the Community Care Finance team alone and it is suggested these should 
be reviewed holistically by the Director to ensure the necessary improvements are 
made. It is understood that a work programme is underway to progress this 
important initiative. 
 
Despite the above comments, it should also be noted that the department 
generate tens of thousands of invoices during the year and as such complaints 
remain a very small percentage. 

 
7.2  Final Comments 
 
It is clear that the Adult Social Care service recognises it is important to have in 
place an effective, accessible and fair means for client’s comments and 
complaints to be heard and resolved, wherever possible. The complaints process 
described in this report provides this opportunity and is integral to the statutory 
function of the department. 
 
Regrettably, things can, and do go wrong. With increasingly limited resources 
targeted at meeting the needs of the most vulnerable, it is no surprise to see 
overall numbers of complaints continuing to increase. The Customer Relations 
team expect this trend to continue through the next year as further efficiencies and 
service reduction exercises are implemented. 
 
In times of change and austerity it is, however, even more important to ensure the 
complaints process is easy to access and fair. This year’s Annual Report shows 
that Adult Social Care does listen and respond to comments and complaints and 
that these do inform their practice, influence service development and drive 
continuous improvement. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

179



180

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
17 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK (ASCOF) 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 2013/14 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF 
ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Adults and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee with an update on adult social care performance during 2013/14, 
attached at Appendix 1.  
  

2. The report specifically focuses on the recent publication by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre of performance against the Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework (ASCOF) indicators in the national performance framework for adult social 
care in 2013/14. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. Performance was previously monitored by the Budget and Performance Monitoring 

Scrutiny Panel.  However, performance reporting at scrutiny level was included in the 
review of Scrutiny and Overview Committees conducted in 2013.  New arrangements 
including the abolition of the Budget and Performance Monitoring Scrutiny Panel were 
approved.  The Adults and Communities Department’s performance is now being 
reported on a quarterly basis to the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
Background 
 
4. Adult social care performance is monitored nationally via the ASCOF.  This framework 

is overseen by the Department of Health and currently consists of 19 indicators across 
four domains.  It measures “how well the care and support system achieves the things 
we would expect for ourselves and for our friends and relatives”. 

5. Locally performance reporting is guided by the priorities, indicators and targets which 
were set in May 2014 in the Council’s new Strategic Plan. A full end of year 
performance position statement against all of the priority areas and indicators is 
currently being collated to be included in the Annual Report and performance data 
compendium, which will be reported to Members later in the autumn.  This will include 
important new areas such as the performance regime for the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
plan. 

Agenda Item 13181



 

6. The national framework is continually evolving in order to strengthen it to reflect 
changes in relation to the provision of adult social care. 

7. The provisional performance for 2013/14 was published by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre on 8 July 2014 and this is summarised in Appendix 1.  This 
includes Leicestershire’s performance over the past three years and how this 
compares nationally. 

 
ASCOF Performance Update 

 
ASCOF Domain 1: Enhancing Quality of Life for People with Care and Support Needs 
 
8. The social care-related quality of life measure within the ASCOF gives an overarching 

view of the quality of life of users of care and support.  It is drawn from a number of 
questions in the annual survey of service users, including such topics as control over 
daily life, how time is spent, and social contact.  Performance on this measure remains 
positive and is above the national average for the second year running.  

9. Three-quarters of respondents to the annual survey of service users stated that they 
had control over their daily life; slightly below the national average.  In addition, the 
proportion of service users in receipt of a personal budget was in the bottom quartile.  
This, however, is partly due to the way the data was collected and will improve from 
2014/15. 

10. A new measure was included in ASCOF in 2013/14 relating to the level of social 
contact a service user has.  In response to a question in the annual survey of service 
users, 45% stated they had as much social contact as they would like – a performance 
slightly above the national average. 

 
ASFOF Domain 2: Delaying and Reducing the Need for Care and Support 

 
11. The number of permanent admissions to residential or nursing care is the over-arching 

metric for this domain and for people aged 18-64 during 2013/14 was slightly lower 
than the national average (i.e. it is better to have a lower number of admissions) and in 
the second quartile.  For those aged 65 or over however performance on the 
comparable indicator was slightly above average and in the third quartile. 

 
12. Two key measures in the ASCOF relate to reducing delayed transfers of care from 

hospital.  The first of these focuses on all delays regardless of which agency the delay 
is attributable to.  In Leicestershire these are higher than the national average and in 
the third quartile.  The number of delays attributable to either adult social care 
specifically or jointly with the NHS are significantly lower than ‘all delays’ i.e. they do 
not include those attributable to the NHS only.  Nevertheless, a rise in numbers 
through the year has meant an increase above the national average into the third 
quartile.  The BCF performance reporting will in future cover the impact of care/health 
services in terms of reducing emergency and unnecessary hospital admissions.    

 
ASCOF Domain 3: Ensuring that People have a Positive Experience of Care and Support 

 
13. The proportion of service users stating that they are satisfied with their care and 

support fell to 60% in 2013/14; a similar level to that of 2011/12.  This significant swing 
across the three years has occurred amongst numerous other authorities also and in 

182



 

some areas at an even larger scale.  The results should therefore be considered with 
caution. 

14. The other two measures in this domain relate to the carers survey which was not 
conducted in 2013/14 (the next one is due in the autumn 2014). 

 
ASCOF Domain 4: Safeguarding Adults Whose Circumstances make them Vulnerable and 
Protecting from Avoidable Harm 

 
15. There are only two measures in the ASCOF relative to safeguarding and both are 

based on responses from the annual survey of service users. The key measure is the 
percentage of people who say that services have made them feel safe.  There has 
been a small increase in this proportion, up to 90%, and performance remains in the 
top quartile for the second year. 

 
16. Comparing the level of safeguarding activity for the full year 2013/14 with the previous 

year is problematic due to changes to both national reporting and the Adult Social 
Care IT system.  However, based on data to the end of February 2014, it is estimated 
that during 2013/14 there were 1,700 safeguarding referrals, an increase of 28% on 
the year before.  Of these, it was concluded that 53% were either substantiated or 
partly substantiated. 

 
Conclusion 

 
17. The report provides a statement of Adult Social Care performance during 2013/14.  

Performance on eight of the measures showed improvement from the previous year 
whilst performance on five measures was above the national average.  These include 
areas of quality of life, social contact, supporting people aged under 65 within the 
community, i.e. not permanent residential or nursing care, and two measures relating 
to feeling safe.   

 
18. Areas in the bottom or third quartile will be of particular focus during 2014/15 

performance monitoring.  
 
Background papers 
 
None 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Sandy McMillan, Assistant Director (Strategy and Commissioning), Adults and 
Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7320 Email:  sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Matt Williams, Business Partner – Performance and Business Intelligence 
Tel: 0116 305 7427 Email:  matt.williams@leics.gov.uk 
 
 

183



 

Appendix 
 
Appendix 1 – Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) Performance 2013/14 
 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
19.  The Adults and Communities Department supports vulnerable people from all the 

diverse communities in Leicestershire.  However, there are no specific equal 
opportunities implications to note as part of this performance report. 

 

184



Leicestershire County Council

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)

Performance 2013-14

Appendix 1

ID / Change Measure LCC 11/12 LCC 12/13 LCC 13/14
Bottom

Quartile

Third

Quartile

Second

Quartile

Top

Quartile

Domain 1 - Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs

11/12 <18.4 <18.8 >18.8 >19.2

12/13 <18.5 <18.9 >18.9 >19.2

13/14 <18.6 <18.9 >18.9 >19.2

11/12 <72.1% <75.9% >75.9% >77.9%

12/13 <73.2% <75.8% >75.8% >78.5%

13/14 <73.7% <76.5% >76.5% >78.9%

11/12 <36.2% <43.7% >43.7% >53.3%

12/13 <47.9% <58.5% >58.5% >70.3%

13/14 <54.5% <66.1% >66.1% >75.7%

11/12 <9.9% <14.0% >14.0% >18.1%

12/13 <11.7% <16.2% >16.2% >21.9%

13/14 <14.1% <18.6% >18.6% >26.4%

11/12 N/A N/A N/A N/A

12/13 <7.7 <8.1 >8.1 >8.4

13/14 N/A N/A N/A N/A

11/12 <5.0% <6.6% >6.6% >9.7%

12/13 <4.9% <6.9% >6.9% >9.9%

13/14 <4.5% <6.6% >6.6% >9.5%

11/12 <5.1% <7.4% >7.4% >10.8%

12/13 <4.8% <6.7% >6.7% >9.4%

13/14 <4.4% <5.8% >5.8% >8.6%

5.7%

1C (Pt II)
Percentage of SUs and carers receiving 

support via cash payments
13.6% 15.3%

1D Carer reported quality of life N/A 7.9

1F
% of secondary mental health known adults 

in paid employment
30.7% 6.9%

1B
Proportion of respondents who felt they had 

control over their daily life
66.1% 74.4%

1C (Pt I)
Percentage of SUs and carers receiving 

support as SDS
39.2% 50.5%

1E
% of LD SUs aged 18-64 known to council in 

paid employment
1.8% 1.6%

75.0%

51.3%

14.8%

N/A

2.5%

19.018.918.3Social care-related quality of life1A

1D1D1D1D

1F

1C (Pt II)

1E

1C (Pt I)

1B

1A

1
8
5



Leicestershire County Council

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)

Performance 2013-14

Appendix 1

ID / Change Measure LCC 11/12 LCC 12/13 LCC 13/14
Bottom

Quartile

Third

Quartile

Second

Quartile

Top

Quartile

11/12 <65.5% <71.3% >71.3% >77.5%

12/13 <67.7% <73.2% >73.2% >79.8%

13/14 <69.7% <75.4% >75.4% >80.4%

11/12 <46.9% <59.4% >59.4% >73.1%

12/13 <47.1% <66.9% >66.9% >79.0%

13/14 <49.0% <67.0% >67.0% >78.1%

11/12 N/A N/A N/A N/A

12/13 N/A N/A N/A N/A

13/14 <41.1% <43.9% >43.9% >46.3%

Domain 2 - Delaying and reducing the need for care and support

11/12 >22.8 >17.8 <17.8 <12.1

12/13 >19.0 >14.2 <14.2 <10.3

13/14 >17.1 >13.5 <13.5 <9.5

11/12 >826.3 >691.6 <691.6 <590.0

12/13 >823.3 >729.7 <729.7 <590.2

13/14 >772.7 >673.0 <673.0 <573.4

11/12 <79.7% <85.1% >85.1% >88.9%

12/13 <78.6% <84.0% >84.0% >88.4%

13/14 <79.7% <85.2% >85.2% >89.4%

11/12 <1.9% <3.1% >3.1% >4.9%

12/13 <1.9% <3.1% >3.1% >4.3%

13/14 <2.1% <3.1% >3.1% >4.4%

44.6%

61.1%

42.2%

2A (Pt I)
Permanent admissions of SUs aged 18-64 

per 100,000 pop
13.7 11.0

1H
% of secondary mental health known adults 

in settled accomm'd
64.0% 45.0%

2A (PtII)
Permanent admissions of SUs aged >65 per 

100,000 pop
690.8 798.1

1G
% of LD SUs aged 18-64 known to council in 

settled accomodation
47.7% 61.6%

1I
% of SUs felt they had as much social 

contact as they would like
N/A N/A

2B (Pt I)
% of OP disch'd from hosp. to reablement at 

home 91 days later
77.9% 78.6%

2B (Pt II)
% of OP disch'd from hosp. to reablement 

services
2.9% 2.9%

78.6%

3.0%

12.0

756.2

1I1I1I

1G

1H

2A (Pt I)

2B (Pt I)

2B (Pt II)

2A (PtII)

1
8
6



Leicestershire County Council

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)

Performance 2013-14

Appendix 1

ID / Change Measure LCC 11/12 LCC 12/13 LCC 13/14
Bottom

Quartile

Third

Quartile

Second

Quartile

Top

Quartile

11/12 >11.5 >8.2 <8.2 <5.9

12/13 >11.3 >8.3 <8.3 <5.9

13/14 >11.4 >8.3 <8.3 <6.0

11/12 >4.6 >2.8 <2.8 <1.6

12/13 >4.2 >2.5 <2.5 <1.6

13/14 >3.7 >2.2 <2.2 <1.4

Domain 3 - Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support

11/12 <59.2% <62.8% >62.8% >66.4%

12/13 <60.8% <64.3% >64.3% >66.5%

13/14 <61.6% <64.7% >64.7% >66.9%

11/12 N/A N/A N/A N/A

12/13 <38.8% <42.7% >42.7% >46.5%

13/14 N/A N/A N/A N/A

11/12 N/A N/A N/A N/A

12/13 <68.1% <73.0% >73.0% >76.6%

13/14 N/A N/A N/A N/A

11/12 <71.5% <74.7% >74.7% >77.5%

12/13 <68.8% <71.8% >71.8% >74.7%

13/14 <72.0% <74.4% >74.4% >77.3%

2C (Pt I)
DToC (NHS/ Social care / NHS & social care) 

per 100,000 pop
6.5 10.9

2C (Pt II)
DToC (Social care / NHS & social care) per 

100,000 pop
1.9 2.1

% of SUs satisfied with their care and 

support
58.4% 67.9%

3B
Overall satisfaction of carers with social 

services
N/A 43.3%

3C

% of carers who have been included or 

consulted in discussions about the person 

they care for

N/A 75.6%

N/A

N/A

3D* % of SUs who find it easy to find information 67.2% 70.3%

3A

68.0%

11.4

2.4

60.1%

3B3B3B3B3B3B

3C3C3C3C

2C (Pt II)

3A

3D*

2C (Pt I)

1
8
7



Leicestershire County Council

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)

Performance 2013-14

Appendix 1

ID / Change Measure LCC 11/12 LCC 12/13 LCC 13/14
Bottom

Quartile

Third

Quartile

Second

Quartile

Top

Quartile

Domain 4 - Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable and protecting from avoidable harm

11/12 <60.5% <63.6% >63.6% >68.0%

12/13 <61.1% <65.2% >65.2% >68.8%

13/14 <62.6% <66.0% >66.0% >70.0%

11/12 <69.5% <77.4% >77.4% >82.4%

12/13 <73.3% <79.8% >79.8% >84.0%

13/14 <74.5% <80.6% >80.6% >85.6%

* In 2011/12 and 2013/14 responses are from service users only.  In 2012/13 the measure includes responses from both service users and carers.

60.3%

4B
% of SUs who say that services have made 

them feel safe
81.8% 89.3%

4A % of SUs who feel safe 59.2% 67.3%

90.4%

4A

4B

1
8
8


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2014.
	8 Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children/Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2013/14.
	Appendix A - Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board/Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2013/14
	Appendix B - Executive Summary to Annual Report 2013/14

	9 Annual Adult Social Care Complaints and Commendations Report 2013/14.
	Appendix A - Adult Social Care Statutory Complaints and Commendations Annual Report 2013-14.

	13 Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework Performance Report 2013/14.
	Appendix 1 - Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) Performance 2013/14.


